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Key figures - Storebrand Bank Group

NOK million and percentage 2011 2010

Profit and Loss account: (as % of avg. total assets)

Net interest income  3) 1.13% 1.10%

Other operating income 4) 0.27% 0.21%

Main balance sheet figures:

Total assets 38,717.7 39,370.9

Average total assets 1) 39,106.5 41,577.7

Total lending to customers 33,474.5 34,460.1

Deposits from customers 18,485.5 18,807.6

Deposits from customers as % of gross lending 55.2% 54.6%

equity 2,304.8 2,260.6

Other key figures:

Total non-interest income as % of total income 19.2% 15.8%

Loan losses and provisions as % of average total lending 6) -0.03% 0.08%

Individual loan loss provisions as % of gross loss-exposed loans  1.0% 2.0%

Cost/income ratio banking activities 6) 65.9% 68.0%

Return on equity before tax 2) 8.3% 5.9%

Core capital ratio 11.4% 10.6%

Definitions:  
1) Average total assets is calculated on the basis of monthly total assets for the quarter and for the year to date respectively.   
2) Annualised profit before tax for continued operations adjusted for hedging ineffectiveness as % of average equity.  
3) Annualised net interest income adjusted for hedging ineffectiveness.  
4) Other operating income includes net fee and commission income. Other operating income in the parent company has been 

adjusted by write-downs of shares in subsidiaries.   
5) Banking activities consists of Storebrand Bank ASA, Storebrand Boligkreditt AS and Storebrand eiendomskreditt AS, which is being wound up.  
6) Loan losses and provisions for Storebrand Bank Group includes the item Loan losses for the period and losses real estate 

at fair value, assets repossessed, in the profit & loss account.   
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MAiN TrENDS

Storebrand Bank ASA is a wholly owned 

subsidiary of Storebrand ASA, and is 

one of four business units in Storebrand 

Group. Storebrand Bank is a commercial 

bank with licenses under the Securities 

Trading Act. Its head office is in Lysaker, in 

the municipality of Bærum.

The bank achieved a profit before taxes of 

NOK 190 million for 2011 compared with 

NOK 135 million in 2010 for continued 

operations. Storebrand Bank continues 

on a positive trend and the results for the 

banking business in 2011 have improved 

across a range of key areas compared with 

2010. In 2011 the bank group has decided 

to sell its ownership interest in Ring eien-

domsmegling and the profit after taxes for 

the sold/discontinued operations is pre-

sented on a separate line in the accounts. 

Through the Group’s new retail market 

strategy, Storebrand Bank’s role as part of 

a unified value proposition to retail market 

customers has been clarified and speci-

fied. In the retail market, the bank aims 

to establish itself as Norway’s best direct 

bank and during the course of 2011 it has 

launched new and innovative services such 

as My Consumption and My Budget which 

have been very well received. With a new 

price and product strategy and a clearer 

focus on home mortgages as a recruit-

ment product for retail market customers, 

the negative trend for home mortgage 

volumes has been turned around during 

2011 and there is now positive customer 

capture. 

In the corporate market, Storebrand Bank 

is a customer-focused partner for crea-

ting value, supplying a broad spectrum 

of services to corporate customers in the 

commercial real estate industry. The bank 

holds a strong position in the commercial 

real estate market and during the course 

of 2011 it has participated in a series of 

transactions that have set the pace in the 

Norwegian market. Activities in the corpo-

rate customer segment also include project 

brokering, valuation and financing services. 

These services are a key part of the bank’s 

focused efforts on increasing other reve-

nues by providing services across more of 

the constituent parts of the value chain 

for both new and current customers.  

GrOuP STruCTurE AND SuBSiDiAriES

Hadrian eiendom AS represents the bank 

group’s specialised expertise in property 

development and commercial property 

brokerage and is a wholly owned subsi-

diary. The company also provides valuation 

services and feasibility studies. The busi-

ness is run from the company’s office in 

Oslo. 

The bank decided to discontinue its 

ownership stake in Ring eiendomsmegling 

AS in 2011. The bank owns 100 per cent of 

the shares in the company, and the com-

pany has been run from the Group’s head 

office in Lysaker in Bærum. For accounting 

purposes, the estate agency business is 

therefore presented in a separate line 

in the annual financial statements under 

”Sold/discontinued operations” and the 

corresponding figures for 2010 have been 

restated. As part of the decision, the sha-

res in Ring’s subsidiaries that are opera-

ting in Stavanger and Bodø have been sold 

back to the staff who run the business. 

In the other subsidiaries the businesses 

are in the process of being discontinued. 

Provisions for expenses relating to the 

discontinued operations have been made 

in the consolidated financial statements 

for 2011, to limit the effect on the income 

statement in the years ahead.

In connection with pledged assets taken 

over relating to a corporate market loan 

loss,Storebrand Bank in 2010 sold pro-

perty under development to the subsidiary 

Bjørndalen Panorama AS which will com-

plete the project. The company is run from 

the bank’s head office in Lysaker. 

Together with Storebrand Livsforsikring 

AS, Storebrand Bank owns the company 

Storebrand Baltic UAB which is located 

in Vilnius in Lithuania. The bank owns 50 

per cent of the company. The activities 

in this company are integrated into the 

rest of the Storebrand Bank organisation 

and it supplies services through much of 

the value chain, including staff and sup-

port functions. The company is a centre 

of expertise for support services for the 

entire Storebrand Group, and plays a key 

role in continuous improvement efforts 

and work to boost efficiency. 

The subsidiary Storebrand Boligkreditt AS 

holds a licence to issue covered bonds 

secured by mortgages in residential pro-

perty. Storebrand eiendomskreditt AS 

The results for 2010 and 2011 have been restated as 

a result of the decision to discontinue the ownership 

stake in Ring eiendomsmegling.
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(being discontinued) has not had any 

activity in 2011 and returned its licence 

to issue covered bonds to the Financial 

Supervisory Authority of Norway in the 

first half of 2011. The company will be dis-

continued in the first half of 2012. 

EArNiNGS PErfOrMANCE 

The bank achieved a profit before taxes 

of NOK 190 million for 2011 compared with 

NOK 135 million in 2010 for continued ope-

rations. The effect of sold/discontinued 

operations, Ring eiendomsmegling, on the 

income statement was minus NOK 60 mil-

lion for 2011 compared with minus NOK 

5 million in 2010. Storebrand Bank Group 

achieved a profit after taxes of NOK 99 mil-

lion in 2011 compared with NOK 38 million 

in 2010. 

NET iNTErEST iNCOME

Net interest income for the bank group 

amounted to NOK 443 million compared 

with NOK 457 million in the previous year. 

Net interest income as a percentage of 

average total assets was 1.13 per cent in 

2011, 0.03 per cent higher than it was in 

2010. Turbulent financial markets have lead 

to increased funding costs, which together 

with the competitive environment have cau-

sed a reduction in lending margins and an 

increase in deposit margins. Based on the 

international financial instability, the banks 

have increased customer lending margins 

towards the end of 2011.

OThEr iNCOME

Net commission income represented NOK 

73 million, almost unchanged compared with 

2010 while other income has increased by 

NOK 20 million to NOK 32 million in total. 

About half of the increase in other income 

relates to the sale of an ownership interest 

in a development project. Revaluations of 

financial instruments recorded at fair value 

were NOK 2 million compared with minus 

NOK 11 million in 2010. Interest rate and 

foreign exchange services supplied to the 

bank’s customers made a positive contri-

bution to the income statement, while the 

return on the bank’s liquidity portfolio and 

funding-related expenses have made a 

negative contribution in both 2010 and 2011. 

Revenues from the subsidiaries Hadrian 

eiendom AS and Hadrian Utvikling AS are 

included in other income. In prior years 

the business activities of Ring eiendoms-

megling AS have been included in this part 

of the income statement, but have now 

been reported under sold/discontinued 

operations.

OPErATiNG ExPENSES

The operating expenses in the bank group 

totalled NOK 372 million (NOK 394 mil-

lion). The operating expenses for the 

year include write-downs on investment 

properties of NOK 4 million (NOK 14 mil-

lion) related to loan losses that the bank 

has taken over. The cost income ratio for 

the banking business  was 66 per cent in 

2011 (68 per cent). The underlying increase 

in expenses has been counteracted by 

further cost measures implemented during 

the year.

LOSSES AND NON-PErfOrMiNG LOANS

The international financial turbulence has 

not yet lead to problems in the bank’s 

loan portfolio. Total net loan losses recog-

nised in the income statement including 

loan loss provisions on repossessed loans 

amount to NOK 14 million compared with 

a net amount of NOK 15 million recog-

nised as costs in 2010. The total volume 

of non-performing loans has decreased, 

both non-performing loans that are not 

impaired which amount to NOK 160 mil-

lion (NOK 262 million) and impaired non-

performing loans which total NOK 171 

million (NOK 436 million). The total volume 

of non-performing loans represent 1.0 

per cent of gross lending (2.0 per cent). 

Of this amount, loan loss provisions on 

investment properties linked to reposses-

sed loans (presented as a separate line 

item under operating expenses) amount to 

NOK 4 million compared with NOK 14 mil-

lion in 2010. 

Loan loss provisions on groups of loans 

in 2011 have been reduced from NOK 84 

million in 2010 to NOK 53 million at the 

end of 2011 for Storebrand Bank Group. 

The main reason for the reduction is that 

during the year the bank has changed its 

process for loan loss provisions, which is 

now in line with current market practice. 

The changes mean that parts of the port-

folio of unsecured loans are now valued 

individually rather than as a group, loans 

are transferred to long term monitoring 

and are written off for accounting purpo-

ses when it is not considered possible to 

collect the receivable, and that the bank 

has sold parts of an old non-performing 

loan portfolio. This change in practice, 

viewed in isolation, has lead to a reduction 

in loan loss provisions on groups of loans 

of about NOK 15 million. Furthermore, 

positive developments in the risk of the 

bank’s loan portfolio is contributing to a 

decrease in loan loss provisions on groups 

of loans.

The annual result for the parent bank 

Storebrand Bank ASA was minus NOK 

40 million (NOK 34 million), mainly due 

to write-downs of shares in subsidiaries 

totalling NOK 151 million.  

Net interest income and net interest income 

as a percentage of average total assets
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STATEMENT Of fiNANCiAL POSiTiON 

At the end of 2011 the bank group ha 

NOK 38.7 billion in total assets. Gross len-

ding to customers was NOK 33.5 billion at 

year-end. This is a reduction of NOK 1 bil-

lion, representing a decrease of 3 per cent 

from the end of 2010. The retail market 

portfolio has developed positively over the 

last three quarters of the year, while the 

corporate market portfolio has increased 

during the final quarter. 

The bank group’s retail market portfolio 

represents 67 per cent of total lending, 

and chiefly comprises low risk home 

mortgages. The average weighted loan to 

value ratio is about 54 per cent. Corporate 

market lending accounts for 33 per cent of 

the portfolio and at the end of 2011 about 

80 per cent of these loans are to income-

generating properties and 20 per cent of 

the loans are to construction projects. 

The bank has signed a syndication agre-

ement with Storebrand Livsforsikring for 

high-quality commercial property loans. 

Loans to income-generating properties are 

secured by mortgages in rental properties 

which at the portfolio level are characte-

rised by a well-diversified tenant profile 

and long term lease contracts. Few of the 

customers are in default and the portfolio 

has a low level of loan losses.

The bank has a balanced funding structure 

and bases its borrowing on customer 

deposits, the issuance of securities and 

covered bonds both directly in the market 

and through a swap scheme with Norges 

Bank, as well as borrowing in the Norwe-

gian and international capital markets. In 

2011 the bank has also prioritised maintai-

ning a good deposit to loan ratio, and at 

year-end the deposit to loan ratio was 55 

per cent (55 per cent). 

The bank group has issued a total of NOK 

700 million in senior bonds and NOK 1.5 

billion in covered bonds during the course 

of 2011. During 2011 borrowing conducted 

through the swap scheme with Norges 

Bank was reduced by NOK 2.4 billion. 

The bank group takes an active stance in 

managing liquidity and market makers and 

over the course of 2011 has bought back 

outstanding borrowings prior to the matu-

rity date.

The parent bank Storebrand Bank ASA had 

total assets of NOK 33.4 billion at year-

end. Gross lending in the parent bank has 

decreased by NOK 1.5 billion due to loan 

repayments and the sale of a set of retail 

market loans to the subsidiary Storebrand 

Boligkreditt AS. 

BuSiNESS SEGMENTS

rETAiL MArkET 

The bank has markedly strengthened its 

competitive power in the retail market in 

2011 and was named the third best full 

service bank by Norsk Familieøkonomi in 

2011, an improvement of 82 places from 

2010. The bank has turned the negative 

trend on loans and deposits compared 

with the two previous years. Total lending 

has shown a positive development in the 

last three quarters, while deposits have 

recorded a small increase during the year. 

At the end of 2011, the bank had about 

72,000 active retail market customers, a 

slight reduction from the 2010 figure. At the 

same time, the profitability has remained 

unchanged.

Storebrand Group has established a new 

integrated retail market strategy in 2011. 

As a consequence of the new retail market 

strategy the bank is being more closely 

integrated into the Group’s overall strategy 

for the retail market. Sales and customer 

relationship management take place jointly 

on behalf of Storebrand Group’s business 

areas. The new retail ¬market strategy, new 

price and product concept and increased 

marketing have been important elements in 

the positive development.

The development on the internet has conti-

nued in 2011 and during the second quarter 

the bank launched the new and innovative 

services ”My Consumption” and ”My Bud-

get”. In 2012 internet banking will be more 

closely integrated into the Group’s other 

online solutions and the banking custo-

mers will gain access to a complete suite of 

financial services in the internet bank. 

COrPOrATE MArkET 

The bank’s efforts in the corporate market 

are primarily focused on the commercial 

real estate market. The bank’s competitive 

advantage is connected to its many years of 

experience and specialised expertise within 

the market segment, as well as its ability to 

provide comprehensive solutions and good 

service. In addition, the corporate market, 

together with other units in the Store-

brand Group, provides services to selected 

niches which include investors and the 

SMB segment.

The volume of transactions in commercial 

properties has been lower than expected 

in 2011. The international financial insta-

bility has decreased the volume of sales 

and thereby also reduced the customer 

capture for Storebrand Bank. Property 

development has shown increased volume 

and activity in 2011. As a whole, total len-

ding volume has decreased by NOK 0.8 

billion during the course of 2011, but there 
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is a good pipeline of new projects that are 

expected to moderately increase total len-

ding volume in 2012. The portfolio quality 

has improved substantially during the year 

and there are no new sizeable problem 

loans. The volume of deposits is slightly 

reduced by NOK 250 million from 2010. 

Margins have increased on both lending 

and deposit products during 2011.

CAPiTAL MArkET PrODuCTS

From 2011 the Capital market products 

(Markets) business area will be reported 

on as part of the retail market and the 

corporate market. The area supplies pro-

ducts to the business area’s customers 

including advisory services and sales of 

products to hedge foreign exchange risk 

and interest rate risk, stockbroking, corpo-

rate advice as well as arranging and selling 

savings products. Stockbroking focuses 

on performing transactions at competi-

tive prices on both the Oslo Børs and the 

majority of foreign stock exchanges. Secu-

rities trading over the internet has shown 

a positive development in the number of 

customers in 2011.

Storebrand Bank also provides equity gua-

rantees in connection with equity issues 

within the business area’s customer base. 

STOrEBrAND BOLiGkrEDiTT AS 

At the end of 2011 Storebrand Boligkreditt 

AS had 12,287 home mortgages and flexi-

ble mortgages secured by property equiva-

lent to almost NOK 17 billion on its balance 

sheet. The quality of the portfolio is very 

good and covered bonds with a net nomi-

nal value totalling NOK 12 billion have been 

issued with maturities from 6 months to 8 

years. NOK 5 billion of these bonds have 

been invested in the market, while the 

remaining NOK 7 billion are being held on 

Storebrand Bank ASA’s balance sheet. The 

bank has used NOK 3.5 billion of a swap 

scheme administered by Norges Bank. 

At year-end, there were 18 customers in 

default, equivalent to NOK 29 million. This 

amounted to 0.2 per cent of the portfolio. 

The average loan to value ratio is about 

48 per cent compared with 46 per cent in 

2010. The established loan programme is 

Aaa rated by Moody’s rating agency.  

STOrEBrAND EiENDOMSkrEDiTT AS  

uNDEr AvvikLiNG

Storebrand eiendomskreditt AS Under 

avvikling was established to issue covered 

bonds secured by mortgages in commer-

cial real estate. In January 2011 the deci-

sion was made to discontinue operations 

in Storebrand eiendomskreditt AS Under 

avvikling due to the closure of the swap 

scheme with Norges Bank and Storebrand 

Bank therefore acquired the subsidiary’s 

loan portfolio. The transaction has not 

had an effect on the income statement 

in the consolidated financial statements. 

The subsidiary Storebrand eiendomskreditt 

AS Under avvikling was authorised by the 

Financial Supervisory Authority of Norway 

on 12 April 2011 to discontinue its opera-

tions as a mortgage company, and return 

its licence. The company will be disconti-

nued in the first half of 2012.

riNG EiENDOMSMEGLiNG AS 

As part of its long term strategy, Sto-

rebrand Bank has decided that estate 

agency is not a future focus area and 

has therefore decided to discontinue its 

ownership of Ring eiendomsmegling. The 

local staff who run the business have 

been given the opportunity to take over 

the offices as owners. The offices in which 

this has not been possible are now being 

discontinued. A collaboration with the eie 

chain of estate agents has been estab-

lished and a separate group has been 

assembled which has responsibility for 

completing all settlements and winding up 

all client accounts. The profit after taxes 

for Ring eiendomsmegling is presented in 

the accounts on the line for sold/discon-

tinued operations. Necessary provisions 

relating to the costs of discontinuing Ring 

of approximately NOK 20 million have 

been reserved in the fourth quarter. In 

addition, goodwill and other intangible 

assets have been written down to zero.

Ring eiendomsmegling sold a total of 1,743 

properties in 2011 compared with 2,183 

properties in 2010 and total revenues 

were NOK 76 million in 2011 (NOK 89 mil-

lion). The effect of Ring eiendomsmegling 

on the income statement for the bank 

group was minus NOK 60 million after 

taxes for 2011 compared with minus NOK 5 

million in 2010. 

riSk MANAGEMENT 

A bank’s core activities are linked to crea-

ting value through exposure to acceptable 

risks. Storebrand Bank is proactive in 

managing the risks in its business activi-

ties and continuously works to develop 

its routines and processes for risk mana-

gement. The current overall risk profile is 

regarded as being satisfactory and the 

company expects to make only minor 

adjustments to its risk profile during 2012.

For Storebrand Bank credit risk and liqui-

dity risk are the principal forms of risk. The 

bank group is also exposed to operational 

risk, compliance risk and market risk to a 

lesser extent. 

The risks in Storebrand Bank are closely 

monitored in accordance with guidelines 
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for risk management and internal control 

that have been approved by the Board. 

The bank’s appetite for risk is expressed 

through the risk strategy that is designed 

to support the goals of the business. 

Policy documents defining risk parameters 

are prepared for each of the forms of risk 

defined in the guidelines. Developments in 

these parameters are followed up through 

risk reporting to the Board of the Bank. 

CrEDiT riSk

Storebrand Bank’s gross credit exposure is 

almost unchanged in 2011 and represents 

NOK 42 billion as at 31 December 2011. 

Loans to the corporate market total just 

over NOK 11 billion while equivalent loans 

to the retail market amount to slightly 

over NOK 22 billion. The volume of non-

performing and impaired loans has been 

reduced by NOK 367 million in 2011, and 

accounts for 1.0 per cent of gross loans. 

As we enter 2012, we are seeing gro-

wing uncertainty about future market 

developments and to what extent the 

international financial instability will 

affect the Norwegian economy. Based on 

developments during the year, total group 

write-downs have decreased in the first 

three quarters, but increased in the fourth 

quarter to NOK 53 million at the end of 

2011. Group write-downs have decreased, 

partly due to the bank in 2011 changing its 

accounting practice for unsecured loans as 

described above. 

The credit quality of the corporate market 

portfolio is considered to be good. Appro-

ximately 80 per cent of the portfolio’s 

loans are property loans and about 20 

per cent relate to development and con-

structions loans. The property loans are 

characterised by a well-diversified tenant 

profile and good lease durations. The bank 

is secured a cash flow from tenants with 

these types of loans, in addition to having 

security in the property itself. A well-diver-

sified set of tenants ensures similar diver-

sification of cash flows, which reduces the 

overall risk inherent in the portfolio. 

The greatest risk in the portfolio is con-

sidered to be connected with develop-

ment projects where the bank has a total 

exposure of approximately NOK 2.5 billion. 

This segment is largely composed of loans 

to construction projects in the housing 

and office sector in and around the central 

Oslo area. Loans to new property projects 

are contingent upon a high proportion of 

advance sales, and the risk is deemed to 

be satisfactory.

The credit risk has improved during the 

year as new lower risk loans have been 

made, and the current loans have develo-

ped in a positive direction. The concentra-

tion risk connected with large loans has 

decreased over the last several years.

The credit quality of the retail market 

portfolio is considered to be very good. 

Almost the entire portfolio is secured by 

way of property mortgages. The portfolio’s 

high security coverage indicates a limited 

risk of loss. The loan to value ratio of the 

property loans is relatively low and only a 

limited number of loans have been made 

which exceed 80 per cent of the market 

value.

The average weighted loan to value ratio 

in the bank group is approximately 54 per 

cent on retail mortgages. Approximately 94 

per cent of retail mortgages have a loan to 

value ratio within 80 per cent and about 

97 per cent are within a 90 per cent loan 

to value ratio. In the bank group, about 58 

per cent of retail mortgages are within a 

60 per cent loan to value ratio.

The retail market portfolio has had low 

losses historically. For the bank as a 

whole, a high share of retail market loans 

is considered important in reducing the 

bank’s total risk. The proportion of loans 

in the retail market as a percentage of the 

bank’s total lending is 67 per cent at the 

end of 2011, up from 65 per cent in 2010. 

The flexible mortgage product has deli-

vered strong growth over the last several 

years and is expected to grow at a slightly 

lower rate in the future. This will result in 

a slight increase in portfolio risk, but the 

risk will be counteracted by stricter loan 

criteria for flexible mortgages, monitoring 

customers with a high degree of utilisation 

and those who do not pay interest and 

instalments on a regular basis.

Storebrand Bank’s guarantee portfolio 

amounted to almost NOK 300 million at 

year-end. The majority of the guarantees 

have been made for customers in connec-

tion with property development projects in 

Oslo and Akershus.

At year-end, the bank group had depo-

sited securities with a fair value of NOK 

2.2 billion as collateral for drawing rights to 

overnight loans and F-loans in Norges Bank. 

In addition, NOK 3.5 billion has been pledged 

as collateral in connection with the swap 

scheme with Norges Bank.

According to the licence to the estate 

agency, Hadrian eiendom AS has signed the 

statutory insurance and guarantee agre-
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ements. Through its activities, the company 

has limited credit risk but as with other areas 

of Storebrand Bank, it is exposed to develop-

ments in the Norwegian property market in 

the commercial real estate segment.  

LiquiDiTy riSk 

The proportion of long term funding over 1 

year has been between 95 per cent and 103 

per cent throughout 2011.  The deposit-to-

loan ratio of 55 per cent has remained the 

same during 2011. The bank attaches great 

importance to having a balanced funding 

structure in relation to the different matu-

rities and issuances in different markets. 

The average remaining maturity for external 

funding excluding subordinated loans is 2.5 

years, a reduction from 2.7 years in 2010. The 

proportion of total deposits over NOK 2 mil-

lion amounts to 32 per cent, a decrease from 

2010 (33 per cent).

The bank has established good liquidity buf-

fers.  Credit facilities/agreements have been 

established with other banks that Storebrand 

Bank can draw down as required. Storebrand 

Bank is rated by S&P and Moody’s. 

MArkET riSk 

Storebrand Bank’s aggregate market risk 

through interest rate and exchange rate 

exposure and the maximum risk of loss on 

the liquidity portfolio are restricted through 

low exposure limits. Also, the bank does not 

have an active investment strategy for sha-

res. Limits for shares are only established to 

cover requirements relating to the manage-

ment of non-performing loans (repossessed 

assets).

OPErATiONAL riSk 

Storebrand Bank manages operational risk by 

focusing on establishing good work and con-

trol routines, but also works systematically 

to create the right attitude among the bank’s 

employees. The most important measures to 

reduce operational risk are systematic risk 

reviews carried out at least quarterly on all of 

the bank’s activities, and also when starting 

projects or in special circumstances. The last 

risk review was performed in autumn 2011. 

The results of the risk review, including docu-

mentation of identified risks and a descrip-

tion of measures with deadlines are recorded 

in the bank’s internal control system. 

COMPLiANCE riSk 

The risk that the bank incurs public sanctions 

or financial losses due to failure to comply 

with external and internal regulations is 

defined as the bank group’s compliance risk. 

The company is particularly focused on the 

risk relating to compliance and implementa-

tion of changes in the current legislation. The 

compliance manager has responsibility for 

preparing, documenting, implementing and 

maintaining the compliance process in Sto-

rebrand Bank ASA, and is head of the bank’s 

compliance forum.  Furthermore, the com-

pliance manager participates in Storebrand 

Group’s working groups which regularly meet 

to exchange information, discuss common 

current problems and prepare common routi-

nes to ensure that the compliance work is as 

consistent and effective as possible. Reports 

on the compliance work and breaches are 

carried out in accordance with approved 

guidelines.

LEGAL DiSPuTES 

During 2011 Storebrand Bank has reported 

16 cases to the police. We are seeing a 

reduction in the number of credit card fraud 

attempts. There have been four attempts at 

fraud using document forgery, of which one 

has resulted in a loss for the bank. New this 

year are two fraud incidents using stolen 

BankIDs (electronic proof of identity). BankID 

enables customer relationships and new 

products to be quickly established. These 

types of cases require substantial resource 

use and the bank is also exposed to a higher 

risk of loss.

In 2011 Storebrand Bank has not received 

any new complaint cases requiring a hearing 

with regard to retail customers’ investments 

in various stock index bonds in Storebrand 

Bank ASA. A total of 69 private customers 

have complained to the Norwegian Financial 

Services Complaints Board about their invest-

ments in various stock index bonds in Store-

brand Bank. The Norwegian Financial Services 

Complaints Board has obtained a stay in 

proceedings for these cases until a legally 

binding judgement has been made. 

In 2009 an action was brought against Sto-

rebrand Bank seeking damages for economic 

loss in respect of investments in one of 

Storebrand’s stock index bonds. Oslo Dis-

trict Court gave judgement in favour of the 

bank and the plaintiffs were ordered to pay 

the bank’s case costs. The judgement was 

appealed and Borgarting Court of Appeal 

dismissed the plaintiffs’ appeal in a judge-

ment of 18 April 2011. The plaintiffs have 

appealed the case to the Supreme Court as 

it deals with a matter of principal interest. 

The case was tried in January 2012, but a 

judgement has not been handed down at the 

date on which the financial statements were 

being prepared. In the bank’s opinion there 

is a high probability that the claim for com-

pensation will be denied and it has therefore 

not made any provisions in this regard in the 

financial statements as at 31 December 2011.

On 29 April 2011 the district court delivered 

judgement in a damages suit in favour of the 

bank and the plaintiff was ordered to pay 

the bank’s case costs. However the bank’s 

Storebrand Bank is part of 
Storebrand, which works 
systematically to reduce its 
impact on the environment, 
through its own business 
activities, investments, procu-
rement and property manage-
ment. The Group’s head office 
in Lysaker is a building with 
high environmental standards. 

During 2011 Storebrand Bank 
has reported 16 cases to 
the police. We are seeing 
a reduction in the number 
of credit card fraud at-
tempts. There have been 
four attempts at fraud using 
document forgery, of which 
one has resulted in a loss for 
the bank. 
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claim against the borrower and the guaran-

tor was reduced by NOK 3.8 million. A pro-

vision was made for the equivalent amount 

of the bank’s claim in the second quarter of 

2011. Storebrand Bank appealed the part of 

the judgement which related to the reduc-

tion in the claim to the Borgarting Court of 

Appeal. The case has now been settled out 

of court. The settlement resulted in a rever-

sal for NOK 3 million.

CAPiTAL MANAGEMENT 

CAPiTAL ADEquACy 

Storebrand Bank Group has net primary 

capital of NOK 2.8 billion at the end of 2011, 

unchanged from the end of 2010. This gives 

a capital adequacy of 13.4 per cent compared 

with 13.0 per cent as at 31 December 2010. 

The core capital ratio is 11.4 per cent com-

pared with 10.6 per cent as at 31 December 

2010. Storebrand Bank considers it neces-

sary to have a core capital ratio of at least 

9 per cent at all times, irrespective of the 

economic cycle. In good economic times the 

core capital ratio will be considerably higher 

than this and Storebrand Bank will therefore 

aim for a core capital ratio of at least 11 per 

cent from 2013. The increase in the core 

capital ratio in 2011 is due to higher core 

capital from the net income and a reduced 

risk weighted balance sheet due to a lower 

lending volume. 

In May 2011 the Financial Supervisory Aut-

hority of Norway granted the bank approval 

for early repayment of a subordinated loan 

of NOK 100 million maturing in 2016. The 

repayment was completed in December 2011.

Storebrand Bank Group has satisfactory sol-

vency and good liquidity as at 31 December 

2011. 

PErSONNEL, OrGANiSATiON, COrPOrATE 

BODiES AND ThE ENvirONMENT 

frOM COrPOrATE SOCiAL rESPONSiBiLiTy 

TO SuSTAiNABiLiTy

For 15 years Storebrand has used corporate 

social responsibility as a phrase that captu-

res the essence of work undertaken within 

the environment, social questions and com-

munity involvement. To safeguard the long-

term reason for existence as a company in 

terms of financial, social and environmental 

parameters requires more than corporate 

social responsibility. It requires a sustainable 

strategy and it calls for requirements for 

sustainability in all internal processes and 

decisions. The procurement department 

sets a requirement for sustainability as 

one of three critical parameters, HR places 

ethics and employee satisfaction high on 

the agenda and sustainability has been to a 

large extent integrated into the company’s 

core activities. The bank participates in 

the Group’s general work in this area and 

continually works to implement these goals 

into the business’ activities through its own 

processes and decisions.

ENvirONMENT

Storebrand Bank is part of Storebrand, which 

works systematically to reduce its impact on 

the environment, through its own business 

activities, investments, procurement and 

property management. The Group’s head 

office in Lysaker is a building with high envi-

ronmental standards. even though the Group 

actively works to reduce emissions, it is not 

presently possible to eliminate all emissions 

of CO2. In order to compensate for this, 

Storebrand purchases UN certified emissions 

reductions which cover its emissions from 

flights and energy use. The Group became 

Norway’s first climate neutral financial entity 

in 2008 and has remained so since that 

time.

PErSONNEL AND ThE OrGANiSATiON

At year-end there were 175 employees in the 

bank group, compared with 274 at the start 

of the year. This represents a difference of 

99 employees since last year and is largely 

due to discontinuing the ownership interest 

in Ring eiendomsmegling and a new, chan-

ged organisational structure for Storebrand 

Group in 2011. Women represent 51 per cent 

of the bank’s employees. The average age is 

44 years old and the average length of ser-

vice is 11 years. 

The proportion of women on the Board of 

the bank is 57 per cent in 2011. The share of 

women in senior management is 16 per cent 

compared with 33 per cent in 2011. Among 

managerial positions with personnel respon-

sibilities, 39 per cent are held by women.

No injuries to people, property damage, or 

accidents of significance were reported in 

Storebrand Bank in 2011.

EquALiTy / DivErSiTy

Measures the Group has adopted relating to 

executive development for women, flexible 

working hours, opportunities to take time 

off and full salary if the employee, their 

children or their parents become ill, are also 

being implemented in the bank.

ABSENCE DuE TO iLLNESS

Health and well-being are incorporated into 

the scorecard for all business areas and 

health has consistently been high on the 

agenda in Storebrand Bank and the Store-

brand Group in 2011. The physical working 

conditions are included in the health indica-

tors, and a number of initiatives have been 

implemented to make sure that the physical 

working conditions are as favourable as 

possible.
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Absence due to illness in the bank at the 

start of the year was measured at 5.9 per 

cent compared with 3.9 per cent in 2011. Like 

the Group, the bank is committed to creating 

an inclusive workplace.

ExPErTiSE

2011 was the year in which training pro-

grammes connected to advisory services 

and MiFID were conducted and completed 

in Storebrand Bank and Storebrand Group. 

Different learning environments and the 

individual’s responsibility for developing 

expertise are firmly rooted in the organisa-

tion. We prioritise having much of the work 

on developing expertise take place during 

the employees’ day-to-day activities.

Storebrand Bank, together with other com-

panies in Storebrand Group, uses a common 

e-learning platform. This has increased the 

visibility and accessibility of the training 

programmes and meant that more people 

are taking advantage of the various training 

programmes that the company provides. 

The Group has developed training plans for 

various roles in Storebrand, in which skills 

training in all arenas are combined.

EThiCS AND TruST

Storebrand, and Storebrand Bank live by 

trust. We do not sell a physical product, but 

rather a promise to be there when it mat-

ters, whether it is tomorrow, in ten or forty 

years. Therefore we set strict requirements 

for high ethical standards in our Group’s em-

ployees. All employees are measured by their 

performance, conduct and attitude. One of 

the Group’s core values in 2011 was Reliable 

and one of the Group principles was We take 

corporate social responsibility. 

STATEMENT Of COMPANy MANAGEMENT

Storebrand Bank’s systems for internal 

control and risk management linked to the 

accounting process adhere to Storebrand 

Group guidelines. The Board decides upon 

the guidelines annually. In addition, the 

bank purchases, via its service contracts, 

all accounting and reporting services from 

Storebrand Livsforsikring. Storebrand Group 

established corporate governance policies 

in 1998. Storebrand Group reports on the 

Group’s policies and practice for corporate 

governance in accordance with section 3-3b 

of the Norwegian Accounting Act and the 

Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate 

Governance of 20 October 2011. For further 

information on Storebrand Bank’s corporate 

governance and a statement of company 

management in accordance with section 

3-3b of the Norwegian Accounting Act, refer 

to a separate description in section 10 of the 

Storebrand Group annual report regarding 

the Group’s accounting processes.

The work of the Board is regulated by special 

rules of procedure for the Board. The Board 

of Storebrand ASA has also established a set 

of instructions for the Boards of subsidiary 

companies which describe how guidelines, 

plans and strategies adopted by the Group’s 

Board of Directors are expected to be com-

plied with. These instructions do not reduce 

the independent management and super-

visory responsibilities for the Boards of the 

subsidiary companies. The Board of Store-

brand ASA has two advisory subcommittees, 

common to Storebrand Group: the Remune-

ration Committee and the Audit Committee. 

In 2011 a Compensation committee was also 

established that is common to Storebrand 

ASA, Storebrand Livsforsikring AS, Storebrand 

Bank ASA, Storebrand Kapitalforvaltning AS 

and Storebrand Finansiell Rådgivning AS, in 

accordance with section 3, third paragraph 

of the Compensation Regulations. The Com-

pensation Committee is in addition to the 

Remuneration Committee. The committee 

cannot make decisions on behalf of the indi-

vidual board.

The bank has recorded in the articles of 

association that the company shall have the 

same nomination committee as Storebrand 

ASA and will thereby follow Storebrand 

Group processes for appointing and repla-

cing board members. 

The Bank does not have any provisions in 

the Articles of Association and authorisa-

tions granting the Board the authority to 

decide that the company shall buy back or 

issue its own shares or equity certificates.

Changes in the composition of the Board 

At the Board of Representatives meeting 

on 1 June 2011, Geir Holmgren, Head of 

products and services Norway in Store-

brand Livsforsikring AS was elected to the 

Board, and replaces Roar Thoresen who 

has left the Group.

CONTiNuiNG OPErATiONS

The Board confirms that the prerequisites 

for the going concern assumption exist 

and accordingly the Annual Report has 

been prepared based on the going con-

cern principle.

EvENTS AfTEr ThE BALANCE ShEET DATE 

During the normal course of its business, 

Storebrand Bank is involved in legal procee-

dings and disputes. The Board is not aware 

of any events of material importance to the 

annual and Group financial statements that 

have occurred since the balance sheet date.

ALLOCATiON Of ThE rESuLT fOr ThE yEAr

Storebrand Bank ASA (the parent bank) 

achieved an annual result for 2011 of minus 

NOK 39.9 million. 
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The Board proposes a tax-free Group contri-

bution be made of NOK 50 million to Store-

brand ASA. The Board considers the Group’s 

capital situation to be good given the risk 

profile and proposes to the bank’s Board of 

Representatives and Annual General Meeting 

the following disposition of the result for 

the year:

fiGurES iN NOk MiLLiON:

Group contribution after taxes   50,0

Transferred from other equity -89,9

Total allocations  -39,9

The company’s equity available for distribu-

tion was NOK 1.4 billion as of 31 December 

2011 which more than covers the primary 

capital in respect of the capital requirement 

regulations. 

STrATEGy AND OuTLOOk fOr 2012 

In 2012 Storebrand Bank will continue to 

focus on improving the business’ profita-

bility combined with moderate growth. The 

consequences of the international financial 

instability for both the banking industry and 

our customers will be closely monitored. The 

bank will prioritise maintaining a moderate 

risk profile with a good balance sheet and 

funding composition.

In the retail market the bank will prioritise 

customer recruitment as part of the Group’s 

retail market strategy. The bank will priori-

tise developing products and ideas that are 

adjusted to the life phase concepts of the 

Group in other respects. The bank’s internet 

solution will be integrated into the Group’s 

other internet solutions, enabling the bank’s 

customers to gain access to a complete suite 

of financial services from the Group. 

For the corporate customer segment, Store-

brand Bank will continue its work to provide 

value-creating services and solutions based 

on the bank group’s collective expertise and 

range of services in commercial real estate.

The bank will continue the work of imple-

menting internal ratings-based (IRB) models 

to calculate capital requirements and develop 

the bank’s system for comprehensive risk 

management to enable the bank to apply 

for permission to use the IRB method during 

2012. 

In an environment characterised by much 

international uncertainty the bank will main-

tain its focus on sound management of the 

bank’s credit risk, liquidity risk, control of the 

operational risk in key work processes and 

also continue to closely monitor develop-

ments in non-performing loans and loan 

losses. 

Developments in the Norwegian and inter-

national capital markets, interest rates, 

unemployment and the property market are 

regarded as the key risk factors that can 

affect the results of Storebrand Bank Group 

in 2012. 

Idar Kreutzer

Chairman  

Stein Wessel-Aas

Deputy chairman 

Geir Holmgren

Board member

Anne-Kristine Baltzersen   

Board member

Kristine Schei

Board member 

Maria Borch Helsengreen

Board member

Heidi Storruste

Board member

Truls Nergaard

CeO 

Lysaker, 13 February 2012 

The Board of Directors of Storebrand Bank ASA

Translation – not to be signed.
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Accounts & Notes



NOK million Note 2011 2010

Interest income 1,536.9 1,525.4

Interest expense -1,093.9 -1,068.5

Net interest income 10 443.0 456.9

Fee and commission income from banking services 91.5 91.5

Fee and commission expense for banking  services -18.5 -17.8

Net fee and commission income 11 73.0 73.7

Net income and gains from associated companies 24 0.9 -1.3

Net gains on financial instruments at fair value 10 2.0 -11.2

Other income 12 29.1 24.6

Total other operating income 32.0 12.2

Staff expenses 14, 15 -130.1 -155.0

General administration expenses 14 -85.4 -88.8

Other operating costs 13, 14, 33, 34 -152.2 -135.6

Losses real estate at fair value, assets repossessed 32 -3.9 -14.1

Total operating costs -371.6 -393.6

Operating profit before loan losses 176.4 149.2

Loan losses for the period 16 13.9 -14.5

Profit before tax 190.2 134.7

Tax 17 -31.5 -91.1

Result after tax sold/discontinued operations 49 -59.8 -5.4

Profit for the year 98.9 38.2

Allocated to:

Parent company 98.9 38.1

Minority interests 0.0 0.1

Statement of comprehensive income

NOK million Note 2011 2010

Pension experience adjustments 15 2.8 -13.6

Profit for the period 98.9 38.2

Total comprehensive income for the period 101.7 24.6

Allocated to:

Shareholders 101.7 24.5

Minority interests 0.0 0.1

Total 101.7 24.6

Profit and loss account
Storebrand Bank Group

1 January - 31 December
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Statement of financial position - balance sheet 
Storebrand Bank Group
31 December

Assets 

NOK million Note 2011 2010

Cash and deposits with central banks 4, 18, 20 508.4 164.7

Loans to and deposits with credit institutions 4, 18, 22 268.6 673.4

Financial assets designated at fair value through the profit and loss account:

  equity instruments 8, 18, 23 5.2 5.1

  Bonds and other fixed-income securities 4, 8, 18, 25, 27 2,655.0 3,036.2

  Derivatives 4, 8, 18, 28 920.6 710.2

Bonds at amortised cost 26 651.2

Other current assets 18, 36 210.3 254.3

Gross lending 4, 8, 19, 30 33,474.5 34,460.1

Loan loss provisions 31 -156.6 -257.5

Net lending to customers 4, 18, 30 33,317.9 34,202.6

Investments in associated companies 24 2.8 24.6

Tangible assets 34 11.2 15.9

Real estate at fair value 32 11.7 43.3

Intangible assets and goodwill 33 111.1 86.7

Deferred tax assets 17 8.1 68.9

Assets sold/discontinued operations 49 35.4 84.7

Total assets 38,717.7 39,370.9

Liabilities and equity

NOK million Note 2011 2010

Liabilities to credit institutions 5, 8, 18, 19 6,015.8 8,052.7

Deposits from and due to customers 5, 8, 18, 19, 37 18,485.5 18,807.6

0.0

Other financial liabilities: 0.0

 Derivatives 4, 8, 18, 28 500.2 371.5

 Commercial papers and bonds issued 5, 18, 19, 39 10,082.8 8,725.3

 Other liabilities 18, 42 501.8 220.7

Liabilities sold/discontinued operations 49 30.0 36.7

Provision for accrued expenses and liabilities 41 0.8 3.7

Pension liabilities 15 103.7 102.0

Subordinated loan capital 5, 18, 19, 40 692.3 790.1

Total liabilities 36,412.9 37,110.3

Share capital 960.6 960.6

Other paid-in share capital 556.3 556.3

Retained earnings 787.9 740.4

Minority interests 43 0.1 3.3

Total equity 2,304.8 2,260.6

Total liabilities and equity 38,717.7 39,370.9

LLysaker, 13 February 2012 The Board of Directors of Storebrand Bank ASA

Translation – not to be signed. 

   
Idar Kreutzer

Chairman

Stein Wessel-Aas

Deputy Chairman

Kristine Schei 

Board Member

Geir Holmgren   

Board Member

Maria Borch 

Helsengreen

Board Member

Anne-Kristine 

Baltzersen

Board Member

Heidi Storruste

Board Member

Truls Nergaard

CeO
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                                       Majority’s share of equity

Paid-in equity Other equity

NOK million

Share

capital

Share 

premium 

reserve

Other 

paid-in 

equity

Total 

paid-in 

equity

revenue 

and costs 

applied to 

equity

Other 

equity 

Total 

other 

equity

Minority 

interest *)

Total 

equity

equity at 31.12.2009 960.6 156.0 400.3 1 516.8 31.2 730.6 761.7 3.4 2,281.9

Profit for the period 38.1 38.1 0.1 38.2

Pension experience adjustments -13.6 -13.6 -13.6

Total other comprehensive income 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 -13.6 0.0 -13.6 0.0 -13.6

Total comprehensive 

income for the period 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 -13.6 38.1 24.5 0.1 24.6

Equity transactions with owners:

Receipts of group contribution 118.4 118.4 118.4

Group contribution paid -164.4 -164.4 -164.4

Other changes 0.3 0.3 -0.2 0.1

Equity at 31.12.2010 960.6 156.0 400.3 1,516.8 17.5 722.9 740.5 3.3 2,260.6

Profit for the period 98.9 98.9 0.0 99.0

Pension experience adjustments 2.8 2.8 2.8

Total other comprehensive income 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2,8 0.0 2.8 0.0 2.8

Total comprehensive 

income for the period 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.8 98.9 101.7 0.0 101.7

Equity transactions with owners:

Purchase of minority interests -1.0 -1.0 -4.0 -5.1

Group contribution paid -50,0 -50.0 -50.0

Other changes -3,2 -3.2 0.8 -2.4

Equity at 31.12.2011 960.6 156.0 400.3 1,516.8 20.3 767.6 787.9 0.1 2,304.8

*) See note 43 Minority interests

The equity changes with the result for the individual period, equity transactions with the owners and items that are entered directly on the balance sheet.  Share 

capital, the share premium fund and other equity is evaluated and managed together. The share premium fund may be used to cover a loss, and other equity may be 

used in accordance with the provisions of the Public Limited Liabilities Company Act. 

Storebrand Bank actively manages the level of equity in the company and the group. The capital level is tailored to the economic risk and capital requirements in which 

the composition of its business areas and their growth will be an important driver.The goal of the capital management is to ensure an effective capital structure and 

secure an appropriate balance between internal goals in relation to regulatory and the rating companies’ requirements. If there is a need for new capital, this must be 

issued by the holding company Storebrand ASA.

Storebrand Bank is a financial group subject to statutory requirements regarding primary capital under the capital adequacy regulations. Primary capital encompasses 

both equity and subordinated loan capital. For Storebrand Bank, these legal requirements are most important in its capital management.

Storebrand Bank view it as necessary to have a core capital ratio of at least 9 per cent at all times, regardless of macro economic environment. In good economic 

conditionas, the core capital ratio should be substantially higher and Storebrand Bank therefore targes at core capital ratio of at least 11 per cent from 2013. In gene-

ral, the equity of the banking group can be managed without material restrictions if the capital requirements are met and the respective legal entities have adequate 

solidity. 

For further information on the group’s fulfilment of the capital requirements, see note 46. 

Changes in equity Storebrand Bank Group
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Cash flow statement Storebrand Bank Group
1 January - 31 December

NOK million Note 2011 2010

Cash flow from operations

Receipts of interest, commissions and fees from customers 1,516.9 1,682.7

Payments of interest, commissions and fees to customers -498.2 -474.0

Net disbursement/payments on customer loans 981.9 1,651.1

Net receipts/payments of deposits from banking customers -305.9 472.7

Net receipts/payments - securities at fair value 105.1 1,689.0

Net receipts/payments - real estate at fair value 56.9 95.7

Payments - taxes 0.0 -5.2

Payments of operating costs -355.8 -398.9

Net receipts/payments on other operating activities -68.3 -42.9

Net cash flow from operating activities 1,432.6 4,670.1

Cash flow from investment activities

Net payments on purchase/capitalisation of subsidiaries -5.1

Net payments on purchase/sale of fixed assets etc. -43.9 -19.1

Net cash flow from investment activities -49.0 -19.1

Cash flow from financing activities

Payments - repayments of loans and issuing of bond debt -1,481.6 -3,646.0

Receipts - new loans and issuing of bond debt 2,801.4 2,107.5

Payments - interest on loans -573.1 -620.2

Payments - repayments of subordinated loan capital -100.0 -175.0

Payments - interest on subordinated loan capital -43.4 -34.6

Net receipts/payments of liabilities to credit institutions -2,043.8 -2,162.7

Receipts - group contribution 118.4

Payments - group contribution / dividends -164.4

Net cash flow from financing activities -1,440.5 -4,577.1

Net cash flow in the period -56.9 73.9

Net cash flow in the period -56.9 73.9

Cash and bank deposits at the start of the period for new companies 

and discontinued operations
 

-4.2

Cash and bank deposits at the start of the period 838.1 764.2

Cash and bank deposits at the end of the period 777.0 838.1

Cash and deposits with central banks 20 508.4 164.7

Loans to and deposits with credit institutions 22 268.6 673.4

Total cash and bank deposits in the balance sheet 777.0 838.1

The cash flow analysis shows the group’s cash flows for operational, investment and financial activities pursuant to the direct method.  The cash flows show the overall change in 

means of payment over the year. 

Operational activities

A substantial part of the activities in a financial group will be classified as operational. 

investment activities

Includes cash flows for holdings in group companies and tangible fixed assets.

financing activities

Financing activities include cash flows for equity, subordinated loans and other borrowing that helps fund the group’s activities. Payments of interest on borrowing and payments 

of group contribution are financial activities.

Cash/cash equivalents

Cash/cash equivalents are defined as claims on central banks and lending to and claims on financial institutions. 
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Note 1 | Company information and accounting policies

1. COMPANy iNfOrMATiON

Storebrand Bank ASA is a Norwegian public limited company with bonds listed on Oslo Børs. The consolidated financial statements for 2011 were approved by the Board of 

Directors on 13 February 2012. 

Storebrand Bank provides traditional banking services such as accounts and loans in the retail market and project financing to selected corporate customers. Storebrand 

Bank Group comprises the business areas of corporate market, retail market and treasury. The Group’s head office is located at Professor Kohts vei 9, in Lysaker.  

2. ThE BASiS fOr PrEPArATiON Of ThE fiNANCiAL STATEMENTS

The accounting policies applied in the consolidated financial statements are described below.  The policies are applied consistently to similar transactions and to other 

events involving similar circumstances.

The consolidated financial statements of Storebrand Bank ASA have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) approved by the 

eU and appurtenant interpretations, as well as other Norwegian disclosure obligations pursuant to the law and regulations. 

uSE Of ESTiMATES iN PrEPAriNG ThE ANNuAL fiNANCiAL STATEMENTS

The preparation of the annual financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires the management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect assets, 

liabilities, revenue, expenses, the notes to the financial statements and information on potential liabilities. Actual amounts may differ from these estimates. See note 2 for 

further information about this. 

3. ChANGES iN ACCOuNTiNG POLiCiES

During the course of 2011 changes were made in certain IFRS standards. However none of these changes have affected the presentation, recognition and measurement of 

items in the consolidated financial statements for Storebrand Boligkreditt AS. 

4. SuMMAry Of SiGNifiCANT ACCOuNTiNG POLiCiES fOr MATEriAL iTEMS ON ThE STATEMENT Of fiNANCiAL POSiTiON 

The assets side of the Group’s statement of financial position primarily consists of financial instruments. The majority of the financial instruments fall under the category 

Loans and receivables and are stated at amortised cost. The statement of financial position also includes capitalised intangible assets.

The liabilities side of the Group’s statement of financial position primarily consists of financial instruments (liabilities). With the exception of derivatives that are stated at 

fair value, the majority of the financial liabilities are stated at amortised cost. 

The accounting policies are described in more detail below. 

5. CONSOLiDATiON

The consolidated financial statements include Storebrand Bank ASA and companies over which Storebrand Bank ASA has a controlling influence. A controlling influence is 

normally achieved when the Group owns, either directly or indirectly, more than 50 per cent of the shares in the company and the Group is in a position to exercise actual 

control over the company. Minority interests are included in the Group’s equity.  

  

COMPANy iNTEGrATiON

The acquisition method is applied when accounting for business combinations. The acquisition cost is measured at fair value after accounting for any equity instruments 

plus any costs directly attributable to the acquisition. Any expenses relating to the issuance of shares are not included in the acquisition cost, and are charged to equity.

Identifiable tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed are valued at fair value on the date of acquisition. If the acquisition cost exceeds the value of 

identifiable assets and liabilities, the difference is recognised as goodwill. If the acquisition cost is lower than the identifiable assets and liabilities on the date of the trans-

action, the difference is recognised as income. With acquisitions of less than 100 per cent of a business, 100 per cent of the additional value and value shortfall are recog-

nised in the statement of financial position with the exception of goodwill of which only Storebrand’s share is included.      

The acquisition method is applied when accounting for acquired units. Investments in associated companies (normally investments of between 20 per cent and 50 per cent 

of the company’s equity) in which the Group exercises significant influence are consolidated in accordance with the equity method. Interests in joint ventures are conso-

lidated in accordance with the proportionate consolidation method, which includes the share of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities in the appropriate lines in the 

financial statements. 

When purchasing investments, including investment properties, a decision is made as to whether the purchase is subject to IFRS 3 regulations for business combinations. 

When these purchases are not regarded as an acquisition of a business, the acquisition method pursuant to IFRS 3 Business combinations is not applied and therefore a 

determination is not made of any additional value and a provision is not allocated for deferred tax as would have occurred in a business combination.  

CurrENCiES AND TrANSLATiON Of fOrEiGN COMPANiES’ ACCOuNTS

The Group’s presentation currency is Norwegian kroner. Foreign companies included in the Group which use a different functional currency are translated into Norwegian 

kroner. The income statement figures are translated using an average exchange rate for the year and the statement of financial position is translated using the exchange 

rate prevailing at the end of the financial year. As differences will arise between the exchange rates applied when recording items in the statement of financial position 

and the income statement, any translation differences are included in the total comprehensive income. Any translation differences are included in the total comprehensive 

income.

ELiMiNATiON Of iNTErNAL TrANSACTiONS

Internal receivables and payables, internal gains and losses, interest, dividends and similar between companies in the Group are eliminated in the consolidated financial 

statements. This also includes Storebrand Bank ASA’s investments in covered bonds issued by Storebrand Boligkreditt AS. 
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6. iNCOME rECOGNiTiON

NET iNTErEST iNCOME - BANkiNG

Interest income is recognised in the income statement using the effective interest method. 

iNCOME frOM PrOPErTiES AND fiNANCiAL ASSETS

Income from properties and financial assets is described in Sections 9 and 10.

OThEr iNCOME

Fees are recognised when the income is reliable and earned, fixed fees are recognised as income in line with the delivery of the service, and performance fees are recogni-

sed as income once the success criteria have been met. 

      

7. GOODWiLL

Additional value on the acquisition of a business that is not directly attributable to assets or liabilities on the date of the acquisition is classified as goodwill on the sta-

tement of financial position. Goodwill is valued at acquisition cost on the date of the acquisition. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of subsidiaries is classified as an 

intangible asset. 

  

Goodwill is not amortised, instead it is tested for impairment. Goodwill is reviewed for impairment if there are indications that its value has become impaired. The review is 

conducted at least annually and determines the recoverable amount of goodwill. 

 

If the discounted present value of the pertinent future cash flows is less than the carrying value, goodwill will be written down to its fair value. Reversal of an impairment 

loss for goodwill is prohibited even if information later comes to light showing that there is no longer a need for the write-down or the impairment loss has been reduced. 

Goodwill is allocated to the relevant cash flow generating units that are expected to benefit from the acquisition so that it can subsequently be tested for impairment. 

Cash flow generating units are identified according to operational segments.  

 

Goodwill arising from the acquisition of interests in associated companies is included in investments in associated companies, and tested for impairment as part of the 

value of the write-down recognised in the investment.     

8. iNTANGiBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets with limited useful economic lives are valued at acquisition cost less accumulated amortisation and any write downs. The useful life and amortisation 

method are reassessed each year. With initial recognition of intangible assets in the statement of financial position, it must be demonstrated that probable future econo-

mic benefits attributable to the asset will flow to the Group. The cost of the asset must also be measured reliably. The value of an intangible asset is tested for impairment 

when there are indications that its value has been impaired. In other respects intangible assets are subject to write-downs and reversals of write-downs in the same man-

ner as described for tangible fixed assets. 

Intangible assets with unlimited useful economic lives are not amortised, but are tested for impairment annually or whenever there are indications that the value has been 

impaired.

9. iNvESTMENT PrOPErTiES 

Investment properties are valued at fair value. Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length 

transaction. 

Investment properties are principally repossessed property projects. Refer to note 32 for further information on investment properties. 

10. fiNANCiAL iNSTruMENTS

10-1. GENErAL POLiCiES AND DEfiNiTiONS

recognition and derecognition

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised in the statement of financial position when Storebrand Bank becomes party to the instrument’s contractual terms and con-

ditions. Ordinary purchases and sales of financial instruments are booked on the transaction date. When a financial asset or a financial liability is initially recognised in the 

financial statements, it is valued at fair value. Initial recognition includes transaction costs directly related to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or the financial 

liability, if it is not a financial asset or a financial liability at fair value in the profit and loss account.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual right to the cash flow from the financial asset expires, or when the company transfers the financial asset to 

another party in a transaction by which all, or virtually all, the risk and reward associated with ownership of the asset is transferred.

Financial liabilities are derecognised in the statement of financial position when they cease to exist, i.e. once the contractual liability has been fulfilled, cancelled or has 

expired.

Definition of amortised cost

Subsequent to initial recognition, hold-to-maturity investments, loans and receivables as well as financial liabilities not at fair value in the profit and loss account, are mea-

sured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The calculation of the effective interest rate involves estimating all cash flows and all contractual terms of the 

financial instruments (for example early repayment, call options and equivalent options). The calculation includes all fees and margins paid or received between the parties 

to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts.

Definition of fair value

Refer to the definition of fair value in section 9. The fair value of financial assets listed on a stock exchange or on another regulated market in which regular trading takes 

place is determined as the bid price on the last trading day up to and including the reporting date.

If a market for a financial instrument is not active, fair value is determined by using valuation techniques. Such valuation techniques make use of recent arm’s length mar-

ket transactions between knowledgeable and independent parties where available, reference to the current fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same, 

discounted cash flow analysis, and options pricing models. If a valuation technique is in common use by participants in the market and this method has proved to provide 

reliable estimates of prices actually achieved in market transactions, this method is used.

In calculating the fair value of loans the current market rate on similar loans is used. Changes in credit risk are taken into account.
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impairment of financial assets

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an assessment is made at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or group of 

financial assets is impaired. 

If there is objective evidence that impairment has occurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present 

value of the estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not occurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. the 

effective interest rate calculated at initial recognition). The amount of the loss is recognised in the profit and loss account.

Losses expected as a result of future events, no matter how likely, are not recognised. 

10-2. CLASSifiCATiON AND MEASurEMENT Of fiNANCiAL ASSETS AND LiABiLiTiES

financial assets are classified into one of the following categories:

•	 Financial assets held for trading 

•	 Financial assets at fair value through the profit and loss account in accordance with the fair value option (FVO) 

•	 Financial assets loans and receivables 

held for trading

A financial asset is held for trading if:

•	 it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near term, or on initial recognition is part of a portfolio of identified financial instru-

ments that are managed together and has evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking, or

•	 it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

With the exception of derivatives, only a limited proportion of Storebrand Bank’s financial instruments fall into this category. Financial assets held for trading are measured 

at fair value at the reporting date, with all changes in their fair value recognised in the profit and loss account.

At fair value through the profit and loss account in accordance with the fair value option (fvO)

Storebrand Bank’s liquidity portfolio is classified at fair value through the income statement because:

•	 such classification reduces the mismatch in the measurement or recognition that would otherwise arise as a result of the different rules for measuring assets and liabi-

lities, or that

•	 the financial assets form part of a portfolio that is managed and reported on a fair value basis

•	 The accounting treatment is equivalent to that for held for trading assets.

•	

Loans and receivables

A significant proportion of Storebrand Bank’s financial instruments are classified in the category Loans and receivables. Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial 

assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market, with the exception of such assets that the company intends to sell immediately or in 

the near term that are classified as held for trading and those that the company upon initial recognition designates as at fair value through the profit and loss account, 

Loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Loans and receivables that are designated as hedged items are subject to measurement under the hedge accounting requirements.

10-3. DErivATivES

Definition of a derivative

A derivative is a financial instrument or other contract within the scope of IAS 39, with all three of the following characteristics:

•	 its value changes in response to the change in a specified interest rate, financial instrument price, commodity price, foreign exchange rate, index of prices or rates, 

credit rating or credit index, or other variable (sometimes called the ‘underlying’) 

•	 it requires no initial net investment or an initial net investment that is smaller than would be required for other types of contracts that would be expected to have a 

similar response to changes in market factors

•	 it is settled at a future date.

Accounting treatment of derivatives that are not hedging

Derivatives that do not meet the criteria for hedge accounting are treated as financial instruments held for trading. The fair value of such derivatives is classified as either 

an asset or a liability with changes in fair value through the profit and loss account.

The majority of the derivatives used routinely for balance sheet management fall into this category.

10-4. hEDGE ACCOuNTiNG

fair value hedging

Storebrand Bank uses fair value hedging, where the items hedged are financial assets and liabilities measured at amortised cost. Derivatives are recognised at fair value in 

the profit and loss account. The gain or loss on the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk adjusts the carrying amount of the hedged item and is recognised in the 

profit and loss account. 

              

10-5. fiNANCiAL LiABiLiTiES

Subsequent to initial recognition, all financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using an effective interest method, or at fair value. 

11. PENSiON OBLiGATiONS 

From 1 January 2011 Storebrand Bank has been offering a defined contribution scheme to employees. Until 31 December 2010 Storebrand Bank had a defined benefit 

scheme for its members of staff.  The defined benefit scheme was closed to new members on 1 January 2011, and members at the time could voluntarily elect to transfer to 

a defined contribution pension plan.

11-1. BENEfiT SChEME

Pension costs and pension obligations for defined benefit pension schemes are determined using a linear accrual formula and expected final salary as the basis for the 

entitlements, based on assumptions about the discount rate, future salary increases, pensions and National Insurance benefits, future returns on pension plan assets as 
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well as actuarial estimates of mortality, disability and voluntary early leavers. As Norway does not have an active market for high quality corporate bonds, the discount rate 

is determined to be the risk free interest rate (treasury bill) taking into account the average remaining maturity. The net pension cost for the period comprises the total of 

the accrued future pension entitlements during the period, the interest cost on the calculated pension liability and the expected return on pension plan assets.

Actuarial gains/losses and the effects of changes in assumptions are included in the total comprehensive income in the income statement for the period in which they 

occur. The effects of changes in the pension scheme are recognised on an ongoing basis, unless the changes are conditional upon accrued future pension entitlements. In 

which case the benefit is apportioned on a straight line basis until the entitlement has been fully earned. The employer’s national insurance contributions are included as 

part of the pension liability and are included in the actuarial gains/losses shown in the total comprehensive income.

Storebrand Bank has both an insured and an uninsured pension scheme. The insured scheme is managed by Storebrand Livsforsikring AS. 

11-2. DEfiNED CONTriBuTiON SChEME

For the defined contribution pension scheme, involves the Group pays an annual contribution to the employees’ collective pension savings. The future pension will depend 

upon the size of the contribution and the annual return on the pension savings. The Group does not have any further work-related obligations after the annual contribu-

tion has been paid. No provisions are made for ongoing pension liabilities for these types of schemes. Defined contribution pension schemes are recognised directly in the 

financial statements.

12. TANGiBLE fixED ASSETS

The Group’s tangible fixed assets comprise equipment, fixtures and fittings, vehicles and IT systems.

equipment, fixtures and fittings and vehicles are valued at acquisition cost less accumulated depreciation and any write-downs. 

The depreciation period and method are reviewed annually to ensure that the method and period being used both correspond to the useful economic life of the asset. The 

disposal value is similarly reviewed. 

 

The value of a tangible fixed asset is tested when there are indications that its value has been impaired. Any impairment losses are charged to the income statement as 

the difference between the carrying value and the recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the greater of the fair value less related costs of sale and the value in 

use.  On each reporting date a determination is made as to whether to reverse previous impairment losses on non-financial assets. 

13. TAx 

The tax expense in the income statement comprises current tax and change in deferred tax and is based on the accounting standard IAS 12 Income Taxes. Tax is recognised 

in the income statement, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity. Deferred tax and deferred tax assets are calculated on the differences 

between accounting and tax values of assets and liabilities. 

Deferred tax is calculated on the basis of the Group’s tax loss carry forwards, deductible temporary differences and taxable temporary differences. 

14. PrOviSiON fOr GrOuP CONTriBuTiON

In accordance with IAS 10 on events after the balance sheet date, proposed Group contributions shall be classified as equity until approved by the AGM.

15. LEASiNG 

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially the risk and rewards incident to ownership. Other leases are classified as operating leases. Storebrand 

Bank has no finance leases.

16. STATEMENT Of CASh fLOWS 

The statement of cash flows is prepared using the direct method and shows cash flows grouped by sources and use. Cash is defined as cash, receivables from central 

banks and receivables from credit institutions with no agreed period of notice.

The statement of cash flows is classified according to operating, investing and financing activities.   

17. ShArE-BASED rEMuNErATiON 

Storebrand Bank Group has share-based remuneration agreements with key personnel. The fair value of the share options is determined on the date of the allocation. 

Valuation is made on the basis of recognised valuation models adjusted to the characteristics of the actual options. The value determined on the date of the allocation is 

periodised in the income statement over the option’s vesting period with a corresponding increase in equity. The amount is recognised as an expense and is adjusted to 

reflect the actual number of share options earned. The vesting period is the period of time from when the scheme is established until the options are fully vested.

Note 2 | Critical accounting estimates and judgements

In preparing the Group’s financial statements the management are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions of uncertain amounts. The estimates and 

underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis and are based on historical experience and expectations of future events and represent the management’s best 

judgement at the time the financial statements were prepared. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

The Group’s critical estimates and judgements that could result in material adjustment of recognised amounts are discussed below.

fiNANCiAL iNSTruMENTS AT fAir vALuE

There will be some uncertainty associated with the pricing of financial instruments not priced in an active market. This is particularly true for the types of securities priced 

on the basis of non-observable assumptions, and for these investments various valuation techniques are used to determine fair value. Any changes to the assumptions 

could affect recognised amounts. 

Please also refer to note 8 in which the valuation of financial instruments at fair value is described in more detail. 

fiNANCiAL iNSTruMENTS AT AMOrTiSED COST

Financial instruments valued at amortised cost are assessed on the reporting date to see whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial 

assets is impaired.
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A certain degree of judgement must be used in assessing whether impairment has occurred and the amount of the impairment loss. Uncertainty grows when there is tur-

moil in financial markets. The assessments include credit, market and liquidity risk. Changes in assumptions for these factors will affect an assessment of whether impair-

ment is indicated. There will thus be uncertainty concerning the recognised amounts of individual and group write-downs. This will apply to provisions for loan losses in the 

retail and corporate markets and bonds carried at amortised cost. 

iNTANGiBLE ASSETS 

Goodwill and intangible assets with undefined useful economic lives are tested annually for impairment. Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash generating units. The 

test’s valuation method involves estimating cash flows arising in the relevant cash flow generating unit, as well as applying the relevant discount rate. Tangible fixed assets 

and other intangible assets are assessed annually to ensure that the method and time period used correspond with economic realities. 

An intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of an internal project), should be recognised if all of the following points are documented:

a. the technical prerequisites for completing the intangible asset intended to be available for use or sale

b. the company intends to complete the intangible asset and either use it or sell it

c. the company’s ability to either use or sell the intangible asset

d. how the intangible asset will probably generate future economic benefits As examples, the company can demonstrate that a market exists for the products of the

intangible asset or for the intangible asset itself, or if it will be applied internally, the benefits from the intangible asset.

e. the availability of sufficient technical, financial and other resources to complete its development, and to use or sell the intangible asset

f. the company’s ability to reliably measure the expenses attributable to the intangible asset while it is being developed

PENSiONS 

The present value of pension obligations depends upon the financial and demographic assumptions used in the calculation. The assumptions must be realistic, mutually 

consistent and up to date as they should be based on a cohesive set of estimates about future financial performance. The pension liability calculations are undertaken by 

actuaries. Any changes to these estimates including forecast salary growth and the discount rate can have a substantial effect on the recognised pension liabilities relating 

to own employees. estimates of future real interest rates, real salary growth, future adjustments to the national insurance base amount and future inflation, are subject to 

significant uncertainty.

CONTiNGENT LiABiLiTiES 

The companies in Storebrand Bank Group can be a party in legal disputes. Contingent liabilities are assessed in each case and will be based on legal considerations. 

Note 3 | Risk management

The Board of Storebrand Bank has adopted guidelines for risk management and internal control which ensure that the bank has established effective and robust functions 

for risk management, internal control, compliance and internal audit. The guidelines make sure that the bank’s strategies are implemented correctly and that the risk-taking 

limits are complied with.

Storebrand Bank has identified the following areas of risk: credit risk, liquidity risk, market risk, operational risk, business risk and compliance risk. The company’s risk 

strategy forms the foundation for managing the risk areas through policies to achieve the bank’s target risk profile. The risk strategy is determined by the Board and is 

updated at least annually. 

The Risk Management unit prepares monthly risk reports in which the areas of risk are monitored in relation to their respective policies. The risk reports are considered by 

the balance sheet management committee and the Board of the bank.

Note 4 |  Credit risk

The risk of loss arising from the client lacking the capacity or intent to fulfil its obligations. This includes the risk that the security is less effective than expected (resi-

dual risk) and concentration risk. Credit risk encompasses counterparty risk. 

riSk MANAGEMENT

The risk strategy establishes overall limits for how much credit risk Storebrand Bank ASA is willing to accept. The willingness to accept risk is adjusted to the bank’s risk 

appetite and target risk profile, solvency, profitability, liquidity and growth, as well as the bank’s strategy in other respects, including the equity requirement for credit 

activities. At a more detailed level the bank’s risk strategy will provide limits for the key elements of the credit policies for the corporate and retail market business areas.

 

Credit policies establish general principles for granting credit. For the corporate market, the policy also relates to special areas such as development projects in commercial 

properties and concentration risk. 

 

Storebrand Bank ASA’s routines for credit management are set out in credit manuals for the corporate and retail markets. The credit manuals are primarily designed for 

account managers and others who are involved in case credit processes. The credit manuals contain common guidelines for the company’s credit activities, and shall safe-

guard uniform and consistent credit management practices. The credit manuals and adopted routines provide specific criteria for monitoring non-performance, loan cove-

nants, loss assessments and the annual loan review. Furthermore, the models ensure uniform portfolio risk assessment classifications and reporting on risk development. 

Specialised functions have been established for deposits, loan establishment and administration of the customer portfolio. 

 

Treasury has credit risk for its counterparties in the investment portfolio. Permitted counterparties and the composition of the portfolio are set out in the investment 

policy and counterparty risk policy of Storebrand Bank ASA. 

Counterparty risk in connection with the trading of financial derivatives with customers as the counterparty, is included in credit risk. The customer derivatives trades are 

hedged using derivatives. These transactions involve counterparty risk. The derivatives policy specifies which financial derivatives the bank is permitted to trade. 
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riSk MANAGEMENT

As part of the bank’s risk reporting procedures, ongoing reports are submitted to the bank’s executive management about developments in the bank’s credit risk in rela-

tion to the target risk.

 

The most important credit risk management is implemented and administered by the credit units in the retail and corporate markets which:

- Have ongoing responsibility for making sure that established routines in the credit areas are in accordance with the adopted risk profile and that they are adhered to on 

a day-to-day basis. 

- Participate in the corporate market credit meetings and carry out a formal check on all credit cases. This work includes credit authorisation, analyses, correct routine use, 

complying with the strategy and the balance between risk and potential earnings. 

- ensure adequate risk classification systems in the credit areas and that they are being applied consistently.

- From an independent standpoint, identify, monitor, check and report on credit risk.

- Check that loss assessments and loss reporting in the bank are in accordance with routines and ensure that non-performing loans are reported correctly and monitored.

- Attend to the control and approval of monthly allocation protocols in the corporate market and prepare reports for the Board.  

- evaluate whether there is a need for updating the corporate market and retail market credit manuals and the corporate market routine manual, and if so, provide sug-

gestions and recommend amendments to the finance director. ensure that the updates are in keeping with the bank’s risk profile, risk strategy and the business strategy 

for the two credit areas.

- Provide suggestions for the annual internal audit plan for the two credit areas.

- Support the internal auditor’s review of the credit processes in the two business areas as necessary.

Customer exposure resulting from trading financial derivatives with customers is continually reported from the Capital Market Products Department to the corporate market 

and the price development is monitored in respect of the customer’s situation, cleared lines and breach of clauses. Middle Office implements its own spot checks of this 

reporting process. Middle Office also checks whether credit customers engaging in share trading are within the applicable limits. Back Office in the Capital Market Products 

Department maintains ongoing control over these customers. Trades with counterparties made by Treasury are controlled by Middle Office in accordance with separate 

routines and work descriptions. 

ANALySiS Of CrEDiT riSk By TyPE Of fiNANCiAL iNSTruMENT

The maximum credit exposure is the sum of gross loans, guarantees, amounts drawn from credit lines and undrawn amounts of credit lines. Maximum credit exposure is 

slightly lower than it was at the end of 2010 due to a reduction in the amount of loans, counteracted by an increase relating to interest rate swaps.

Maximum credit exposure

NOK million 2011 2010

Liquidity portfolio 3,304.9 3,036.2

Total commitments customers *) 37,525.9 38,234.7

Interest rate swaps 913.0 657.7

Forward foreign exchange contracts 7.6 52.5

Total 41,751.4 41,981.1

*) Of which net loans to and amounts due from customers measured at fair value:   787.7 673.1

The amounts stated for the various financial instruments constitute the value recognised in the balance sheet, with the  exception of net lending to and receivables from 

customers, which also includes unused credit facility and guarantees. (See ”Credit exposure for lending activities” below).

CrEDiT riSk LiquiDiTy POrTfOLiO

interest-bearing securities at fair value

Credit risk per counterparty

Short-term holdings of interest-bearing securities

issuer category AAA AA A BBB NiG Total 2011 Total 2010

NOK million fair value fair value fair value fair value fair value fair value fair value

Sovereign and Government Guaranteed bonds 903.6

Credit bonds 65.5 307.8 190.8 564.1 440.0

Mortgage and asset backed bonds 1,599.3 491.6 2,090.9 1,692.6

Total 1,664.8 491.6 307.8 190.8 2,655.0 3,036.2

Rating classes are based on Standard & Poors.

Change in value:

Total change in value on the balance sheet 3.9 0.3 0.6 0.2 4.9 6.3

Change in vaule recognised in the profit 

and loss during period 5.4 -2.9 -1.3 0.2 1.4 -5.2
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interest-bearing securities at amortised cost

Credit risk per counterparty

Short-term holdings of interest-bearing 

securities

issuer category AAA AA A BBB NiG Total 2011 Total 2010

NOK million fair value fair value fair value fair value fair value fair value fair value

Sovereign and Government Guaranteed bonds 526.5 526.5

Credit bonds 97.5 25.9 123.4

Total 624.0 25.9 649.8 0.0

Rating classes are based on Standard & Poors.

CrEDiT riSk ON LOANS TO AND DEPOSiTS WiTh CrEDiT iNSTiTuTiONS AND CENTrAL BANk

Credit risk per counterparty

NOK million

AAA 

fair value

AA 

fair value

A 

fair value

BBB 

fair value

NiG 

fair value

Total 2011 

fair value

Total 2010 

fair value

Norway 508.4 508.4 164.7

Total deposits with central bank 508.4 508.4 164.7

Norway 268.6 268.6 672.3

Lithuania 1.2

Total loans to and deposits with credit 

institutions 268.6 268.6 673.4

Total loans to and deposits with credit 

institutions and central bank 508.4 268.6 777.0 864.1

CrEDiT ExPOSurE fOr LENDiNG ACTiviTiES

COrPOrATE MArkET 

Gross lending in the corporate market represents about NOK 11.2 billion. There are also about NOK 600 million in unused credit facilities and almost NOK 350 million in 

guarantees. In addition, loans of nearly NOK 3.1 billion are managed and syndicated to Storebrand Livsforsikring AS. 

About 80% of the loans have been made on income generating property. Just short of 20% relate to property development projects. Under 5% of the Corporate portfolio is 

secured by pledged assets other than property. The security for the portfolio is principally commercial properties. 

Construction loans of just over NOK 900 million and  commercial real estate mortgages for almost NOK 400 million have been granted at the end of 2011, but the funds 

have not been disbursed or the offer has not yet been accepted by the customers.  

About 29% of the portfolio is to groups of connected debtors with total loans of over NOK 200 million. The definition of a group of connected debtors is given in the regu-

lations relating to large exposures. 22% of the portfolio relates to groups of connected debtors with total loans under NOK 50 million. 49% of the loans have been made to 

groups of connected debtors with consolidated exposure of between NOK 50 million and NOK 200 million. The bank has 13 groups of connected debtors which have total 

loans exceeding NOK 200 million, and 58 groups of connected debtors with total borrowings of between NOK 50 million and NOK 200 million. Large loans have increased 

during 2011.

The bank’s exposure is secured by pledged assets in Oslo, close to 55%. A further 28% of the bank’s exposure is secured by assets pledged in the area surrounding Oslo 

and the rest of eastern Norway. The remaining loans are secured primarily in and around Bergen and Stavanger. 

Assets pledged are valued at their sellable value in addition to separate assessments based on yield considerations. 

A classification model for firms in the commercial real estate industry is used when determining debtors’ capacity to service debt. The model is composed of a qualitative 

and a quantitative part. The qualitative part evaluates a range of factors including the management, structure, board, history, market, political risk and tenants. 

The quantitative factors are evaluated differently for construction loans and commercial real estate mortgages. Construction loans are assessed based on reserves available 

for unforeseen costs, the sales buffer, advance sales and project management. 

Commercial real estate mortgages are assessed quantitatively through analysis of cash flows and evaluating certain key ratios. The cash flow is calculated for the duration 

of the project. For corporate market loans, risk is classified on a scale from 1 to 5, where 1 is best. The first indicates the debtor’s debt servicing capacity (ability to make 

repayments), the second indicates the quality of the security (degree of security/loan to value ratio). 

To assess the risk on loans and receivables on customers the bank has implemented a classification system for corporate market customers and selected retail market 

customers (including private investors etc). The loans are classified both on establishment, and when there are changes in the loans. In addition, corporate market custo-

mers are reclassified annually or as necessary. The classifications thereby provide an overview of the risk exposure in the portfolio at all times. 

The largest risk for commercial real estate mortgages is tenant risk. For construction loans the two largest risks are construction costs and advance sales. This is closely 

monitored by the bank. Of loans that are not non-performing or in arrears, about 80% of the loans have a loan to value ratio of under 80%. Approximately 95% of the 

loans have a loan to value ratio within 90%. The remaining performing loans have a loan to value ratio of under 100% for the most part. For corporate market loans in arre-

ars, the loan to value ratio is under 80% for 98% of the volume of the loans. There is a low volume of non-performing loans without evidence of impairment. These loans 

are well secured, and the loan to value ratio is under 10% for the loan with the highest loan to value ratio. 

For non-performing loans with evidence of  impairment, the loan loss provisions that have been made have taken into account that the pledged assets do not cover the 

value of the loans and other costs related to the non-performance. The losses that have been recorded are considered to be sufficient. The bank does not believe that 

new losses will be forthcoming from these customers at this time. In the event of non-performance the bank will sell the securities or take over the assets if that is most 

appropriate. In the current portfolio in the parent bank there are two properties that have been taken over. These loans totalled NOK 25 million and are classified as non-

performing with evidence of impairment by the parent bank. The provisions that have been made are considered to be sufficient. 
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rETAiL MArkET 

The retail market is largely composed of  home mortgages. There are mortgages amounting to about NOK 22 billion with a further amount of almost NOK 2.2 billion in 

unused credit facilities. Total loans and credit facilities in mortgages are therefore about NOK 24.2 billion. 

Individuals are evaluated according to their capacity and intent to repay the loan. In addition to their capacity to service debt, the customers are checked regarding policy 

rules and the customers are scored using a scoring model. For other retail market customers the overall loan to value ratio and debt servicing capability (as determined by 

the bank’s credit policy for the segment) that apply to the portfolio is used as a basis. The collateral for the retail portfolio are primarily housing.   

The average weighted loan to value ratio in the Bank Group is about 54%, and 93.5% of housing loans are within a loan to value ratio of 80% and about 97% are within a 

90% loan to value ratio. Approximately 58% of housing loans have a loan to value ratio of less than 60% in the Bank Group. The portfolio is considered to have a low credit 

risk.  

There is largely good collateral on non-performing loans without evidence of impairment for retail customers. The average loan to value ratio for these loans is 60%. Hou-

sing loans that are part of the volume of non-performing loans total just under NOK 139 million. About NOK 120 million in loans are within a loan to value ratio of 80% , 

and about NOK 128 million are within a loan to value ratio of 90%. The collateral is also good on mortgages which are between 1 and 90 days past due. Assets pledged as 

collateral are sold in the retail market. They are not taken over by the bank. 

In the credit card portfolio about NOK 151 million has been drawn, and approximately NOK 622 million is available as unused credit facilities. For credit accounts about NOK 

116 million has been drawn, and approximately NOK 330 million is available as unused credit facilities.

Commitments per customer group

2011

NOK million

Loans to and due 

from customers Guarantees 1)

undrawn 

credit limits Total commitments

Development of building projects 1,236.3 40.3 18.1 1,294.7

Sale and operation of real estate 7,944.2 299.5 504.8 8,748.6

Service providers 1,383.8 5.3 2.4 1,391.5

Wage-earners 22,586.6 0.1 3,142.1 25,728.9

Other 323.6 2.4 36.2 362.3

Total 33,474.5 347.7 3,703.7 37,525.9

Loan loss provisions on individual loans -103.4 -103.4

Loan loss provisions on groups of loans -53.2 -53.2

Total loans to and due from customers 33,317.9 347.7 3,703.7 37,369.3

1) Guarantees include NOK 55 million in undrawn credit limits.

2010

NOK million

Loans to and due 

from customers Guarantees 1)

undrawn 

credit limits Total commitments

Development of building projects 1,152.1 36.0 4.3 1,192.4

Sale and operation of real estate 8,570.7 253.4 569.9 9,394.0

Service providers 1,251.1 7.1 11.1 1.269.2

Wage-earners 23,121.6 1.2 2,845.7 25,968.5

Other 364.6 3.9 42.1 410.6

Total 34,460.1 301.6 3,473.0 38,234.7

Loan loss provisions on individual loans -173.6 -173.6

Loan loss provisions on groups of loans -83.9 -83.9

Total loans to and due from customers 34,202.6 301.6 3,473.0 37,977.2

1) Guarantees include NOK 82.7 million in undrawn credit limits.

The classification into customer groups is based on Statistics Norway’s standard for sector and business classification. The individual customer’s classification is determined by the 

customer’s primary activity. 

Average volume of total commitments per customer group

2011

NOK million

Average volume loans to 

and due from customers

Average volume 

guarantees 

Average volume 

undrawn credit limits 

Average volume total 

commitments

Development of building projects 1,194.2 38.2 11.2 1,243.6

Sale and operation of real estate 8,268.8 276.5 537.4 9,082.7

Service providers 1,317.4 6.2 6.7 1,330.3

Wage-earners 22,854.1 0.7 2,993.9 25,848.7

Other 344.1 3.1 39.2 386.4

Total 33,978.7 324.6 3,588.4 37,891.7
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2010

NOK million

Average volume loans to 

and due from customers

Average volume 

guarantees 

Average volume 

undrawn credit limits 

Average volume total 

commitments

Development of building projects 1,294.2 81.6 76.7 1,452.5

Sale and operation of real estate 7,931.6 206.3 345.2 8,483.1

Service providers 1,286.1 4.8 7.3 1,298.2

Wage-earners 24,406.0 1.2 2,820.2 27,227.5

Other 373.8 22.2 35.3 431.2

Total 35,291.7 316.0 3,284.8 38,892.6

Given the relatively stable development of the balance sheet, the average of 31 December 2011 and 31 December 2010 is a best estimate for the average of the portfolio. 

Commitments per geographical area

2011

NOK 

million

Loans to and 

due from 

customers Guarantees  1)

undrawn 

credit limits

 

Total 

commitments

Non-

performing 

loans without 

evidence of 

impairment 

Non-

performing 

and loss-

exposed loans 

with evidence 

of impairment

Gross 

defaulted and 

loss-exposed 

loans 

Provisions 

for individual 

loan losses

Net 

defaulted and 

loss-exposed 

loans

eastern 

Norway 28,094.7 332.2 2,946.0 31,372.8 118.0 149.9 267.9 82.9 185.1

Western 

Norway 3,266.7 15.2 506.0 3,788.0 26.3 1.0 27.3 1.1 26.2

Southern 

Norway 396.3 0.0 54.2 450.5 8.1 8.1 8.1

Mid-Norway 934.0 102.5 1,036.5 3.6 0.3 3.9 0.3 3.6

Northern 

Norway 498.7 0.3 62.6 561.5 1.6 1.6 1.6

Rest of 

world 284.1 32.4 316.5 1.8 19.6 21.4 19.1 2.3

Total 33,474.5 347.7 3,703.7 37,525.9 159.5 170.8 330.2 103.4 226.9

2010

NOK 

million

Loans to and 

due from 

customers Guarantees  1)

undrawn 

credit limits

 

Total 

commitments

Non-

performing 

loans without 

evidence of 

impairment 

Non-

performing 

and loss-

exposed loans 

with evidence 

of impairment

Gross 

defaulted and 

loss-exposed 

loans 

Provisions 

for individual 

loan losses

Net 

defaulted and 

loss-exposed 

loans

eastern 

Norway 28,592.9 301.2 2,769.7 31,663.8 200.4 399.8 600.1 141.3 458.8

Western 

Norway 3,266.1 0.2 435.1 3,701.3 49.8 10.4 60.2 5.9 54.3

Southern 

Norway 418.7 0.0 69.8 488.6 0.6
0.6

0.6

Mid-Norway 1,293.8 96.7 1,390.5 5.1 0.3 5.3 0.3 5.1

Northern 

Norway 584.2 0.3 61.6 646.0 5.3 5.3 5.3

Rest of 

world 304.5 40.0 344.5 0.4 25.6 26.0 26.1 -0.2

Total 34,460.1 301.6 3,473.0 38,234.7 261.6 436.0 697.6 173.6 524.0
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Total engagement amount by remaining term to maturity

2011

NOK million Loans to and due from customers Guarantees  1) undrawn credit limits Total commitments

Up to 1 month 36.7 0.1 4.5 41.4

1 - 3 months 371.1 0.5 26.0 397.6

3 months - 1 year 1,640.9 3.1 183.9 1,827.9

1 - 5 years 3,876.9 337.8 606.4 4,821.1

More than 5 years 27,548.9 6.1 2,882.9 30,437.9

Total 33,474.5 347.7 3,703.7 37,525.9

2010

NOK million Loans to and due from customers Guarantees  1) undrawn credit limits Total commitments

Up to 1 month 112.0 45.7 21.9 179.6

1 - 3 months 191.7 0.2 15.4 207.3

3 months - 1 year 1,449.4 29.4 300.3 1,779.1

1 - 5 years 5,632.1 226.3 1,306.8 7,165.2

More than 5 years 27,075.0 1,828.5 28,903.5

Total 34,460.1 301.6 3,473.0 38,234.7

Age distribution of overdue engagements without impairments

2011

NOK million

Loans to and due 

from customers Guarantees 

undrawn 

credit limits Total commitments

Overdue 1 - 30 days 1,372.3 10.0 0.4 1,382.7

Overdue 31 - 60 days 132.2 0.1 2.1 134.4

Ovedue 61- 90 days 27.4 0.2 4.0 31.7

Overdue more than 90 days 158.5 0.6 159.1

Total 1,690.5 10.3 7.0 1,707.8

Engagements overdue more than 90 days by geographical area:

eastern Norway 117.4 0.6 118.0

Western Norway 26.1 0.2 26.3

Southern Norway 8.1 0.0 8.1

Mid-Norway 3.6 0.0 3.6

Northern Norway 1.6 0.0 1.6

Rest of world 1.7 0.1 1.8

Total 158.5 1.0 159.5

2010

NOK million

Loans to and due 

from customers Guarantees 

undrawn 

credit limits Total commitments

Overdue 1 - 30 days 600.1 5.0 605.1

Overdue 31 - 60 days 165.2 1.3 1.8 168.2

Ovedue 61- 90 days 21.2 0.1 21.3

Overdue more than 90 days 258.0 3.6 261.6

Total 1,044.5 1.3 10.5 1,056.3

Engagements overdue more than 90 days by geographical area:

eastern Norway 197.5 2.9 200.4

Western Norway 49.3 0.5 49.8

Southern Norway 0.6 0.0 0.6

Mid-Norway 5.0 0.0 5.1

Northern Norway 5.3 0.0 5.3

Rest of world 0.4 0.0 0.4

Total 258.0 3.6 261.6
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Commitments are regarded as non-performing and loss-exposed:    

- when a credit facility has been overdrawn for more than 90 days   

- when an ordinary mortgage has arrears older than 90 days   

- when a credit card has arrears older than 90 days and the credit limit has been overdrawn. If   

a repayment plan has been agreed with the customer and is being adhered to, the overdraft is not regarded as a non-performing loan.   

When one of the three situations described above occurs, the commitment and the rest of the customer’s commitments are regarded   

as non-performing. The number of days is counted from when the arrears exceed NOK 2,000.    

The account is given a clean bill of health when there are no longer any arrears. The amount in arrears at the time of reporting can    

be less than NOK 2,000.    

Credit risk per customer group

2011

NOK million

 Non-

performing and 

loss-exposed 

loans with 

evidence of 

impairment 

 Non-

performing 

loans without 

evidence of 

impairment 

 Gross 

defaulted and 

loss-exposed 

loans 

 Total 

provisions for 

individual loan 

losses 

 Net defaulted 

and loss-expo-

sed loans 

 Total value 

changes 

 Total value 

change recog-

nised in the 

profit and loss 

account during 

period 

Development of building projects 1.7 1.7 2.8 -1.1 -7.0

Sale and operation of real estate 68.7 0.4 69.0 44.3 24.7 -4.2

Service providers 0.0 0.0 0.0 -4.4

Wage-earners 80.8 157.3 238.1 36.8 201.3 -47.7

Other 19.6 1.8 21.5 19.5 2.0 -6.9

Total 170.8 159.5 330.2 103.4 226.9 -70.2

2010

NOK million

 Non-

performing and 

loss-exposed 

loans with 

evidence of 

impairment 

 Non-

performing 

loans without 

evidence of 

impairment 

 Gross 

defaulted and 

loss-exposed 

loans 

 Total 

provisions for 

individual loan 

losses 

 Net defaulted 

and loss-expo-

sed loans 

 Total value 

changes 

 Total value 

change recog-

nised in the 

profit and loss 

account during 

period 

Development of building projects 9.4 0.0 9.4 9.8 -0.3 3.2

Sale and operation of real estate 262.1 262.1 48.5 213.6 -4.6

Service providers 4.1 6.5 10.6 4.4 6.2 -4.2

Wage-earners 134.5 254.7 389.2 84.6 304.7 -5.4

Other 25.8 0.4 26.2 26.4 -0.2 2.7

Total 436.0 261.6 697.6 173.6 524.0 -8.4

    

repossessed assets   

In the event of non-performing loans Storebrand Bank ASA will sell the collateral or repossessed assets if this is most appropriate. The bank has two repossessed assets 

held as subsidiaries in the Storebrand Bank Group and internal transactions have been eliminated in the normal manner. 

fiancial assets at fair value through profit and loss (fvO)

Lending to customers Liquidity portfolio

NOK million 2011 2010 2011 2010

Book value 787.7 673.1 2,655.0 3,036.2

Maximum exposure to credit risk 787.7 673.1 2,655.0 3,036.2

Book value of related credit derivatives that reduce credit risk

This year's change in fair value of financial assets due to change in credi risk

Accumulated change in fair value of financial assets due to change in credit risk -1.4 -5.1

This year's change in value of related credit derivatives 4.9 6.3

Accumulated change in value of related credit derivatives

Lending to customers is measured at fair value based on valuation techniques. The valuation techniques use interest rate curves from Reuters and credit spreads for 

equivalent new loans as per the end of December.     

Financial assets are designated at fair value through the profit and loss account (FVO) the first time they are recognised where another measurement would result in an 

inconsistency in the profit and loss account.   
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financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss (fvO)

NOK million 2011 2010

Book value 3,496.9 6,034.4

Maximum exposure to credit risk

Book value of related credit derivatives that reduce credit risk

The year's change in fair value of liabilities due to changes in credit risk -1.6 7.3

Difference between book value of liabilities and contractual amount due at maturity 3.8 4.1

Accumulated change in fair value of liabilities due to changes in credit risk -1.6 7.3

Difference between book value of liabilities and contractual amount due at maturity 3.8 4.1

Credit risk derivatives

The purpose of the use of financial derivatives is to identify and reduce currency and interest rate risk. Counterparty risk in connection with the trading of financial deriva-

tives is included in credit risk.  The bank’s risk strategies and policies establish limits for how much credit risk the bank group is willing to accept. Storebrand Bank hedges 

all customer derivative trades by opposite derivatives to minimise foreign exchange and interest rate exposure. .

Credit risk per counterparty

NOK million

AAA

fair value

AA

fair value

A

fair value

BBB

fair value

NiG

fair value

Total 2011  

fair value

Total 2010 

fair value

england 372,1

Norway 36.3 398.4 468.8 903.5 95.0

Sweden 14.7 14.7 243.2

Denmark 2.4 2.4

Total 36.3 415.5 468.8 920.6 710.2

Change in value:

Total change in value on 

the balance sheet 36.3 415.5 468.8 920.6 710.2

Change in value recognised 

in the profit and loss during period -82.3 -48.9 175.3 -302.5 468.8 210.4 -97.2

Equity options, interest rate swaps, basis swaps and forward foreign exchange contracts    

Derivatives are entered into for hedging purposes. Derivative transactions are entered into with counterparties that are ”investment grade” rated.  

Note 5 | Liquidity risk 

The risk that the Bank Group, the parent bank and subsidiaries are unable to fulfill their obligations without incurring substantial additional expense in the form of low 

prices for assets that must be realised, or in the form of especially expensive financing. 

   

riSk MANAGEMENT

The risk strategy establishes overall limits for how much liquidity risk the bank group is willing to accept. The liquidity risk policy builds on the strategy and describes the princi-

ples for liquidity management and specifies stress testing, minimum liquidity reserves and financial indicators for measuring liquidity risk. In addition to this, the bank’s Treasury 

Department prepares an annual funding strategy and funding plan that set out the overall limits for the bank’s funding activities.

Stress tests are used to illustrate the expected effects of various scenarios on the balance sheet and on cash flows. The stress tests are used to evaluate the actual risk capacity 

against the desired willingness to accept risk. The bank prepares a contingency plan annually to safeguard effective management of the liquidity situation during stressful periods. 

 

The treasury function in the bank’s Capital Market Products Department is responsible for the bank’s liquidity management, and Middle Office in the Risk Management unit moni-

tors and reports on the utilisation of limits pursuant to the liquidity strategy and policy.

 

riSk MANAGEMENT

The means of controlling liquidity risk include monthly reports of the liquidity indicators and monitoring developments in the bank’s maturity profile. Both of these activities are 

included in the administration’s ongoing reporting to the Board through the risk reports and the CeO’s business briefings. The risk strategy and liquidity policy specify which liqui-

dity indicators are followed. Middle Office performs checks on trades undertaken by Treasury to ensure conformance with the applicable policies.
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Non-discounted cash flows - financial liabilties

NOK million 0–6 months 6–12 months 1–3 years 3–5 years

More than  

5 years Total Book value

Liabilities to credit institutions 1,483.6 416.6 4,319.0 6,219.3 6,015.8

Deposits from and due to customers 18,485.5 18,485.5 18,485.5

Commercial papers and bonds issued 1,719.7 473.4 3.807.5 6,327.7 1,241.8 13,570.2 10,082.8

Other liabilities 501.8 501.8 501.8

Subordinated loan capital 259.4 162.8 465.7 1.6 74.4 964.0 692.3

Undrawn credit limits 3,748.6 3.748.6

Lending commitments 1,408.5 1.408.5

Total financial liabilities 2011 27,607.2 1,052.9 8,592.2 6,329.3 1,316.2 44,897.8 35,778.2

Derivatives related to funding 

31.12.11 -102.3 -11.3 -268.3 -130.2 -54.7 -220.5 192.9

Total financial liabilities 2010 25,062.6 2,987.9 8,216.6 4,848.1 1,050.5 42,165.7 36,633.1

The amounts includes accrued interests.

The overview of non-discounted cash flows includes interest. Implicit forward interest rates based on the yield curve on 31 December 2011 are used to calculate 

interest costs for lending with FRN conditions. The maturity profile was set up using the PortWin risk management system.

The call date is used as the maturity date on borrowing which has a call date.

Specification of subordinated loan capital

NOK million

iSiN code issuer Net nominal value Currency interest Call-date Book value

Dated subordinated loan capital

NO001036427 Storebrand Bank ASA 250.0 NOK Floating 08.05.2012 251.4

NO001040278 Storebrand Bank ASA 150.0 NOK Floating 19.12.2012 150.1

Other subordinated loan capital

NO00177116 Storebrand Bank ASA 9.3 NOK Fixed perpetual 9.3

Tier 1 hybrid capital

NO001024206 Storebrand Bank ASA 107.0 NOK Fixed 29.10.2014 112.7

NO001024207 Storebrand Bank ASA 168.0 NOK Floating 29.10.2014 168.8

Total subordinated loan capital 2011 692.3

Total subordinated loan capital 2010 790.1

Specification of liabilites to credit institutions

NOK million 2011 2010

Total liabilites to credit institutions without fixed maturity at amortised cost 5.1 5.4

f-loan:

Maturity 2011 500.0

Maturity 2012 1,413.1 1,012.1

Loan with floating interest rate:

Maturity 2011 78.1

Maturity 2012 350.0 350.0

Maturity 2013 750.0 250.0

Accrued expenses 0.8 1.2

Total liabilities to credit institutions with fixed maturity at amortised cost 2,513.9 2,191.4

Borrowings under the Norwegian Government's Swap scheme:

Maturity 2011 2,365.1

Maturity 2013 2,508.4 2,500.4

Maturity 2014 988.4 990.4

Total liabilities to credit institutions with fixed maturity at fair value (fvO) 3,496.9 5,855.9

Total liabilities to credit institutions 6,015.8 8,052.7
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As per 31 December 2011, Storebrand Bank ASA had only one current credit facility. A NOK 750 million Revolving Credit Facility was

signed in October 2010. The credit facility agreement for NOK 750 million contains certain special covenants. 

In 2011, Storebrand Bank ASA fulfilled all the terms and conditions of the agreement. 
 

SPECifiCATiON Of COMMErCiAL PAPErS AND BONDS iSSuED

NOK million

iSiN code issuer Net nominal value Currency interest Maturity Book value

Commercial papers

NO001063070 Storebrand Bank ASA 500,0 NOK Fast 20.06.2012 501.4

Total commercial papers 501.4

Bond loans

NO001054848 Storebrand Bank ASA 500,0 SeK Floating 26.01.2012 438.2

NO001049263 Storebrand Bank ASA 520,5 NOK Floating 20.02.2012 522.9

NO001045553 Storebrand Bank ASA 327,0 NOK Fixed 03.09.2012 338.0

NO001059077 Storebrand Bank ASA 500,0 NOK Floating 10.05.2013 502.8

NO001047340 Storebrand Bank ASA 408,0 NOK Floating 21.11.2013 415.0

NO001050777 Storebrand Bank ASA 648,0 NOK Floating 30.04.2014 659.1

NO001059982 Storebrand Bank ASA 400,0 NOK Floating 11.08.2014 401.9

NO001043982 Storebrand Bank ASA 310,0 NOK Fixed 04.06.2015 344.8

NO001051323 Storebrand Bank ASA 300,0 NOK Fixed 25.05.2016 324.6

Total bond loans 3,947.4

Covered bonds

NO0010466071
Storebrand  

Boligkreditt AS
1,250 NOK Fixed 24.04.2014 1,370.6

NO0010428584
Storebrand  

Boligkreditt AS
1,000 NOK Fixed 06.05.2015 1,121.2

NO0010575913
Storebrand  

Boligkreditt AS
515 NOK Floating 03.06.2016 516.5

NO0010612294
Storebrand  

Boligkreditt AS
1,535 NOK Floating 15.06.2016 1,530.9

NO0010548373
Storebrand  

Boligkreditt AS
1,000 NOK Fixed 28.10.2019 1,094.8

Total covered bonds 5,634.0

Total commercial papers and bonds issued 2011 10,082.8

Total commercial papers and bonds issued 2010 8,725.3

The loan agreements contain standard covenants.

Storebrand Bank ASA, Storebrand Boligkreditt AS and Storebrand eiendomskreditt AS were in compliance with all relevants covenants in 2011.

Under the loan programme in Storebrand Boligkreditt AS the company’s overcollateralisation requirement was 109.5 percent fulfilled.

 

Note 6 | Market risk

The risk of losses on open positions in financial instruments due to changes in market variables and/or market conditions within a pecified time horizon. Covers counter-

party risk in financial instruments trading, as well as stock market risk, interest rate risk and exchange rate risk. 

riSk STrATEGy

The risk strategy sets general limits for the management and control of market risk which primarily relates to the bank’s long term investments in equity instruments and fixed 

income securities. The bank is also exposed to currency risk to a lesser degree. 

 

Market risk policies specify limits for market risk that the bank is willing to accept. Storebrand Bank ASA’s market risk is primarily managed and controlled through daily moni-

toring of risk exposure pursuant to the policy and continuous analyses of outstanding positions. 

 

The exposure limits are reviewed and renewed by the Board at least annually. The sizes of these limits are set on the basis of stress tests and analyses of market movements, 

as well as risk capacity and willingness. 
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riSk MANAGEMENT

Middle Office in the Risk Management unit is responsible for the ongoing, independent monitoring of market risk. The means of controlling market risk include monthly 

reports of the market risk indicators. The market risk indicators that are followed are specified in the risk strategy, interest rate risk policy and currency risk policy. Monthly 

reports for the individual portfolios are produced for the bank’s balance sheet management committee and the bank’s Board.

For changes in market risk that occur during the first year, the effect on the result and equity will be as shown below based on the balance sheet as of 31 December 2011: 

Effect on income

NOK million Amount

Interest rate -1.5% -25.3

Interest rate +1.5% 25.3

Effect on net profit/equity 1)

NOK million Amount

Interest rate -1.5% -25.3

Interest rate +1.5% 25.3

1) Before taxes

The note presents the accounting effect over a 12 month period of an immediate parallel change in interest rates of +1.5% and -1.5% respectively. It has taken into acco-

unt the one-time effect that such an immediate change in interest rates would have on the items recognised at fair value and the value of hedging, and the effect that 

the change in interest rates would have on the net profit for the remaining duration of the interest rate before  the change in interest rates has an effect on income and 

expenses. The sensitivity analysis has been performed using the risk management system PortWin. Items that would be affected by the one-time effect and are recorded 

at fair value are the investment portfolio, fixed interest rate loans, borrowing via the swap scheme with the government, deposits with returns linked to the stock market 

and derivatives. Items that would be affected by the one-time effects and which are recorded using hedging accounting are fixed interest rate loans.

See also note 28 regarding foreign exchange risk.

Note 7 | Operational risk

Operational risk: The risk of financial loss due to ineffective, inadequate or fail internal processes or systems, human error, external events or failure to comply witn 

internal guidelines. Breach of laws and regulations can obstruct the Group from achieving its objectives and this part of compliance risk is included in operational risk. 

riSk MANAGEMENT

Operational risk management and compliance with laws, regulations and internal rules are an integral part of the management responsibilities of all managers in the Store-

brand Group. Risk assessments and internal control reporting are linked to a unit’s ability to achieve its goals. Risk assessments are continually recorded and documented 

in easy Risk Manager (eRM, a risk management system supplied by Det Norske Veritas). 

The Business Management Department in Storebrand has the responsibility for coordinating the risk assessment process and owns the eRM system. The governing 

structure for operational risk management follows the group organisation (the corporate governance model).

Operational risk in Storebrand Bank is governed through an operational risk policy. The Risk Management unit is responsible for monitoring operational risk in the bank.

The compliance manager at Storebrand Bank shall be able to extract risks that are defined as being high with regard to breaching external or internal regulations from eRM.

 

riSk MANAGEMENT

If the risk assessment requires the implementation of planned improvement measures, the measures must be documented and reported via eRM. Routines for any spot 

checks or other forms of regular quality control and the results from these must also be documented.

The work on operational risk is documented in an internal control status report that is considered by the bank’s Board. 

Middle Office in the Risk Management unit carries out numerous checks and reconciliations in conjunction with monthly, quarterly and annual financial statements in order 

to check and reduce operational risk. In addition to this, the bank’s compliance officer, financial crime unit and internal auditor carry out spot checks in a number of the 

bank’s most important work processes. The results of these are reported to the bank’s management team and the Board.

Compliance risk: The risk that the Group incurs public sanctions or financial losses due to failure to comply with external and internal regulations. 

riSk MANAGEMENT

The compliance risk in Storebrand Bank is managed through routines for the bank’s compliance manager. Furthermore, the compliance risk is governed through the compli-

ance manager’s processes which include:

•	 Maintaining an overview of the applicable laws and regulations at all times, and how the division of responsibilities for ensuring compliance is assigned within the 

organisation.

•	 Monitoring that the company complies with its commitments under the Securities Trading Act and accompanying regulations and other requirements.

•	 Regularly assessing the company’s routines and guidelines, in regard to the company’s risk profile. 

•	 Functioning as an internal adviser to employees on questions relating to compliance.

 

The compliance manager participates in the Group’s compliance working group which meets on a regular basis to exchange information, discuss common current problems 

and prepare common routines.
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riSk MANAGEMENT

The compliance manager is responsible for keeping and updating the compliance journal in accordance with special routines and carrying out ongoing spot checks pursuant 

to compliance with own account trading regulations, Mifid and similar. In order to be able to identify problem areas by gaining a complete overview of problems that arise 

internally, the bank has implemented routines for continuously reporting incidents to the compliance manager, who is responsible for inputting the reported incidents into 

a separate event journal. Reported incidents are reviewed and considered by the compliance forum in the bank. The event journal provides the operational risk with a good 

basis for evaluating/implementing measures to reduce the unit’s operational risk. 

Note 8 | Valuation of financial instruments at fair value 

Specification of financial assets at fair value 

NOK million

quoted  

prices 

Observable 

assumptions

Non-observable 

assumptions

Book value 

31.12.2011

Book value 

31.12.2010

equities and units 5.2 5.2 5.1

Lending to customers 787.7 787.7 673.1

      Sovereign and Government Guaranteed bonds 903.6

      Credit bonds 564.1 564.1 440.0

      Mortage and asset backed bonds 50.0 2,040.9 2,090.9 1,692.7

Total bonds 50.0 2,605.0 0.0 2,655.0 3,036.2

     Interest rate derivatives 423.3 423.3 342.5

     Currency derivatives -2.9 -2.9 -3.9

Total derivatives 0.0 420.4 0.0 420.4 338.7

     Derivatives with a positive fair value 920.6 920.6 710.2

     Derivatives with a negative fair value -500.2 -500.2 -371.5

  

Changes between quoted prices and observable assumptions

NOK million

from quoted prices to  

observable assumptions

from observable assumptions  

to quoted prices 

equities and units

Bonds and other fixed-income securities

Derivatives

Liabilities

Storebrand Bank Group conducts a comprehensive process to ensure that financial instruments are valued as closely as possible to their market value. Publicly listed finan-

cial instruments are valued on the basis of the official closing price on stock exchanges, supplied by Reuters and Bloomberg. Bonds are generally valued based on prices 

collected from Reuters and Bloomberg. Bonds that are not regularly quoted will normally be valued using recognised theoretical models. The latter is particularly applicable 

to bonds denominated in Norwegian kroner. Discount rates composed of the swap rates plus a credit premium are used as a basis for these types of valuations. The credit 

premium will often be specific to the issuer, and will normally be based on a consensus of credit spreads quoted by well recognised brokerage houses.

 

Unlisted derivatives, including primarily interest rate and foreign exchange instruments, are also valued theoretically. Money market rates, swap rates, exchange rates and 

volatilities that form the basis for valuations are supplied by Reuters, Bloomberg and Norges Bank.

 

Storebrand Bank Group carries out continual checks to safeguard the quality of market data that has been collected from external sources. These types of checks will 

generally involve comparing multiple sources as well as controlling and assessing the likelihood of unusual changes.

 

The Storebrand Group categorises financial instruments that are valued at fair value into three different levels which are described in more detail below. The levels express 

the differing degrees of liquidity and different measurement methods used.

 

Level 1: financial instruments valued on the basis of quoted prices in active markets for identical assets

 

Bonds, certificates or equivalent instruments issued by nation states are generally classified as level 1. When it comes to derivatives, standardised stock index futures and 

interest rate futures they will also be included at this level.

 

Level 2: financial instruments valued on the basis of observable market information not covered by level 1

 

This category encompasses financial instruments that are valued based on market information that in directly observable or indirectly observable. Market information that 

is indirectly observable means that the prices can be derived from observable related markets. Level 2 includes shares or equivalent equity instruments for which market 

prices are available, but where the volume of transactions is too limited to fulfil the criteria in level 1. Shares in this level will normally have been traded during the last 

month. Bonds and equivalent instruments are generally classified in this level. Moreover, interest rate and foreign exchange swaps, non-standardised interest rate and 

foreign exchange derivatives are classified in level 2. 
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Level 3: financial instruments valued on the basis of information that is not observable according to the definition for level 2 financial instruments 

Investments classified as level 3 largely include investments in unlisted/private companies. The bank group did not have any investments that were classified at this level at year-end.

Note 9 | Segment reporting

Analysis of profit and loss account by segment:

Corporate retail Treasury/other Total

NOK million 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010

Profit and loss items:

Net external interest income 216.0 195.9 255.0 275.0 -28.0 -14.0 443.0 456.9

Net internal interest income

Net interest income 216.0 195.9 255.0 275.0 -28.0 -14.0 443.0 456.9

Net external fee and commission income 15.3 16.5 57.9 59.5 -0.2 -2.3 73.0 73.7

Net internal fee and commission income

Net fee and commission income 15.3 16.5 57.9 59.5 -0.2 -2.3 73.0 73.7

Other external operating income 33.2 21.4 3.4 2.9 -4.6 -12.2 32.0 12.2

Other internal operating income

Total other operating income 33.2 21.4 3.4 2.9 -4.6 -12.2 32.0 12.2

Operating costs -125.6 -127.8 -234.3 -237.1 -7.8 -14.5 -367.7 -379.4

Losses real estate at fair value, assets repossessed -3.9 -14.1 -3.9 -14.1

Total operating costs -125.6 -127.8 -234.3 -237.1 -11.7 -28.6 -371.6 -393.5

Operating profit before loan losses 138.9 106.0 82.0 100.3 -44.5 -57.1 176.4 149.2

Loan losses -2.9 -20.4 5.7 -12.2 11.1 18.1 13.9 -14.5

Ordinary profit from continuing operations 136.0 85.6 87.7 88.1 -33.5 -39.0 190.2 134.7

Ordinary profit from businesses sold/

discontinued operations 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 -59.8 -5.4 -59.8 -5.4

Balance sheet items:

Gross lending 11,184.1 12,000.2 22,028.8 22,498.8 261.6 -38.9 33,474.5 34,460.1

Loan loss provisions -142.0 -180.0 -28.5 -91.4 13.9 13.9 -156.6 -257.5

Net customer lending 11,042.1 11,820.2 22,000.3 22,407.4 275.5 -25.0 33,317.9 34,202.6

Other assets 5,399.8 5,168.3 5,399.8 5,168.3

Total assets 11,042.1 11,820.2 22,000.3 22,407.4 5,675.3 5,143.3 38,717.7 39,370.9

Deposits from and due to customers 6,961.9 7,323.5 10,854.5 11,350.8 669.1 133.3 18,485.5 18,807.6

Other liabilities 2,971.0 3,304.7 10,151.2 10,039.0 4,805.1 4,959.0 17,927.4 18,302.7

equity 1,109.1 1,192.0 994.6 1,017.6 201.1 51.0 2,304.8 2,260.6

Total liabilities and equity 11,042.1 11,820.2 22,000.3 22,407.4 5,675.3 5,143.3 38,717.7 39,370.9

Key figures:

Cost/income ratio 47.% 55.% 74.% 70.% -36.% -100.% 67.% 70.%

Deposits from customers as% of gross lending 62.% 61.% 49.% 50.% 256.% -343.% 55.% 55.%

Total level of provisioning 66.% 25.% 48.% 37.%

Description of the segments:

The bank’s segment reporting has been changed with effect from the fourth quarter of 2011, and is no longer directly comparable with figures presented in prior reports. 

The comparable figures in the notes have been restated. The bank now reports for two segments: the Corporate market and the Retail market. 

Corporate market: The segment includes corporate customers’ deposits and loans, mainly property owners and developers, as well as commercial estate 

agency for corporate customers (Hadrian eiendom AS). Changes in the value of acquired assets that are presented in the income statement as a separate line item, are 

shown in the segment note on the losses line, reflecting the accounting treatment internally.  The reclassification is presented under the ”Treasury/other” segment.

Stockbroking, corporate business and other capital market business for customers within the bank’s corporate market segment are presented under the 

STOReBRAND BANK | 39



annual report 2011

”Corporate market” segment. The subsidiaries Hadrian eiendom AS and Hadrian Utvikling AS are also included in this area. The bank holds an ownership 

interest of 100% and 96.09% respectively at the end of 2011.

retail market: Deposits from and loans to retail market customers, including credit cards. Loans comprise primarily home mortgages. The segment includes 

loans in Storebrand Boligkreditt AS. The bank’s 50 per cent ownership interest in Storebrand Baltic UAB in Lithuania is included 

in the segment ”Retail market”. The ownership interest is classified as an associated company from 1 January 2011.

Stockbroking, corporate business and other capital market business for customers within the bank’s retail market segment are presented under the ”Retail market” 

segment.

The bank’s entire estate agency business is being wound up, and the results are presented on the line for discontinued operations and is not included in the segment 

note.

The allocation of income and expenses that are not directly attributable has been made on the basis of assumed resource use. The elimination of double entries principally 

applies to customer businesses that relate to more than one category. The effects of financial risk management and the liquidity portfolio have not been allocated to the 

business areas and are reported under ”Treasury/other”.

Note 10 |  Net income from financial instruments 

NOK million 2011 2010

Net interest income

     Interest and other income on loans to and deposits with credit institutions 21.5 19.9

     Interest and other income on loans to and due from customers 1,394.0 1,391.5

     Interest on commercial paper, bonds and other interest-bearing securities 115.3 106.0

     Other interest income and related income 6.1 8.1

Total interest income  *) 1,536.9 1,525.4

     Interest and other expenses on debt to credit institutions -225.2 -287.8

     Interest and other expenses on deposits from and due to customers -475.4 -451.5

     Interest and other expenses on securities issued -329.0 -267.1

     Interest and expenses on subordinated loan capital -39.5 -31.8

     Other interest expenses and related expenses -24.7 -30.3

Total interest expenses **) -1,093.9 -1,068.5

Net interest income 443.0 456.9

*) Of which total interest income on financial assets that are not at fair value through the profit and loss account 1,150.7 1,380.9

**) Of which total interest expenses on financial liabilities that are not at fair value through the profit and loss 

account
-922.9 -848.2

 

interest expense and changes in value of issued funding at fvO: 2011 2010

Interest expense issued funding at FVO -171.3 -220.4

Changes in value of issued funding at FVO -7.9 -7.3

Net expense issued funding at fvO -179.2 -227.7
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Net income and gains from financial assets and liabilities at fair value: 2011 2010

Equity instruments

Dividends received from equity investments 0.1 0.3

Net gains/losses on realisation of equity investments -0.1

Net change in fair value of equity investments 0.2 0.1

Total equity instruments 0.3 0.3

Commercial papers and bonds

Realised gain/loss on commercial papers and bonds 1.6 -0.9

Unrealised gain/loss on commercial papers and bonds -1.4 -4.7

Total gain/loss on commercial papers and bonds 0.2 -5.5

financial derivatives

Realised gain/loss on financial derivatives, held for trading -57.3 -10.7

Unrealised gain/loss on financial derivatives, held for trading 58.7 4.7

Total financial derivatives 1.4 -6.0

Net income and gains from financial assets and liabilities at fair value 2.0 -11.2

Net gain/loss on financial assets at fair value through the profit and loss account:

Financial assets designated at fair value upon initial recognition 17.6 -11.7

Financial assets classified as held for trading -21.1 8.2

Changes in fair value of assets due to changes in credit risk 4.9 6.3

Net gain/loss on financial liabilities at fair value through the profit and loss account:

Financial liabilities designated at fair value upon initial recognition -7.9 -7.3

Financial liabilities classified as held for trading

Note 11 | Net commission income

NOK million 2011 2010

Fees related to banking operations 53.8 51.3

Commissions from sale of group products 1.5 0.8

Commissions from saving products 26.3 25.5

Commissions from stockbroking 4.9 5.1

Fees from loans 4.7 6.4

Other fees and commissions receivable 0.4 2.3

Total fees and commissions receivable  *) 91.5 91.5

Fees and commssisions payable relating to banking operations -13.2 -13.5

Commissions payable on saving products -4.9 -3.5

Commissions payable on stockbroking -0.4 -0.7

Other fees and commissions payable -0.1

Total fees and commissions payable  **) -18.5 -17.8

Net commission income 73.0 73.7

*)  Of which total fees and commission income on book value of financial assets and liabilities that are not at fair value through 

the profit and loss account
58.4 55.1

**) Of which total fees and commission expense on book value of financial assets and liabilities that are not at fair value through 

the profit and loss account
-13.2 -13.5

Other fee and commission income and fee and commission expense are related to charges on services bought and sold.

Note 12 | Other income

NOK million 2011 2010

Income from real estate broking corporate 16.9 13.8

Income from other capital market products 0.1 1.9

Gain on sale of real estate 3.5 3.5

Other income 8.7 5.4

Total other income 29.1 24.6

STOReBRAND BANK | 41



annual report 2011

Note 13 |  Remuneration paid to auditors 

remuneration excluding value added tax:

NOK 1000 2011 2010

Statutory audit 1,172 1,465

Other reporting duties 403 564

Taxation advice 10 29

Other non-audit services 242 159

Total 1,827 2,217

Of which remuneration to Deloitte AS (excl. VAT):

Statutory audit 1,172 1,461

Other reporting duties 403 564

Taxation advice 10 29

Other non-audit services 242 159

Total 1,827 2,213

Note 14 | Operating expenses

NOK million 2011 2010

Ordinary wages and salaries 81.2 102.8

employer's social security contributions 13.4 18.0

Other staff expenses 13.5 16.1

Pension cost (see note 15) 1)  22.0 18.1

Total staff expenses 130.1 155.0

IT costs 78.3 80.2

Printing, postage etc. 3.6 4.3

Travel, entertainment, courses, meetings 2.4 3.0

Other sales and marketing costs 1.1 1.2

Total general administration expenses 85.4 88.8

Depreciation fixed assets and intangible assets (see note 32 and 33) 26.4 31.4

Contract personnel 10.6 6.5

Operating expenses on rented premises 13.4 15.7

Inter-company charges for services 2) 71.7 43.4

Other operating expenses 30.2 38.6

Total other operating expenses 152.2 135.6

Total operating expenses 367.6 379.4

1) Pension costs include NOK 0.2 million recognized by subsidiaries that operate defined contribution pension schemes.
2) Services purchased from the group contain costs relating to bank production, IT services, joint administrative functions, financial and legal services, marketing activities, 

HR and skills development, purchasing, information services and savings advice.

Note 15 | Pensions

The employees in Storebrand in Norway have both defined contribution and defined benefit pension schemes that are established in Storebrand Livsforsikring AS, but the 

group is not a member of the contractual pension scheme (AFP). From 1 January 2011 the defined benefit scheme was closed to new members. At the same date a defined 

contribution pension scheme was established. The defined contribution based scheme applies to all new employees from 1 January 2011 and to those who chose to transfer 

from a defined benefit to a defined contribution pension arrangement. For the defined contribution based scheme, the cost is equal to the employee’s pension savings 

contribution during the period, which totals 5 per cent annually of the contribution basis between 1 and 6 G (G = the National Insurance scheme’s basic amount which was 

NOK 79,216 as of 31 December 2011), and 8 per cent of the contribution basis between 6 and 12 G. The contributions are deposited in the employees’ pension accounts 

each month. The future pension depends upon the amount of the contributions and the return on pension savings. 

The employees who are members of the defined benefit pension scheme are secured a pension of about 70 per cent of pensionable salary at the time of retirement. Full 

pension entitlement is reached after 30 years of membership in the pension scheme. The cost for the period shows the employees’ accrued future pension entitlements 
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during the financial year. From 1 July 2011 the retirement age is 67 years old. Nonetheless employees are given the right to retire at 65 years old and receive a pension from 

Storebrand until they reach 67 years old. 

The pension for employees aged between 65 and 67 years old and pensions linked to salaries over 12 G are paid out directly from the companies and apply to both mem-

bers of the defined contribution scheme and the defined benefit scheme. A guarantee has been granted for earned pensions on salaries over 12 G for employees retiring 

before the age of 65. The pension conditions are determined by the pension regulations. Storebrand is obliged to have an occupational pension scheme pursuant to the 

Act relating to mandatory occupational pensions. The company’s pension scheme satisfies the requirements of the Act.

reconciliation of pension assets and liabilites in the balance sheet:

NOK million 2011 2010

Present value of insured pension liability 147.5 142.1

Pension assets at fair value -92.4 -90.5

Net pension liability/surplus for the insured schemes 55.0 51.6

Present value of uninsured pension liability 48.7 50.4

Net pension liabilities in the balance sheet 103.7 102.0

Includes employer's NI contributions on net underfunded liabilities.

Experience adjustments applied to equity

NOK million 2011 2010

Year's change in experience adjustments included in equity after tax 2.8 -13.6

Accumulated experience adjustments included in equity 20.3 17.5

Changes in the net defined benefits pension liabilities in the period

NOK million 2011 2010

Net pension liability at 01.01. incl. provision for employer's NI contribution 192.5 161.9

Net pension cost recognised in the period incl. provision for employer's NI contribution 19.2 17.5

Interest on pension liabilities 7.5 6.9

experience adjustments -16.8 12.4

Gain/loss of curtailment -1.6

Pension paid -2.8 -4.7

Reversed employer's NI contribution -1.8 -1.6

Net pension liability at 31.12. 196.2 192.5

Change in the fair value of pension assets

NOK million 2011 2010

Pension assets at fair value at 01.01. 90.5 82.4

expected return 4.3 4.6

experience adjustments -13.0 -6.5

Gain/loss of curtailment -0.6

Premium paid 12.8 11.5

Pensions paid -1.6 -1.5

Net pension assets at 31.12. 92.4 90.5

expected premium payments (pension assets) in 2012: NOK 11.6 million.

Pension assets are based on the financial assets held by Storebrand Livsforsikring composed as of 31.12. 2011 2010

Properties and real estate 17% 16%

Bonds at amortised cost 38% 26%

Secured and other lending 2% 2%

equities and units 22% 22%

Bonds 14% 24%

Commercial papers 6% 9%

Other short-term financial assets 1% 1%

Total 100% 100%

The table shows the percentage asset allocation of pension assets at year-end managed by Storebrand Livsforsikring.

The book (realised) return on the assets was 4.5% in 2011, 4.7% in 2010 and 5.0% in 2009.
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Net pension cost booked to the profit and loss account specified as follows:

NOK million 2011 2010

Payment to defined contribution pension scheme in the period 0.6 0.2

Current service cost including employer's NI contributions 19.2 17.5

Interest on pension liabilities 7.5 6.9

expected return on pension assets -4.3 -4.6

Gain/loss of curtailment -1.0

Correction for pension cost included earlier years -1.9

Net pension cost booked to profit and loss account in the period 22.0 18.1

Net pension cost includes national insurance contributions and is included in operating expenses. See note 14.

Main assumptions used when calculating net pension liability at 31.12:

NOK million 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

Discount rate 3.1% 4.0%

expected return on pension fund assets in the period 4.6% 4.9%

expected earnings growth 3.6% 3.9%

expected annual increase in social security pensions 3.8% 3.8%

expected annual increase in pensions payment 1.5% 2.0%

Disability table KU KU

Mortality table K2005 K2005

financial assumptions: 

The financial assumptions have been determined on the basis of the regulations in IAS 19. Long term assumptions such as future inflation, real interest rates and real 

wage growth are particularly subject to a high degree of uncertainty. As Norway does not have a deep and active market for high quality corporate bonds, IAS 19 requi-

res that the interest rate on government bonds be used as the discount rate. Moreover, IAS 19 does not specify the need for a deep and active market for government 

bonds in order to use this interest rate as the discount rate. Specific company conditions including expected direct wage growth are taken into account when determi-

ning the financial assumptions. 

Actuarial assumptions: 

In Norway, standardised assumptions on rates of mortality and disability as well as other demographic factors are prepared by Finance Norway. The mortality table K2005 

is being used until new common mortality rates for the industry are adopted and can provide a basis for more accurate calculations. The average employee turnover rate 

is 2-3 per cent of the entire workforce as a whole and includes an assumption of reduced rates of turnover with increasing age. 

Net pension liability at 31.12.

NOK million 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

Discounted current value of defined benefit pension liabilities 196.2 192.5 161.9 154.2 147.6

Fair value of pension assets 92.4 90.5 82.4 74.0 78.1

Deficit (surplus) 103.7 102.0 79.5 80.1 69.5

Fact based adjustments liabilities 32.1 -6.4 -4.6 -23.7

Fact based adjustments pension assets -13.0 6.5 -3.8 -16.4

Sensitivity analysis pension calculations                        2011

Change in discount rate 1% -1%

Percentagewise change in pension:

Pension liabilities 29% -21%

The period's net pension costs 26% -19%

The pension liabilities are not sensitive to changes in the discount rate. A reduction in the discount rate seen in isolation would result in anincrease in the pension liabilities.
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Note 16 | Loan losses

NOK million 2011 2010

Change in loan loss provisions on individual loans for the period 70.3 8.4

Change in loan loss provisions on groups of loans for the period 30.7 23.3

Other corrections to loan loss provisions -2.8 -2.4

Realised losses in period on commitments specifically provided for previously

Realised losses on commitments not specifically provided for previously -95.2 -47.3

Recoveries on previously realised losses -6.7 -1.1

Loan losses for the period 17.7 4.7

Periodens nedskrivninger på utlån og garantier 13.9 -14.5

Interest recognised to the profit and loss account on loans subject to loan loss provisions 4.6 12.1

Note 17 | Tax

Tax charge for the year

NOK million 2011 2010

Tax payable for the period -10.0 -24.6

Changes in deferred tax/deferred tax asset -21.4 -66.5

Total tax cost -31.5 -91.1

reconciliation of expected and actual tax charge

NOK million 2011 2010

Ordinary pre-tax profit 190.2 134.7

expected tax on income at nominal rate -53.3 -37.7

Tax effect of:

  Realised shares/structured bonds 2.4

  Associated companies 10.0

  Permanent differences -2.1 6.6

  Reversal of recognised provision for group contribution between parent bank and it's subsidiaries -40.0

  Changes earlier years 11.4 -19.9

Tax charge -31.5 -91.1

Tax payable -10.0 -24.6

- tax effect of group contribution paid

Tax payable in the balance sheet (see note 42) -10.0 -24.6

Analysis of the tax effect of temporary differences and tax losses carried forward

NOK million 2011 2010

Tax increasing timing differences

Operating assets 37.3 35.6

Financial instruments 46.0 51.0

Other 0.2 0.1

Total tax increasing timing differences 83.5 86.7

Tax reducing timing differences

Pensions -103.7 -102.0

Provisions -3.9 -9.3

Other -8.5

Total tax reducing timing differences -116.1 -111.3

Losses/allowances carried forward -70.1 -245.4

Net base for deferred tax/tax assets -102.7 -270.0

Write-down of deferred tax asset 73.8 23.7

Net base for deferred tax and deferred tax asset -28.9 -246.2

Net deferred asset/liability in the balance sheet 8.1 68.9
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Analysis of tax payable and deferred tax applied directly to equity: 2011 2010

Pension experience adjustments -1.1 5.3

Total -1.1 5.3
  

 

Deferred tax assets principally relate to tax reducing temporary differences on fixed assets, pension liabilities and financial instruments.

The bank produces an annual profit, and is expected to continue to produce a profit in future years. 

Deferred tax assets in respect of  Storebrand Bank ASA are capitalised to the extent that it is considered likely that it will be possible to make use of the assets.

Note 18 | Classification of financial assets 

NOK million

Loans and  

receivables

fair value,  

trading

fair value,  

fvO

Liabilities at 

amortised cost Total

financial assets

Cash and deposits with central banks 508.4 508.4

Loans to and deposits with credit institutions 268.6 268.6

equity instruments 5.2 5.2

Bonds and other fixed-income securities 651.2 2,655.0 3,306.2

Derivatives 920.6 920.6

Lending to customers 32,530.2 787.7 33,317.9

Other assets 210.3 210.3

Total financial assets 2011 34,168.8 920.6 3,447.9 0.0 38,537.3

Total financial assets 2010 34,655.6 710.2 3,714.4 0.0 39,080.2

financial liabilities

Deposits from and due to credit institutions 3,496.9 2,518.9 6,015.8

Deposits from and due to customers 18,485.5 18,485.5

Commercial papers and bonds issued 10,082.8 10,082.8

Derivatives 500.2 500.2

Other liabilities 501.8 501.8

Subordinated loan capital 692.3 692.3

Total financial liabilities 2011 0.0 500.2 3,496.9 32,281.3 36,278.4

Total financial liabilities 2010 371.5 6,034.4 30,598.6 37,004.6

Note 19 | Fair value of financial assets and liabilities at amortised cost   

2011 2010

NOK million Book value fair value Book value fair value

Assets

Loans and receivables:

Bonds, amortised cost 651.2 649.8

Loans to and deposits with credit institutions, amortised cost 268.6 268.6 673.4 672.1

Lending to customers, amortised cost 32,686.8 32,471.1 33,787.0 33,567.5

Liabilities

Deposits from and due to credit institutions, amortised cost 2,518.9 2,514.0 2,196.8 2,687.2

Deposits from and due to customers, amortised cost 18,485.5 18,485.5 18,629.0 18,629.0

Commercial papers and bonds issued, amortised cost 10,082.8 9,824.3 8,725.3 8,785.6

Subordinated loan capital, amortised cost 692.3 685.4 790.1 772.4

The fair value of lending to customers subject to variable interest rates is stated as book value. However, the fair value of lending to corporate customers with margin loans 

is slightly lower than book value since some loans have lower margins than they would have had had they been taken out at year-end 2010. The shortfall is calculated 

using a discounted difference between the agreed margin and the current market price over the remaining term to maturity. Fair value is also adjusted for individual loan 

loss provisions. The fair values of lending, liabilities to financial institutions and securities issued are based on valuation techniques. The valuation techniques use interest 

rate curves and credit spreads from external providers with exception of lending which are assessed to spreads on new loans correspondingly. The calculations are made 

using the PortWin risk management system.
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Note 20 | Cash and deposits with central banks

NOK million

2011

Book value

2010

Book value

Cash  2.5 2.1

Deposits with central banks at amortised cost, loans and receivables 506.0 162.6

Total cash and deposits with central banks 508.4 164.7

Note 21 | Balances held for customers and liability to customers

NOK million

2011 

Book value

2010 

Book value

Balances held for customers 40.1 54.5

Liability to customers 37.5 54.5

Over/under cover 2.5 0.0

Balances held for customers and liability to customers arise in respect of the activitiy of Hadrian eiendom AS, which is authorised to operate as real estate brokers. Insufficient/

excess funds are included in the item ’Other current assets’. See also note 35.

Companies with balances held for customers and liabilities to customers within Ring eiendomsmegling are not included in the note as Ring eiendomsmegling are reported on 

seperate items in the accounts. See also note 49.

Note 22 | Loans to and deposits with credit institutions

NOK million

2011 

Book value

2010 

Book value

Total loans to and deposits with credit institutions without fixed maturity at amortised cost  268.6 673.4

Total loans to and deposits with credit institutions at amortised cost 268.6 673.4

 

Note 23 | Shares and other equity instruments

2011 2010

NOK million Ownership interest fair value fair value

Storebrand Institusjonelle Investor ASA 5,15% 1.1 0.9

Visa Inc.  A-shares 0.5 0.4

Skjærhallen Brygge AS 3,13% 3.4 3.4

Other 0.2 0.3

Total 5.2 5.1

Of which

Listed shares

Unlisted shares 5.2 5.1

Shares and other equity instruments are classified as financial assets at fair value through the profit and loss account.
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Note 24 |  Investments in associated companies and joint ventures

Associated companies

Main accounting figures for associated companies - figures shown are the Storebrand Bank Group share.

NOK million 2011 2010

revenue:

Seilduksgaten 25/31 AS 1.3

Storebrand Baltic UAB 12.1

Profit & Loss:

Seilduksgaten 25/31 AS -1.3

Storebrand Baltic UAB 0.9

Assets:

Seilduksgaten 25/31 AS 15.1

Storebrand Baltic UAB 3.5

Liabilities:

Seilduksgaten 25/31 AS 18.7

Storebrand Baltic UAB 0.8

Investments in associated companies are accounted for on the equity method. Seilduksgaten 25/31 AS have been sold in 2011. 

Storebrand Baltic UAB have been reclassified from a joining venture to an associated company from 1 January 2011.

Ownership interests in associated companies

NOK million

Ownership 

interest

Acquisition  

cost

Book value  

at 01.01

Additions/ 

disposals

Share in  

profit

Book value  

at 31.12

Seilduksgaten 25/31 AS 50% 27.1 24.6 -24.6 0.0

Storebrand Baltic UAB 50% 0.5 1.9 0.9 2.8

Total 27.6 24.6 -22.7 0.9 2.8

Joint ventures

Overview of companies included in the accounts – figures shown are the Storebrand Bank Group share:

NOK million 2011 2010

revenue:

Storebrand Baltic UAB 0.0 8.8

Profit & Loss:

Storebrand Baltic UAB 0.0 0.8

Assets:

Storebrand Baltic UAB 0.0 3.1

Liabilities:

Storebrand Baltic UAB 0.0 1.2

The joint venture is a business the bank group operates together with Storebrand Livsforsikring AS. Joint ventures are recognised through proportional consolidation. 

Storebrand Baltic UAB have been reclassified from a join venture to an associated company from 1 January 2011.  
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Note 25 | Bonds and other fixed-income securities at fair value through the profit and loss account

2011 2010

NOK million Acquisition cost fair value fair value

Sovereign and Government Guaranteed bonds 903.6

Credit bonds 558.6 564.1 440.0

Mortgage and asset backed bonds 2,079.4 2,090.9 1,692.7

Total bonds and other fixed-income securities at fair value through the profit and loss account 2,638.0 2,655.0 3,036.2

Modified duration 0.15 0.15

Average effective yield per 31.12. 2.94% 2.77%

The portfolio is mainly denominated in NOK, as per 31 December 2011 the bank had only one covered bond in eUR.

The effective yield for each asset is calculated using the observed market price. Calculated effective yields are weighted to give an average effective yield on the basis of 

each asset’s share of the total interest rate sensitivity.

Note 26 | Bonds at amortised cost

2011 2010

NOK million

Nominal  

value

Acquisition  

cost

Book  

value 

fair  

value

Book  

valuei

fair  

value

Sovereign and Government Guaranteed 

bonds
 525.0  525.1  528.0  526.5 

Mortgage and asset backed bonds  126.0  123.2  123.3  123.4 

Total bonds at amortised cost  651.0  648.3  651.2  649.8 0.0 0.0

Modified duration  0.16 

Average effective yield per 31.12. 3.24%

All securities are denominated in NOK.   

The effective yield for each asset is calculated using the observed market price. Calculated effective yields are weighted to give an average effective yield on the basis 

of each asset’s share of the total interest rate sensitivity. 
 

Note 27 | Transferred financial assets (swap scheme)

2011 2010

NOK million Balanseført verdi Balanseført verdi

Covered bonds:

Covered bonds in Storebrand Bank ASA  1) 6,664.6 7,224.5

Swap scheme 3,496.9 5,855.9

Transferred financial assets consist of swap agreements with the state through the Ministry of Finance concerning the posting of financial collateral (see note 45). The 

swap agreements were entered into through auctions that are administrated by Norges Bank. In the swap agreement, the state sells treasury bills to the bank through 

a timerestricted swap for covered bonds. The bank can either keep the treasury bills and receive payment from the state when the swap agreement falls due for repay-

ment, or it may sell the treasury bills in the market. When the bills become due within the term of the swap agreement, the bank must purchase new bills from the state 

at the price that is determined by the market price for treasury bills. This rollover will be ongoing throughout the entire term of the agreement. Upon expiry of the swap 

agreement, the bank is obliged to purchase the covered bonds back from the state at the same price that the state purchased them for. Storebrand Bank ASA will receive 

the interest on the transferred covered bonds. All risk concerning the covered bonds continues to lie with Storebrand Bank ASA.

 
1) The stated amount is before elimination of covered bonds issued in Storebrand Boligkreditt AS.
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Note 28 | Financial derivatives

Nominal volum

Financial derivative contracts are related to underlying amounts which are not capitalised in the balance sheet. In order to quantify a derivative position, reference is made 

to underlying amounts such as nominal principal, nominal volume, etc. Nominal volume is calculated differently for different classes of derivatives, and gives an indication 

of the size of the position and the risk the derivative creates. Gross nominal volume principally indicates the size of the exposure, whilst net nominal volume gives an indi-

cation of the risk exposure. However nominal volume is not a measure which necessarily provides a comparison of the risk represented by different types of derivatives. 

In contrast to gross nominal volume, net nominal volume also takes into account the direction of the instruments’ market risk exposure by differentiating between long 

(asset) positions and short (liability) positions.

A long position in an equity derivative produces a gain in value if the share price increases. For interest rate derivatives, a long position produces a gain if interest rates fall, 

as is the case for bonds. A long position in a currency derivative produces a gain if the currency strengthens against the NOK.

Average gross nominal volume is based on monthly calculations of gross nominal volume.

                              2011

Gross Average Net nom.                            fair value  2)

NOK million nom.value 2) nom. value 3) value 2) Asset Liability

equity derivatives 114.6

Interest rate derivatives 1) 25,707.4 26,802.2 12,381.2 913.0 489.7

Currency derivatives 4,180.1 4,786.6 -53.3 7.6 10.5

Total derivatives 29,887.5 31,703.4 12,327.9 920.6 500.2

2010

Gross Average Net,nom. fair value2)

NOK million nom.value,2) nom.,value,3) value,2) Asset Liability

equity derivatives 173.1 436.7 22.3

Interest rate derivatives  1) 27,245.1 33,328.4 9,203.3 657.7 315.2

Currency derivatives 4,423.9 4,392.9 -42.3 52.5 56.3

Total derivatives 31,842.1 38,158.0 9,183.3 710.2 371.5

1)  Interest rate swaps includes accrued interest.
2) Value at 31.12.
3) Average for the year.

Note 29 | Foreign exchange risk

financial assets and liabilities in foreign currency
Statement of financial  

position items

Currency  

forwards
            Net position

NOK million Assets Liabilities Net sale in currency in NOk

CHF 59.2 0.0 -59.5 0.0 -0.3

DKK 0.3 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.3

eUR 81.1 34.3 -53.3 -0.8 -6.5

GBP 4.7 4.6 0.0 0.0 0.1

JPY 1.0 0.0 -1.0 0.5 0.0

SeK 67.3 439.3 372.0 -0.1 0.0

USD 51.0 33.8 -9.4 1.4 7.8

Andre 0.2 0.8 0.0 -0.6

Total 2011 0.8

Total 2010 1.8

Storebrand Bank ASA hedges the net currency position on its balance sheet with forward contracts, accordingly forward sales and forward purchases are not shown 

separately in respect of assets and liabilities. 
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Note 30 | Loan portfolio and guarantees

2011 2010

NOK million Book value Book value

Lending to customers at amortised cost 32,686.8 33,787.0

Lending to customers at fair value 787.7 673.1

Total gross lending to customers 33,474.5 34,460.1

Loan loss provisions on individual loans (see note 31) -103.4 -173.6

Loan loss provisions on groups of loans (see note 31) -53.2 -83.9

Net lending to customers 33,317.9 34,202.6

See note 4 for analysis of loan portfolio and guarantees per customer group.

Note 31 | Loan loss provisions

2011 2010

NOK million Book value Book value

Loan loss provisions on individual loans 01.01 173.6 218.9

Losses realised in the period on individual loans previously written down -95.2 -47.3

Loan loss provisions on individual loans for the period 38.6 79.2

Reversals of loan loss provisions on individual loans for the period -11.4 -68.1

Other corrections to loan loss provisions *) -2.1 -9.0

Loan loss provisions on individual loans at 31.12 103.4 173.6

Loan loss provisions on groups of loans and guarantees  01.01 83.9 107.2

Grouped loan loss provisions for the period -30.7 -23.3

Loan loss provisions on groups of loans and guarantees etc. 31.12 53.2 83.9

Total loan loss provisions 156.6 257.5

*) Other corrections to loan loss provisions relates to effects of amortisation.

The bank has no provisions for guarantees as at 31.12.10 and as at 31.12.09.  

The accounting policies for recording loans have changed during the course of 2011 and the treatment of doubtful credit card debts has been moved from loan loss provisions on groups 

of loans loan to loan loss provisions on individual loans. 

Note 32 | Real estate at fair value

2011 2010

NOK million Book value Book value

Book value at 01.01. 43.3 165.2

Supply due to addition 0.0 56.3

Disposals 0.0 -164.0

Net changes in fair value -31.6 -14.1

Total 11.7 43.3

In connection with the take over of collateral associated with loss exposed commitments in the corporate market, Storebrand Bank and Storebrand Bank’s subsidiaries activa-

ted real estate under development. Storebrand Bank ASA has taken over shares in companies with loan commitments, and the companies are consolidated as subsidiaries in  

Storebrand Bank Group.
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Note 33 | Intangible assets and goodwill

NOK million Brand name iT systems Customer lists Goodwill

2011  

Book value

2010  

Book value

Acquistion cost at 01.01 30.7 153.6 1.1 19.3 204.7 188.4

Additions in the period:

   Purchased separately 44.8 44.8 16.2

Disposals in the period -0.2 -0.2 0.0

Acquisition cost at 31.12 30.7 198.2 1.1 19.3 249.3 204.6

Accumulated depreciation and write-

downs at 01.01
111.4 1.1 5.4 117.9 90.2

Depreciation in the period 17.9 17.9 17.3

Write-downs in the period 4.6 4.6 10.3

Other changes -2.2 -2.2 0.0

Accumulated depreciation and write-

downs at 31.12 0.0 133.9 1.1 3.2 138.2 117.9

Book value at 31.12 30.7 64.3 0.0 16.1 111.1 86.7

Intangible assets are depreciated on a linear basis over periods from four months to eight years. The brand name identified on the acquisition of Hadrian eiendom AS is 

not subject to depreciation.

 

Depreciation and write-downs of intangible assets are included in the line ”Other operating costs” in the profit and loss account.

During 2011 Storebrand Bank has made a write-down of intangible assets by NOK 4.6 million.

The write-down are mainly related to systems for credit risk which no longer are in use.

IT systems in this note refers to the development of systems, data warehouses, user licenses to systems, etc. All capitalised expenses in respect of systems development

relate to work carried out by external resources. The estimate of economic liftetime are reviewed annually.

Analysis of goodwill by business acquisition

NOK million

Acquisition  

cost 01.01

Accumulated 

depreciation 

01.01

Book value 

01.01

Additions /

disposals Write-downs

Book value 

31.12

Hadrian eiendom AS 16.1 0.0 16.1 16.1

Hadrian Utvikling AS 5.4 -5.4 0.0 0.0

Group correction related to Ring eiendomsmegling AS -2.2 0.0 -2.2 2.2 0.0

Total 19.3 -5.4 13.9 0.0 0.0 16.1

In accordance with IFRS goodwill is tested at least annually or if there is reason to believe that the carrying value is impaired. When Ring eiendomsmegling AS was acqui-

red in spring 2008 the purchase price was allocated across the net identifiable assets in accordance with IFRS 3 and is linked to key employees' expertise and customer 

relations. As a consequence of the decision to discontinue and sell all the companies in Ring eiendomsmegling Group, and dismiss the estate agents, there is no longer 

any goodwill in Ring eiendomsmegling AS. The remaining goodwill relating to these acquisitions has therefore been written down as of 31 December 2011 and the carry-

ing value of goodwill will be reduced to zero for Ring eiendomsmegling in the Group financial statements of Storebrand Bank. The value of goodwill written off was NOK 

35.9 million in 2011 and NOK 11 million in the fourth quarter of 2011.

In calculating the value in use of Hadrian eiendom AS, a cash flow based assessment of value has been made using the expected profit before taxes. The calculation 

is based on Board-authorised budgets and forecasts for the next three years. A stable growth rate of 2.5% has been assumed in determining the terminal value, cor-

responding to the rate of inflation. The value in use is calculated by applying the required rate of return after tax of 12.4%. The required rate of return is determined by 

establishing the risk-free rate of return and adding a premium to reflect the risk in the business. Thecalculations show that the goodwill relating to Hadrian eiendom AS 

has not been impaired.
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Note 34 |  Fixed assets 

NOK million

fixtures and 

fittings iT real estate *)
Total book 

value 2011

Total book  

value 2010

Book value at 01.01 10.3 2.2 3.1 15.6 15.9

Additions 0.5 0.0 0.0 0.5 4.3

Disposals -1.2 0.0 0.0 -1.2 -0.7

Depreciation -1.7 -1.6 -0.4 -3.7 -3.7

Book value at  31.12 7.9 0.6 2.7 11.2 15.9

Opening acquisition cost 13.1 6.8 5.7 25.7 22.8

Closing acquisition cost 11.8 6.8 5.7 24.3 26.1

Opening accumulated depreciation and write-downs 0.8 4.6 2.6 8.0 -6.8

Closing accumulated depreciation and write-downs 1.6 6.2 3.0 10.9 -10.2

for each class of fixed assets:

Method for measuring cost price Acquisition cost Acquisition cost Acquisition cost

Depreciation method linear linear linear

Depreciation period and economic life 3 - 10 years 4 - 6 years 15 years

1) Holiday cabins valued using the cost method.

Depreciation of  fixed assets is included in the line ”Other operating costs” in the profit and loss account.

There are no restrictions on rights to fixed assets. No fixed assets have been pledged as collateral for liabilities.

Note 35 | Operational leasing

Minimum future payments on operational leases for fixed assets are as follows:

NOK million

Minimum lease  

less than 1 year

Minimum lease  

between 1 - 5 years

Minimum lease  

more than 5 years

Minimum lease payments less than 1 year 0.9

Minimum lease payments between 1 - 5 years 0.9 3.1

Minimum lease payments nore than 5 years 7.9 31.4 22.3

Total 9.6 34.5 22.3

Of which future lease income

Amount through the profit and loss account

NOK million 2011 2010

Lease payments through the profit and loss account 9.4 16.8

Future lease income through the profit and loss account 3.0

Operational leases are primarily lease for Storebrand’s head office in Lysaker, and the rental of coffee machines and photocopiers.

Costs are included in the item ”General adminstration expenses” and  the item ”Other operating costs”.

Companies in the group also have lease contracts related to postage machines, printers, computers and projectors, but are not included in this note as the amounts are 

considered to have no material effect in the accounts.

Specification of substantial lease agreements   

NOK million

yearly lease  

(cost)

Of which future  

lease income

Duration of  

the agreement

Option for renewal? 

(yes/No)

Rent agreement Lysaker Park 7.9 2019 YeS

Other rent agreements 0.7 2017 YeS

Lease agreement photocopiers 0.9 2013 NO

Total 9.5 0.0
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Note 36 | Other current assets

2011 2010

NOK million Book value Book value

Interest accrued 99.7 120.0

Other accrued income 8.9 19.5

Due from customers 10.8 1.5

Due from stockbrokers 22.8 16.0

Due from customers stockbrokerage 65.5 74.6

Balances held for customers and liability to customers, real estate broking (note 21) 2.5

Other assets 0.2 22.8

Total other current assets 210.3 254.3

Note 37 | Deposits from customers

2011 2010

NOK million Book value Book value

Deposits from customers without agreed maturity 17,366.7 17,598.7

Term loans and deposits from customers with agreed maturity 1,118.8 1,208.9

Total deposits from customers 18,485.5 18,807.6

Deposits with agreed maturity relate to deposits for a contractually agreed period. 

Deposits without agreed maturity relates to deposits with no fixed period where the customer has unrestricted access to the deposit.

Deposits from customers per sector and industry classification and geographical distribution:

2011 2010

NOK million Book value Book value

Sector and industry classification

Development of building projects 184.6 203.4

Sale and operation of real estate 2,582.8 2,409.2

Service providers 2,828.3 3,018.3

Wage-earners 10,729.3 10,885.9

Other 2,160.5 2,290.8

Total 18,485.5 18,807.6

Geographic distribution

eastern Norway 14,838.3 14,444.6

Western Norway 1,960.5 2,333.5

Southern Norway 234.5 231.4

Mid-Norway 447.4 516.7

Northern Norway 584.6 809.0

Rest of world 420.2 472.3

Total 18,485.5 18,807.6
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Note 38 | Hedge accounting

Storebrand uses fair value hedging for interest risk, when the hedging items are financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

Derivatives are recognised at fair value through the profit or loss (FVO). Changes in the value of the hedged item that relate to the hedged risk are applied to the book value on 

the item and are recognised in the profit and loss account.

Hedging effectiveness is monitored at the individual item level. each portfolio comprises swaps and hedged items with maturity within the same half year period.  Hedging effec-

tiveness when the hedge is created measures the relationship between changes in the hedged value of the interest rate hedging instrument and the item hedged in the event of 

a 2-percentage point interest rate shock.

Subsequently, hedging effectiveness is measured on the basis of the simple Dollar Offset method for both prospective and retrospective calculations. Hedging is expected to be 

highly efficient in the period.

2011 2010

Contract/                      fair value  1) Contract/                      fair value  1)

NOK million nominal value Assets Liabilities nominal value Assets Liabilities

Interest rate swaps 4,297.0 383.9 0.0 4,297.0 300.5 0.0

Total interest rate derivatives 4,297.0 383.9 0.0 4,297.0 300.5 0.0

Total derivatives 4,297.0 383.9 0.0 4,297.0 300.5 0.0

Contract/                      fair value  1) Contract/                      fair value  1)

nominal value Assets Liabilities nominal value Assets Liabilities

Total underlying items 4,294.0 0.0 4,706.9 4,294.0 0.0 4,522.0

Hedging effectiveness - prospective 101% 100%

Hedging effectiveness - retrospective 99% 96%

Gain/loss on fair value hedging:  2)

2011 2010

NOK million Gain / loss Gain / loss

On hedging instruments 86.8 -22.2

On items hedged -89.0 15.0

1) Book value at 31.12.

2) Amounts included in the line ”Net interest income”.

Note 39 |  Bonds and commercial papers issued

2011 2010

NOK million Book value Book value

Commercial papers 501.4 400.9

Bond loans 9,581.4 8,324.4

Total bonds and commercial papers issued 10,082.8 8,725.3

See also note 5 for analysis of bonds and commercial papers issued.
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Note 40 | Subordinated loan capital

2011 2010

NOK million Book value Book value

Dated subordinated loan capital 401.5 501.3

Other subordinated loan capital 9.3 9.3

Tier 1 hybrid capital 281.5 279.4

Total subordinated loan capital 692.3 790.1

See also note 5 for analysis of subordinated loan capital and Tier 1 hybrid capital.

NOK million 2011 2010

Subordinated loan capital included in capital adequacy calculation 692.3 790.1

interest expense

Interest expense booked in respect of subordinated loan capital 33.6 31.8

All subordinated loans are denominated in NOK.

Note 41 | Provisions

Provisions for restructuring

NOK million 2011 2010

Provisions 1 January 3.7 7.0

Provisions during the period 0.8

Provisions used during the period -2.9 -4.0

Total provisions 31 December 0.8 3.7

Classified as:

Provision for accrued expenses and liabilities 0.8 3.7

Provisions were made for restructuring in Storebrand Bank ASA carried out in 2008 and 2009.  expected settlement time for the provision is in the period 2012-2013.

Note 42 | Other liabilities

2011 2010

NOK million Book value Book value

Money transfers 43.2 2.8

Accrued interest expenses financial debt 14.3 16.5

Accrued expenses and prepaid income 31.1 53.0

Due to brokers related to settlement of financial instruments 296.1

Accounts payable 4.8 8.0

Payable to stockbrokers 42.1 34.3

Payable to customers stockbrokerage 45.0 54.7

Tax payable   (see note 17) 10.0 24.6

Other debt 315.1 26.7

Total other liabilities 801.8 220.7
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Note 43 | Minority interests

NOK million 2011 2010

Minority interests at 01.01. 3.3 3.4

Share of profits due to minority interests 0.1

Dividend to minority interests -0.4 -0.2

Sale of minority interests -4.0

Re-allocation of minority interest related to winding up of subsidiary 1.2 0.0

Minority interests at 31.12. 0.1 3.3

Relates to minority interests within Ring eiendomsmegling group, and in Hadrian Utvikling AS, where Storebrand Bank ASA held 96.09% at 31 December 2011.

Note 44 | Off balance sheet liabilities and contingent liabilities

NOK million 2011 2010

Guarantees 293.6 301.6

Undrawn credit limits 3,706.9 4,049.8

Lending commitments 1,408.5 816.6

Total contingent liabilities 5,409.0 5,168.0

Guarantees are mainly payment guarantees and contract guarantees. See also note 4.

Undrawn credit limits relate to  the unused portion of credit limits approved on overdraft accounts and credit cards, as well as the unused portion of lending limits on 

flexible mortgages.

 

In 2009 an action was brought against Storebrand Bank by two customers seeking damages for economic loss in connection with investments in one of Storebrand 

Bank's stock index bonds. The bank won in both the district court and the court of appeal, and the case has been appealed by the plaintiff to the Supreme Court, due to 

it dealing with a matter of principal interest. The Supreme court heard the case in January 2012 but has not rendered a decision at the time the financial statements were 

being prepared. The bank believes it to be highly probable that the claim for compensation will be denied and has therefore not made any provisions in the financial 

statements.

Note 45 | Collateral

Collateral pledged and received

The subsidiary Hadrian eiendom AS has an agreement concerning the pledging of security for customers via the Norwegian Association of Real estate Agents and TrygVesta 

amounting to NOK 30 million with the limit of NOK 10 millionper sale per claimant. Otherwise, the banking group has not received any collateral except securities pledged 

as collateral for F-loans in Norges Bank and securities pledged as collateral in connection with the scheme for swapping covered bondsfor government papers (see table 

below). 

This note does not cover collateral on lending to customers.

Collateral and security pledged

NOK million 2011 2010

Booked value of bonds pledged as collateral for the bank's lending from Norges Bank 2,159.4 2,926.3

Booked value of bonds pledged as collateral for swap scheme 3,496.9 5,855.9

Booked value of securities pledged as collateral in other financial institutions 286.5

Total 5,942.8 8,782.2

Securities pledged as collateral are linked to lending access in Norges Bank for which, pursuant to regulations, the loansmust be fully guaranteed with collateral in inter-

est-bearing securities and/or the bank's deposits in Norges bank. Storebrand Bank ASAhas a F-loan for NOK 1.4 billion in Norges Bank as per 31.12.2011.

In connection with the package of measures by the authorities concerning the banks, Storebrand Bank ASA has entered into an agreement involving the following 

amounts to conditions and terms for a swap scheme of covered bonds for treasury bills:

 

NOK million Amount issued Maturity interest rate 

496.5 06.05.2009 19.03.2014 NIBOR minus 20BP

493.8 04.06.2009 19.03.2014 NIBOR minus 20BP

493.5 17.06.2009 20.03.2013 NIBOR minus 20BP

491.5 09.09.2009 18.12.2013 NIBOR pluss 24BP

1 487.9 21.10.2009 18.09.2013 NIBOR pluss 70BP
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Note 46 | Capital Adequacy

Capital adequacy calculations are subject to special consolidation rules in accordance with the Regulation on consolidated application of the capital adequacy rules etc. 

(the “Consolidation Regulation”). The Storebrand Bank group is defined pursuant to Section 5 of the Consolidation Regulation as a financial group comprising solely or 

mainly undertakings other than insurance companies. The valuation rules used in the company’s accounts form the basis for consolidation. Consolidation is, in the main, 

carried out in accordance with the same principles as used in the accounts, with all internal transactions eliminated, including shares, loans and deposits as well as other 

receivables and liabilities. Companies in which the group has a minority interest are included on a proportional basis applying the percentage interest held by the group at 

31 December 2011. Primary capital  includes profit for the year.

Net primary capital

NOK million 2011 2010

Share capital 960.6 960.6

Other equity 1,344.2 1,300.0

Total equity 2,304.8 2,260.6

Deductions:

  Goodwill -16.1 -45.9

  Intangible assets -95.0 -73.9

  Deferred tax asset -22.6 -84.2

  Provision for group contribution -50.0 -50.0

Addition:

  Tier 1 hybrid capital 279.0 279.4

Core capital 2,400.1 2,286.0

Supplementary capital 409.2 509.2

Deductions

Net primary capital 2,809.3 2,795.2

Minimum capital requirement 

NOK million 2011 2010

Credit risk 1,597.8 1,627.7

   Of which:

       Local and Regional authorities 2.5

       Publicly owned companies 8.0

       Institutions 19.8 28.6

       Corporates 664.3 618.2

       Loans secured on real estate 800.6 817.8

       Retail market 44.2 54.0

       Loans past-due 21.1 58.0

       Covered bonds 17.7 13.5

       Other 19.6 37.6

Total minimum requirement for credit risk 1,597.8 1,627.7

Settlement risk 0.5

Total minimum requirement for market risk 0.0 0.5

Operational risk  91.1 97.1

Deductions

  Loan loss provisions on groups of loans -4.3 -6.7

Minimum requirement for capital base 1,684.7 1,718.6

Capital adequacy

2011 2010

Capital ratio 13.3% 13.0%

Core capital ratio 11.4% 10.6%

The company uses the standard method for credit risk and market risk, and the basic method for operational risk. 

The minimum requirement for the capital ratio is 8 per cent.
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Note 47 | Changes in the group’s composition  

The company Tekågel Invest 450 AS was acquired in January 2011. The company later changed its name to Filipstad Invest AS. 

Storerand Bank ASA’s ownership interest of 50% in Storebrand Baltic UAB has been reclassified from 1 January 2011 from being a joint venture to an associated company, 

and the bank’s share of the company’s profit has been consolidated into ”Net revenues and gains from associated companies”. Storebrand Bank ASA’s ownership interest 

of 50% in Seilduksgaten 25/31 AS was sold in the first quarter of 2011. The gain from the sale is included in the item ”Other revenues” in the income statement.

Two new equity issues totalling NOK 14 million were made in Ring eiendomsmegling AS in 2011. Storebrand Bank ASA has acquired the remaining shares in Hadrian eiendom 

AS and owns 100% of the shares at the end of 2011. A new equity issue of NOK 0.5 million was made in Bjørndalen Panorama AS in 2011.

Storebrand Bank ASA has decided to withdraw from estate agency and the decision has been made to discontinue the ownership of Ring eiendomsmegling AS and its 

subsidiaries. The parent bank’s shareholding in Ring eiendomsmegling AS has been written down by NOK 140.4 million during 2011.Also refer to note 49 Businesses sold 

and discontinued operations 

Note 48 | Close associates  

Transactions with group companies

2011 2010

NOK million Other group companies  1) Other group companies  1)

Interest income

Interest expense 0.2 0.2

Services sold 3.4 4.7

Services purchased 82.6 66.7

Due from 0.2 1.3

Liabilities to 65.4 62.1

Transactions with group companies are based on the principle of transactions at arm’s length. 

1) Other group companies are companies in other sub-groups within the Storebrand group..

Transactions with other related parties

Storebrand Bank ASA defines Storebrand Optimér ASA as a related party as the company’s objective is to offer alternative savings products to the bank’s customers. Sto-

rebrand Optimér ASA has no employees and the company has entered into an agreement with Storeband Bank ASA to carry out the day-to-day operation of the company. 

The bank also acts as a Manager for issues of shares carried out by Storebrand Optimér ASA. The bank has booked NOK 5.7 million as revenue in the accounts for 2011 and 

the bank has a receivable due from the company of NOK 1.6 million as of 31.12.11. The fees paid to the bank are based on the  arm’s length principle.

 

Storebrand Bank ASA also defines Storebrand Infrastruktur ASA as a related party since the general manager of Storebrand Infrastruktur ASA is an employee of Storebrand 

Bank ASA and the company’s objective is to offer alternative savings products to the bank’s customers. Storebrand Infrastruktur ASA has no employees and the company 

has entered into an agreement with Storeband Bank ASA to carry out the day-to-day operation of the company. The bank also acts as a Manager for issues of shares car-

ried out by Storebrand Infrastruktur ASA. The bank has booked NOK 0.6 million as revenue in the accounts for 2011 and the bank has a receivable due from the company of 

NOK 0.2 million as of 31.12.11. The fees paid to the bank are based on the arm’s length principle.

Loans to employees:

NOK million 2011 2010

Loans to employees of Storebradn Bank ASA 48.0 82.6

Loans to employees of Storebrand group including Storebrand Bank ASA 1,887.8 1,592.7

Loans to employees are granted in part on the normal terms and conditions for loans to employees, i.e. loan to and individual of up to NOK 3.5 million at an interest rate 

equal to the norm interest rate (for tax purposes) defined by the Norwegian Ministry of Finance. Loans in excess of NOK 3.5 million are granted on normal commercial 

terms and conditions. The bank has not provided guarantees or security for borrowing by employees.

Number of employees:

2011 2010

Number of employees at 31 December  1) 175 274

Number of employees expressed as full-time equivalent positions  1) 172 270

1) Includes employees and person-years in Storebrand Bank ASA, Ring eiendomsmegling AS, Hadrian eiendom AS and Hadrian Utvikling AS.

Storebrand Baltic UAB has been reclassifised to associated companies with effect from 1 January 2011 and number of employees in

Storebrand Baltic UAB are not included in total number of employees for 2011.
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Note 49 |  Sold operations or dicontinued operations

Due to the decision to sell/discontinue operations, the accounts have been presented in accordance with IFRS 5 and the net income for Ring eiendomsmegling AS has been 

presented as a separate line item in the financial statements for Storebrand Bank Group. Similarly, assets and liabilities have been presented separately on the balance sheet. 

Effect of ring Eiendomsmegling AS in Storebrand Bank Group:

Profit and loss items

NOK million 2011 2010

Net interest income -0.1 0.0

Other income 76.0 88.7

Staff expenses -55.8 -49.7

General administration expenses -11.4 -14.3

Other operating costs -77.5 -30.1

Total operating costs -144.7 -94.1

Profit before tax -68.9 -5.4

Tax 9.0 -0.1

Profit for the year -59.8 -5.4

Balance sheet items

NOK million 2011 2010

Loans to and deposits with credit institutions 16.6 25.9

Other current assets 1.9 7.7

Tangible assets 2.5 2.8

Intangible assets and goodwill 33.0

Deferred tas assets 14.5 15.3

Total assets 35.4 84.7

Liabilities to credit institutions

Other liabilities 30.0 36.7

Total liabilities 30.0 36.7

Ring eiendomsmegling AS has excess funds on balances held for customers of NOK 12.8 million as at 31.12.2011. Balances held for customers are included in the item ”loan 

to and deposits with credit institutions” in this overview.

Cash flow analysis

NOK million 2011 2010

Receipts of operating income from franchises and other 76.0 76.7

Payments of operating costs -143.7 -88.3

Payments - taxes -0.5

Net receipts/payments on other operating activities 41.7 -2.6

Net cash flow from operating activities -26.0 -14.7

Net payments on purchase/sale of fixed assets etc. 5.2 -1.0

Net cash flow from investment activities 5.2 -1.0

Receipts - new share capital and share premium capital 14.0 40.0

Payments of debt -2.1 -25.5

Net receipt - minority interests -0.4 0.2

Net cash flow from financing activites 11.5 14.7

Net cash flow in the period -9.3 -1.0

Net cash flow in the period -9.3 -1.0

Cash and bank deposits at the start of the period 25.9 26.9

Cash and bank deposits at the end of the period 16.6 25.9
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NOK million Note 2011 2010

Interest income 1,329.6 1,249.0

Interest expense -959.6 -946.2

Net interest income 10 370.0 302.8

Fee and commission income from banking services 105.3 104.5

Fee and commission expense for banking  services -18.5 -17.8

Net fee and commission income 11 86.9 86.7

Net income and gains from associated companies 23 0.9 -1.3

Net gains on financial instruments at fair value 10 -11.6 -18.8

Other income 12 -71.4 78.8

Total other operating income -82.1 58.8

Staff expenses 14, 15 -120.8 -141.4

General administration expenses 14 -84.6 -86.7

Other operating costs 13, 14, 32, 33 -140.7 -104.9

Total operating costs -346.1 -332.9

Operating profit before loan losses 28.7 115.4

Loan losses for the period 16 2.5 -35.3

Profit before tax 31.2 80.0

Tax 17 -71.1 -45.7

Profit for the year -39.9 34.3

Transfers and allocations:

Transferred to/from other equity -89.9 -84.1

Provision for group contribution 50.0 118.4

Total transfers and allocations -39.9 34.3

Statement of comprehensive income

NOK million Note 2011 2010

Pension experience adjustments 15 2.8 -13.6

Profit for the period -39.9 34.3

Total comprehensive income for the period -37.2 20.7

Profit and loss account Storebrand Bank ASA
1 January - 31 December
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Statement of financial position - balance sheet
Storebrand Bank ASA 
31 December

Assets 

NOK million Note 2011 2010

Cash and deposits with central banks 4, 18, 20 508.4 164.7

Loans to and deposits with credit institutions 4, 18, 19, 21 4,404.4 3,842.0

Financial assets designated at fair value through the profit and loss account:

  equity instruments 8, 18, 22 1.8 1.6

  Bonds and other fixed-income securities 4, 8, 18, 25, 27 9,319.6 10,260.6

  Derivatives 4, 8, 18, 27, 37 606.1 470.0

Bonds at amortised cost 26 651.2

Other current assets 18, 35 1,263.4 1,922.9

Gross lending 4, 18, 19, 30 16,963.8 18,482.3

Loan loss provisions 31 -169.1 -269.6

Net lending to customers 4, 18, 30 16,794.7 18,212.6

Investments in associated companies 23 1.4 25.1

Tangible assets 33 10.7 15.5

Intangible assets 32 64.3 42.2

Deferred tax assets 17 21.5 83.6

Total assets 33,647.4 35,040.9

Liabilities and equity

NOK million Note 2011 2010

Liabilities to credit institutions 5, 8, 18, 19 6,318.0 8,320.2

Deposits from and due to customers 5, 18, 19, 36 18,492.4 18,817.5

Other financial liabilities:

 Derivatives 4, 8, 18, 28 500.2 371.5

 Commercial papers and bonds issued 5, 18, 19, 37, 38 4,448.9 4,022.8

 Other liabilities 5, 18, 41 888.7 323.6

Provision for accrued expenses and liabilities 40 0.8 3.7

Pension liabilities 15 103.7 102.0

Subordinated loan capital 5, 18, 19, 39 692.3 790.1

Total liabilities 31,445.0 32,751.4

Share capital 960.6 960.6

Other paid-in share capital 156.0 156.0

Retained earnings 518.7 518.7

Minority interests 567.2 654.3

Total equity 2,202.4 2,289.6

Total liabilities and equity 33,647.4 35,040.9

 

 

Lysaker, 13 February 2012

The Board of Directors of Storebrand Bank ASA

Translation - not to be signed

Idar Kreutzer

Chairman

Stein Wessel-Aas

Deputy Chairman

Kristine Schei 

Board Member

Geir Holmgren   

Board Member

Maria Borch 

Helsengreen

Board Member

Anne-Kristine 

Baltzersen

Board Member

Heidi Storruste

Board Member

Truls Nergaard

CeO
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Changes in equity Storebrand Bank ASA

Paid-in equity Other equity

NOK million Share capital

Share premium

reserve

Other  

paid-in 

equity

Total

paid-in 

equity

revenue and

costs applied 

to equity

Other  

equity

Total other 

equity

Total  

equity

equity at 31.12.2009 960.6 156.0 518.7 1,635.3 29.2 645.3 674.6 2,309.8

Profit for the period 34.3 34.3 34.3

Pension experience adjustments -13.6 -13.6 -13.6

Total other comprehensive income 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 -13.6 0.0 -13.6 -13.6

Total comprehensive income for 

the period
0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 -13.6 34.3 20.7 20.7

Equity transactions with owners:

Receipts of group contribution -50.0 -50.0 -50.0

Group contribution paid 55.1 55.1 55.1

Other changes -46.0 -46.0 -46.0

Equity at 31.12.2010 960.6 156.0 518.7 1,635.3 15.6 638.7 654.3 2,289.6

Profit for the period -39.9 -39.9 -39.9

Pension experience adjustments 2.8 2.8 2.8

Total other comprehensive income 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.8 0.0 2.8 2.8

Total comprehensive income for 

the period
0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.8 -39.9 -37.2 -37.2

Equity transactions with owners:

Provision for group contribution -50.0 -50.0 -50.0

Equity at 31.12.2011 960.6 156.0 518.7 1,635.3 18.3 548.8 567.1 2,202.4

The entire share capital of NOK 960.6 million made up of 64,037,183 shares (of nominal value NOK 15) is owned by Storebrand ASA.

The equity changes with the result for the individual period, equity transactions with the owners and items that are entered directly on the balance sheet.  Share capi-

tal, the share premium fund and other equity is evaluated and managed together. The share premium fund may be used to cover a loss, and other equity may be used in 

accordance with the provisions of the Public Limited Liabilities Company Act. 

Storebrand Bank actively manages the level of equity in the company and the group. The capital level is tailored to the economic risk and capital requirements in which the 

composition of its business areas and their growth will be an important driver.The goal of the capital management is to ensure an effective capital structure and secure an 

appropriate balance between internal goals in relation to regulatory and the rating companies’ requirements. If there is a need for new capital, this must be issued by the 

holding company Storebrand ASA.

Storebrand Bank is a company subject to statutory requirements regarding primary capital under the capital adequacy regulations. Primary capital encompasses both 

equity and subordinated loan capital. For Storebrand Bank, these legal requirements are most important in its capital management.

The company view it as necessary to have a core capital ratio of at least 9 per cent at all times, regardless of macro economic environment. In good economic conditionas, 

the core capital ratio should be substantially higher and Storebrand Bank therefore targes at core capital ratio of at least 11 per cent from 2013. In general, the equity of 

the companycan be managed without material restrictions if the capital requirements are met and the respective legal entities have adequate solidity. 

For further information on the group’s fulfilment of the capital requirements, see note 44. 
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NOK million Note 2011 2010

Cash flow from operations

Receipts of interest, commissions and fees from customers 1,073.8 988.0

Payments of interest, commissions and fees to customers -498.2 -474.0

Net disbursement/payments on customer loans 1,514.0 2,799.4

Net receipts/payments of deposits from banking customers -300.4 453.9

Net receipts/payments - securities at fair value 946.6 1,557.8

Payments - taxes 5.6

Payments of operating costs -324.1 -324.9

Net receipts/payments on other operating activities -56.8 -91.3

Net cash flow from operating activities 2,355.0 4,914.5

Cash flow from investment activities

Net receipts on sale of subsidiaries and assoiated companies 32.5

Net payments on purchase/capitalisation of subsidiaries 730.7 -52.2

Net payments on purchase/sale of fixed assets etc. -43.4 -19.7

Net cash flow from investment activities 719.8 -71.9

Cash flow from financing activities

Payments - repayments of loans and issuing of bond debt -901.2 -1,527.8

Receipts - new loans and issuing of bond debt 1,299.8 699.8

Payments - interest on loans -440.5 -435.6

Payments - repayments of subordinated loan capital -100.0 -175.0

Payments - interest on subordinated loan capital -43.4 -34.6

Net receipts/payments of liabilities to credit institutions -2,010.2 -2,039.3

Receipts - group contribution 142.2 200.1

Payments - group contribution / dividends -115.5 -211.9

Net cash flow from financing activities -2,168.7 -3,524.3

Net cash flow in the period 906.1 1,318.2

Net cash flow in the period 906.1 1,318.2

Cash and bank deposits at the start of the period for new companies 4,006.7 2,688.4

Cash and bank deposits at the end of the period 4,912.8 4,006.7

Cash and deposits with central banks 20 508.4 164.7

Loans to and deposits with credit institutions 21 4,404.4 3,842.0

Total cash and bank deposits in the balance sheet 4,912.8 4,006.7

The cash flow analysis shows the company’s cash flows for operational, investment and financial activities pursuant to the direct method.  The cash flows show the overall 

change in means of payment over the year. 

Operational activities

A substantial part of the activities in a financial company will be classified as operational. 

investment activities

Includes cash flows for holdings in group companies and tangible fixed assets.

financing activities

Financing activities include cash flows for equity, subordinated loans and other borrowing that helps fund the company’s activities. Payments of interest on borrowing and 

payments of group contribution are financial activities.

Cash/cash equivalents

Cash/cash equivalents are defined as claims on central banks and lending to and claims on financial institutions. 

Cash flow statement Storebrand Bank ASA
1 January - 31 December
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Note 1 | Company information and accounting policies 

1. COMPANy iNfOrMATiON

Storebrand Bank ASA is a Norwegian public limited company with bonds listed on Oslo Børs. The company’s 2011 financial statements were approved by the Board of Direc-

tors on 13 February 2012. 

Storebrand Bank provides traditional banking services such as accounts and loans in the retail market and project financing to selected corporate customers.

Storebrand Bank ASA comprises the business areas of corporate market, retail market and treasury. Storebrand Bank ASA is headquartered at Professor Kohts vei 9, 

Lysaker. 

 

2. ThE BASiS Of PrEPArATiON Of ThE fiNANCiAL STATEMENTS

The accounting policies applied in the company accounts are described below.  The policies are applied consistently to similar transactions and to other events involving 

similar circumstances.

The financial statements for Storebrand Bank ASA are prepared in accordance with the Accounting Act and section 1-5 of the regulations relating to annual accounts of 

banks and finance companies etc, which deal with the simplified application of eU-approved International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and related interpretations, 

as well as the other Norwegian disclosure obligations pursuant to laws and regulations. 

Use of estimates in preparing the annual financial statements.

The preparation of the annual financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires the management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect assets, 

liabilities, revenue, expenses, the notes to the financial statements and information on potential liabilities. Actual amounts may differ from these estimates. See note 2 for 

further information about this. 

3. ChANGES iN ACCOuNTiNG POLiCiES

During the course of 2011 changes were made in certain IFRS standards. However, none of these changes have affected the presentation, recognition and measurement of 

items in the financial statements of Storebrand Bank ASA. 

4. SuMMAry Of SiGNifiCANT ACCOuNTiNG POLiCiES fOr MATEriAL iTEMS ON ThE STATEMENT Of fiNANCiAL POSiTiON 

The assets side of the company’s statement of financial position primarily consists of financial instruments. The majority of the financial instruments fall under the category 

Loans and receivables and are stated at amortised cost. The statement of financial position also includes capitalised intangible assets.

The liabilities side of the company’s statement of financial position primarily consists of financial instruments (liabilities). With the exception of derivatives that are stated 

at fair value, the majority of the financial liabilities are stated at amortised cost. 

The accounting policies are described in more detail below. 

5. iNCOME rECOGNiTiON

NET iNTErEST iNCOME – BANkiNG

Interest income is recognised in the income statement using the effective interest method. 

iNCOME frOM fiNANCiAL ASSETS

Income from financial assets is described in Section 8.

OThEr iNCOME

Fees are recognised when the income is reliable and earned, fixed fees are recognised as income in line with the delivery of the service, and performance fees are recogni-

sed as income once the success criteria have been met. 

      

6. GOODWiLL

Goodwill arising from the acquisition of interests in associated companies is included in investments in associated companies, and tested for impairment as part of the 

value of the write-down recognised in the investment.     

  

Goodwill is not amortised, instead it is tested for impairment. Goodwill is reviewed for impairment if there are indications that its value has become impaired. The review is 

conducted at least annually and determines the recoverable amount of goodwill. 

 

If the discounted present value of the pertinent future cash flows is less than the carrying value, goodwill will be written down to its fair value. Reversal of an impairment 

loss for goodwill is prohibited even if information later comes to light showing that there is no longer a need for the write-down or the impairment loss has been reduced. 

Goodwill is allocated to the relevant cash flow generating units that are expected to benefit from the acquisition so that it can subsequently be tested for impairment. 

Cash flow generating units are identified according to operational segments.

7. iNTANGiBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets with limited useful economic lives are valued at acquisition cost less accumulated amortisation and any write downs. The useful life and amortisation 

method are reassessed each year. With initial recognition of intangible assets in the statement of financial position, it must be demonstrated that probable future econo-

mic benefits attributable to the asset will flow to the Group. The cost of the asset must also be measured reliably. The value of an intangible asset is tested for impairment 

when there are indications that its value has been impaired. In other respects intangible assets are subject to write-downs and reversals of write-downs in the same man-

ner as described for tangible fixed assets. 

Intangible assets with unlimited useful economic lives are not amortised, but are tested for impairment annually or whenever there are indications that the value has been 

impaired.
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8. fiNANCiAL iNSTruMENTS

8-1. GENErAL POLiCiES AND DEfiNiTiONS

recognition and derecognition

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised in the statement of financial position when Storebrand Bank becomes party to the instrument’s contractual terms and con-

ditions. Ordinary purchases and sales of financial instruments are booked on the transaction date. When a financial asset or a financial liability is initially recognised in the 

financial statements, it is valued at fair value. Initial recognition includes transaction costs directly related to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or the financial 

liability, if it is not a financial asset or a financial liability at fair value in the profit and loss account.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual right to the cash flow from the financial asset expires, or when the company transfers the financial asset to 

another party in a transaction by which all, or virtually all, the risk and reward associated with ownership of the asset is transferred.

Financial liabilities are derecognised in the statement of financial position when they cease to exist, i.e. once the contractual liability has been fulfilled, cancelled or has 

expired.

Definition of amortised cost

Subsequent to initial recognition, hold-to-maturity investments, loans and receivables as well as financial liabilities not at fair value in the profit and loss account, are mea-

sured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The calculation of the effective interest rate involves estimating all cash flows and all contractual terms of the 

financial instruments (for example early repayment, call options and equivalent options). The calculation includes all fees and margins paid or received between the parties 

to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts.

Definition of fair value

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. . The fair value of financial assets 

listed on a stock exchange or on another regulated market place in which regular trading takes place is determined as the bid price on the last trading day up to and inclu-

ding the reporting date.

If a market for a financial instrument is not active, fair value is determined by using valuation techniques. Such valuation techniques make use of recent arm’s length mar-

ket transactions between knowledgeable and independent parties where available, reference to the current fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same, 

discounted cash flow analysis, and options pricing models. If a valuation technique is in common use by participants in the market and this method has proved to provide 

reliable estimates of prices actually achieved in market transactions, this method is used.

In calculating the fair value of loans the current market rate on similar loans is used. Changes in credit risk are taken into account.

impairment of financial assets

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an assessment is made at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or group of 

financial assets is impaired. 

If there is objective evidence that impairment has occurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present 

value of the estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not occurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. the 

effective interest rate calculated at initial recognition). The amount of the loss is recognised in the profit and loss account.

Losses expected as a result of future events, no matter how likely, are not recognised. 

8-2. CLASSifiCATiON AND MEASurEMENT Of fiNANCiAL ASSETS AND LiABiLiTiES

financial assets are classified into one of the following categories:

•	 Financial assets held for trading 

•	 Financial assets at fair value through the profit and loss account in accordance with the fair value option (FVO) 

•	 Financial assets loans and receivables 

held for trading

A financial asset is held for trading if:

•	 it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near term, or on initial recognition is part of a portfolio of identified financial instru-

ments that are managed together and has evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking, or

•	 it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

With the exception of derivatives, only a limited proportion of Storebrand Bank’s financial instruments fall into this category.

Financial assets held for trading are measured at fair value at the reporting date, with all changes in their fair value recognised in the profit and loss account.

At fair value through the profit and loss account in accordance with the fair value option (fvO)

Storebrand Bank’s liquidity portfolio is classified at fair value through the income statement because:

•	 such classification reduces the mismatch in the measurement or recognition that would otherwise arise as a result of the different rules for measuring assets and liabi-

lities, or that

•	 the financial assets form part of a portfolio that is managed and reported on a fair value basis

The accounting treatment is equivalent to that for held for trading assets.

Loans and receivables

A significant proportion of Storebrand Bank’s financial instruments are classified in the category Loans and receivables. Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial 

assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market, with the exception of such assets that the company intends to sell immediately or in 

the near term that are classified as held for trading and those that the company upon initial recognition designates as at fair value through the profit and loss account, 

Loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Loans and receivables that are designated as hedged items are subject to measurement under the hedge accounting requirements.
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8-3. DErivATivES

Definition of a derivative

A derivative is a financial instrument or other contract within the scope of IAS 39, with all three of the following characteristics:

•	 its value changes in response to the change in a specified interest rate, financial instrument price, commodity price, foreign exchange rate, index of prices or rates, 

credit rating or credit index, or other variable (sometimes called the ‘underlying’) 

•	 it requires no initial net investment or an initial net investment that is smaller than would be required for other types of contracts that would be expected to have a 

similar response to changes in market factors

•	 it is settled at a future date.

Accounting treatment of derivatives that are not hedging

Derivatives that do not meet the criteria for hedge accounting are treated as financial instruments held for trading. The fair value of such derivatives is classified as either 

an asset or a liability with changes in fair value through the profit and loss account.

The majority of the derivatives used routinely for balance sheet management fall into this category.

8-4. hEDGE ACCOuNTiNG

fair value hedging

Storebrand Bank uses fair value hedging, where the items hedged are financial assets and liabilities measured at amortised cost. Derivatives are recognised at fair value in 

the profit and loss account. The gain or loss on the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk adjusts the carrying amount of the hedged item and is recognised in the 

profit and loss account. 

              

8-5. fiNANCiAL LiABiLiTiES

Subsequent to initial recognition, all financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using an effective interest method, or at fair value. 

9. PENSiON OBLiGATiONS 

From 1 January 2011 Storebrand Bank has been offering a defined contribution scheme to employees. Until 31 December 2010 Storebrand Bank had a defined benefit 

scheme for its members of staff.  The defined benefit scheme was closed to new members on 1 January 2011, and members at the time could voluntarily elect to transfer to 

a defined contribution pension plan.

9-1. BENEfiT SChEME

Pension costs and pension obligations for defined benefit pension schemes are determined using a linear accrual formula and expected final salary as the basis for the 

entitlements, based on assumptions about the discount rate, future salary increases, pensions and National Insurance benefits, future returns on pension plan assets as 

well as actuarial estimates of mortality, disability and voluntary early leavers. As Norway does not have an active market for high quality corporate bonds, the discount rate 

is determined to be the risk free interest rate (treasury bill) taking into account the average remaining maturity. The net pension cost for the period comprises the total of 

the accrued future pension entitlements during the period, the interest cost on the calculated pension liability and the expected return on pension plan assets.

Actuarial gains/losses and the effects of changes in assumptions are included in the total comprehensive income in the income statement for the period in which they 

occur. The effects of changes in the pension scheme are recognised on an ongoing basis, unless the changes are conditional upon accrued future pension entitlements. In 

which case the benefit is apportioned on a straight line basis until the entitlement has been fully earned. The employer’s national insurance contributions are included as 

part of the pension liability and are included in the actuarial gains/losses shown in the total comprehensive income.

Storebrand Bank has both an insured and an uninsured pension scheme. The insured scheme is managed by Storebrand Livsforsikring AS. 

9-2. DEfiNED CONTriBuTiON SChEME

For the defined contribution pension scheme, involves the Group pays an annual contribution to the employees’ collective pension savings.The future pension will depend 

upon the size of the contribution and the annual return on the pension savings. The company does not have any further work-related obligations after the annual contri-

bution has been paid. No provisions are made for ongoing pension liabilities for these types of schemes. Defined contribution pension schemes are recognised directly in 

the financial statements.

10. TANGiBLE fixED ASSETS

The company’s tangible fixed assets comprise equipment, fixtures and fittings, vehicles and IT systems.

equipment, fixtures and fittings and vehicles are valued at acquisition cost less accumulated depreciation and any write-downs. 

The depreciation period and method are reviewed annually to ensure that the method and period being used both correspond to the useful economic life of the asset. The 

disposal value is similarly reviewed. 

 

The value of a tangible fixed asset is tested when there are indications that its value has been impaired. Any impairment losses are charged to the income statement as 

the difference between the carrying value and the recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the greater of the fair value less related costs of sale and the value in 

use.  On each reporting date a determination is made as to whether to reverse previous impairment losses on non-financial assets. 

11. TAx 

The tax expense in the income statement comprises current tax and change in deferred tax and is based on the accounting standard IAS 12 Income Taxes. Tax is recognised 

in the income statement, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity. Deferred tax and deferred tax assets are calculated on the differences 

between accounting and tax values of assets and liabilities. 

Deferred tax is calculated on the basis of the company’s tax loss carry forwards, deductible temporary differences and taxable temporary differences. 

12. PrOviSiON fOr GrOuP CONTriBuTiON

Simplified IFRS permits the company to recognise provisions for group contributions as income, and the Board of Directors’ proposal concerning the group contribution to 

be recognised as a liability on the reporting date.
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13. LEASiNG 

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially the risk and rewards incident to ownership. Other leases are classified as operating leases. Storebrand 

Bank has no finance leases.

14. STATEMENT Of CASh fLOWS 

The statement of cash flows is prepared using the direct method and shows cash flows grouped by sources and use. Cash is defined as cash, receivables from central 

banks and receivables from credit institutions with no agreed period of notice.

The statement of cash flows is classified according to operating, investing and financing activities.   

15. ShArE-BASED rEMuNErATiON 

Storebrand Bank has share-based remuneration agreements with key personnel. The fair value of the share options is determined on the date of the allocation. Valuation 

is made on the basis of recognised valuation models adjusted to the characteristics of the actual options. The value determined on the date of the allocation is amortised 

in the income statement over the option’s vesting period with a corresponding increase in equity. The amount is recognised as an expense and is adjusted to reflect the 

actual number of share options earned. The vesting period is the period of time from when the scheme is established until the options are fully vested.

Note 2 | Critical accounting estimates and judgements

In preparing the company’s financial statements the management are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions of uncertain amounts. The estimates and 

underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis and are based on historical experience and expectations of future events and represent the management’s best 

judgement at the time the financial statements were prepared. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

The company’s critical estimates and judgements that could result in material adjustment of recognised amounts are discussed below.

         

fiNANCiAL iNSTruMENTS AT fAir vALuE

There will be some uncertainty associated with the pricing of financial instruments not priced in an active market. This is particularly true for the types of securities priced 

on the basis of non-observable assumptions, and for these investments various valuation techniques are used to determine fair value. Any changes to the assumptions 

could affect recognised amounts. 

Please also refer to note 8 in which the valuation of financial instruments at fair value is described in more detail. 

fiNANCiAL iNSTruMENTS AT AMOrTiSED COST

Financial instruments valued at amortised cost are assessed on the reporting date to see whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial 

assets is impaired.

A certain degree of judgement must be used in assessing whether impairment has occurred and the amount of the impairment loss. Uncertainty grows when there is tur-

moil in financial markets. The assessments include credit, market and liquidity risk. Changes in assumptions for these factors will affect an assessment of whether impair-

ment is indicated. There will thus be uncertainty concerning the recognised amounts of individual and group write-downs. This will apply to provisions for loan losses in the 

retail and corporate markets and bonds carried at amortised cost. 

iNTANGiBLE ASSETS 

Goodwill and intangible assets with undefined useful economic lives are tested annually for impairment. Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash generating units. The 

test’s valuation method involves estimating cash flows arising in the relevant cash flow generating unit, as well as applying the relevant discount rate. Tangible fixed assets 

and other intangible assets are assessed annually to ensure that the method and time period used correspond with economic realities. 

An intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of an internal project), should be recognised if all of the following points are documented:

a. the technical prerequisites for completing the intangible asset intended to be available for use or sale

b. the company intends to complete the intangible asset and either use it or sell it

c. the company’s ability to either use or sell the intangible asset

d. how the intangible asset will probably generate future economic benefits As examples, the company can demonstrate that a market exists for the products of the 

intangible asset or for the intangible asset itself, or if it will be applied internally, the benefits from the intangible asset.

e. the availability of sufficient technical, financial and other resources to complete its development, and to use or sell the intangible asset

f. the company’s ability to reliably measure the expenses attributable to the intangible asset while it is being developed

PENSiONS 

The present value of pension obligations depends upon the financial and demographic assumptions used in the calculation. The assumptions must be realistic, mutually 

consistent and up to date as they should be based on a cohesive set of estimates about future financial performance. The pension liability calculations are undertaken by 

actuaries. Any changes to these estimates including forecast salary growth and the discount rate can have a substantial effect on the recognised pension liabilities relating 

to own employees. estimates of future real interest rates, real salary growth, future adjustments to the national insurance base amount and future inflation, are subject to 

significant uncertainty.

CONTiNGENT LiABiLiTiES 

Storebrand Bank can be a party in legal disputes. Contingent liabilities are assessed in each case and will be based on legal considerations. 

Note 3 | Risk management

The Board of Storebrand Bank ASA has adopted guidelines for risk management and internal control which ensure that the bank has

established effective and robust functions for risk management, internal control, compliance and internal audit. 

The guidelines make sure that the bank’s strategies are implemented correctly and that the risk-taking limits are complied with.

Storebrand Bank ASA has identified the following areas of risk: credit risk, liquidity risk, market risk, operational risk,

business risk and compliance risk. The company’s risk strategy forms the foundation for managing the risk areas through policies to achieve the bank’s 
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target risk profile. The risk strategy is determined by the Board and is updated at least annually. 

The Risk Management unit prepares monthly risk reports in which the areas of risk are monitored in relation to their respective policies. 

The risk reports are considered by the balance sheet management committee and the Board of the bank.

Note 4 | Credit risk 

The risk of loss arising from the client lacking the capacity or intent to fulfil its obligations. This includes the risk that the security is les effective than expected (residual 

risk) and concentration risk. Credit risk encompasses counterparty risk. 

riSk MANAGEMENT

The risk strategy establishes overall limits for how much credit risk Storebrand Bank ASA is willing to accept. The willingness to accept risk is adjusted to the bank’s risk 

appetite and target risk profile, solvency, profitability, liquidity and growth, as well as the bank’s strategy in other respects, including the equity requirement for credit 

activities. At a more detailed level the bank’s risk strategy provides limits for the key elements of the credit policies for the corporate and retail market business areas.

 

Credit policies establish general principles for granting credit. For the corporate market, the policy also relates to special areas such as development projects within com-

mercial properties and concentration risk. 

 

Storebrand Bank ASA’s routines for credit management are set out in credit manuals for the corporate and retail markets. The credit manuals are primarily designed for 

account managers and others who are involved in credit processes. The credit manuals contain common guidelines for the company’s credit activities, and shall safeguard 

uniform and consistent credit management practices. The credit manuals and adopted routines provide specific criteria for monitoring non-performance, loan covenants, 

loss assessments and the annual loan review. Furthermore, the models ensure uniform portfolio risk assessment classifications and reporting on risk development. Specia-

lised functions have been established for deposits, loan establishment and administration of the customer portfolio. 

 

Treasury has credit risk for its counterparties in the investment portfolio. Permitted counterparties and the composition of the portfolio are set out in the investment 

policy and counterparty risk policy of Storebrand Bank ASA. 

Counterparty risk in connection with the trading of financial derivatives with customers as the counterparty, is included in credit risk. The customer derivatives trades are 

hedged using derivatives. These transactions involve counterparty risk. The derivatives policy specifies which financial derivatives the bank is permitted to trade. 

 

riSk MANAGEMENT

As part of the bank’s risk reporting procedures, ongoing reports are submitted to the bank’s executive management about developments in the bank’s credit risk in rela-

tion to the target risk.

 

The most important credit risk management is implemented and administered by the credit units in the retail and corporate markets which:

•	 Have ongoing responsibility for making sure that established routines in the credit areas are in accordance with the adopted risk profile and that they are adhered to on 

a day-to-day basis. 

•	 Participate in the credit meetings in the corporate market and carry out a formal check on all credit cases. This work includes credit authorisation, analyses, correct 

routine use, complying with the strategy and the balance between risk and potential earnings. 

•	 ensure adequate risk classification systems in the credit areas and that they are being applied consistently.

•	 From an independent standpoint, identify, monitor, check and report on credit risk.- Check that loss assessments and loss reporting in the bank are in accordance with 

routines and ensure that non-performing loans are reported correctly and monitored.

•	 Attend to the control and approval of monthly allocation protocols in the corporate market and prepare the reports for the Board.  

•	 evaluate whether there is a need for updating the corporate market and retail market credit manuals and the corporate market routine manual, and if so, provide sug-

gestions and recommend amendments to the finane director. ensure that the updates are in keeping with the bank’s risk profile, risk strategy and the business strategy 

for the two credit areas.

•	 Provide suggestions for the annual internal audit plan for the two credit areas.

•	 Support the internal auditor’s review of the credit processes in the two business areas as necessary.

 

Customer exposure resulting from trading financial derivatives with customers is continually reported from the Capital Market Products Department to the corporate market 

and the price development is monitored in respect of the customer’s situation, cleared lines and breach  of clauses Middle Office implements its own spot checks of this 

reporting process. Middle Office also checks whether credit customers engaging in share trading are within the applicable limits. Back Office in the Capital Market Products 

Department maintains ongoing control over these customers. Trades with counterparties made by Treasury are controlled by Middle Office in accordance with separate 

routines and work descriptions. 

ANALySiS Of CrEDiT riSk By TyPE Of fiNANCiAL iNSTruMENT

The maximum credit exposure is the sum of gross loans, guarantees, amounts drawn from credit lines and undrawn amounts of credit lines. The reduction in the maximum 

credit exposure from the end of 2010 is mainly related to lower loan amounts.

Maximum credit exposure

NOK million 2011 2010

Liquidity portfolio 9,969.4 10,260.6

Total commitments customers *) 19,169.4 20,629.2

Interest rate swaps 598.5 417.5

Forward foreign exchange contracts 7.6 52.5

Total 29,745.0 31,359.8

*) Of which net loans to and amounts due from customers measured at fair value: 787.7 673.1

STOReBRAND BANK | 71



annual report 2011

The amounts stated for the various financial instruments constitute the value recognised in the balance shett, with the exception of net lending to and receivables from 

customers, which also includes unused drawing facility and guarantees. (See ”Credit exposure for lending activities” below).
 

CrEDiT riSk LiquiDiTy POrTfOLiO

interest-bearing securities at fair value

Credit risk per counterparty

Short-term holdings of interest-bearing securities

issuer category AAA AA A BBB NiG Total 2011 Total 2010

NOK million fair value fair value fair value fair value fair value fair value fair value

Sovereign and Government Guaranteed 

bonds
0.0 903.6

Credit bonds 65.5 307.8 190.8 564.1 440.0

Mortgage and asset backed bonds 8,263.9 491.6 8,755.5 8,917.1

Total 8,329.4 491.6 307.8 190.8 0.0 9,319.6 10,260.6

Rating classes are based on Standard & Poors.

Change in value:

Total change in value on the balance sheet -9.4 0.3 0.6 0.2 -8.4 6.3

Change in vaule recognised in the profit 

and loss during period
-10.7 -2.9 -1.3 0.2 -14.7 -21.8

interest-bearing securities at amortised cost

Credit risk per counterparty

Short-term holdings of interest-bearing securities

issuer category AAA AA A BBB NiG Total,2011 Total,2010

NOK million fair value fair value fair value fair value fair value fair value fair value

Sovereign and Government Guaranteed 

bonds
526.5 526.5

Credit bonds 97.5 25.9 123.4

Total 624.0 25.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 649.8 0.0

Rating classes are based on Standard & Poors.

Credit risk on loans to and deposits with credit institutions and central bank

AAA AA A BBB NiG Total 2011 Total 2010

NOK million fair value fair value fair value fair value fair value fair value fair value

Norway 508.4 508.4 164.7

Total deposits with central bank 508.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 508.4 164.7

Norway 4,267.2 137.2 4,404.4 3,842.0

Total loans to and deposits with credit 

institutions 4,267.2 137.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 4,404.4 3,842.0

Total loans to and deposits with credit 

institutions and central bank 4,775.6 137.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 4,912.8 4,006.7

CrEDiT ExPOSurE fOr LENDiNG ACTiviTiES

COrPOrATE MArkET

Gross lending in the corporate market represents about NOK 11.2 billion. There is also approximately NOK 600 million in undrawn credit lines and almost NOK 350 million in 

guarantees. In addition, loans of nearly NOK 3.1 billion are managed and syndicated to Storebrand Livsforsikring AS.

About 80% of the loans have been made on income generating property. Just short of 20% relate to property development projects. Under 5% of the corporate market 

portfolio is secured by pledged assets other than property. The security for the portfolio is principally commercial properties. 

Construction loans of just over NOK 900 millions and commercial real estate mortgages  loan for almost NOK 400 millions have been granted at the end of 2011, but the 

funds have not been disbursed and the offer has not yet been accepted by the customers.  

About 29% of the portfolio is to groups of connected debtors  with total loans of over NOK 200 million. The definition of a group of connected debtors is given in the 

regulations relating to large loans. 22% of the portfolio relate to groups of connected debtors with total loans under NOK 50 million. 49% of the loans have been made to 

groups of connected debtors with consolidated exposure of between NOK 50 million and NOK 200 million. The bank has 13 groups of connected debtors which have total 

loans exceeding NOK 200 million, and 58 groups of connected debtors with total borrowings of between NOK 50 million and NOK 200 million. Large loans have increased 

during 2011. The bank’s exposure is secured by pledged assets in Oslo, close to 55%. A further 28% of the bank’s exposure is secured by assets pledged in the area sur-

rounding Oslo and the rest of eastern Norway. The remaining loans are secured primarily in and around Bergen and Stavanger. 

Assets pledged are valued at their sellable values in addition to separate assessments based on yield considerations. 

A classification model for firms in the commercial real estate industry is used when determining debtors’ capacity to service debt. The model is composed of a qualitative 

and a quantitative part. The qualitative part evaluates a range of factors including the management, structure, board, history, market, political risk and tenants. 

The quantitative factors are evaluated differently for construction loans and commercial real estate mortgages. Construction loans are assessed based on reserves availa-

ble for unforeseen costs, the sales buffer, advance sales and project management. 
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Commercial real estate mortgages are assessed quantitatively through analysis of cash flows and evaluating certain key figures. The cash flow is calculated for the duration 

of the project. For corporate market loans, risk is classified on a scale from 1 to 5, where 1 is best. The first indicates the debtor’s debt servicing capacity (ability to make 

repayments), the second indicates the quality of the security (degree of security/loan to value ratio). The classification methodology for corporate market customers and 

certain retail market customers (including private investors etc.) is used as a basis to identify risk in the bank’s loans to and receivables from customers. The loans are to 

be classified both on establishment, and when there are changes in the loans. In addition, corporate market customers are to be reclassified annually or as necessary. The 

classifications thereby provide an overview of the risk exposure in the portfolio at all times. 

The largest risk for commercial real estate mortgages is tenant risk. For construction loans the two largest risks are construction costs and advance sales. This is closely 

monitored by the bank. Of loans that are not non-performing or in arrears, about 80% of the loans have a loan to value ratio of under 80%. Approximately 95% of the 

loans have a loan to value ratio within 90%. The remaining performing loans have a loan to value ratio of under 100% for the most part. 

For corporate market loans in arrears, the loan to value ratio is under 80% for 98% of the volume of the loans. There is a low volume of non-performing loans that are not 

impaired. These loans are well secured, and the loan to value ratio is under 10% for the loans with the highest loan to value ratio. 

The security for non-performing loans with evidene of  impairment is not considered to be good enough. The loan loss provisions that have been made, have taken into 

account that the pledged assets do not cover the value of the loans and other costs related to the non-performance. The losses that have been recorded are considered to 

be sufficient. The bank does not believe that new losses will be forthcoming from these customers at this time.

In the event of non-performance the bank will sell the securities or take over the assets if that is most appropriate. This is most relevant to development projects. In the 

current portfolio in the parent bank there are two properties that have been taken over. These loans totalled NOK 25 million and are classified as non-performing loans 

with evidence of impaiment by the parent bank. The provisions that have been made are considered to be sufficient.

rETAiL MArkET

Individuals are evaluated according to their capacity and intent to repay the loan. In addition to their capacity to service debt, the customers are checked regarding policy 

regulations and the customers are scored using a scoring model. For other retail market customers the overall loan to value ratio and debt servicing capability (as deter-

mined by the bank’s credit policy for the segment) that apply to the portfolio is used as a basis. The securities for the portfolio are principally in properties for the retail 

market portfolio.   

In the retail market, most of the loans are secured by way of home mortgages. Approximately NOK 5.4 billion has been lent in mortgages, with additionally almost NOK 489 

million in undrawn flexible mortgages. Total loans and credit facilities in housing are therefore about NOK 5.9 billion. 

The average weighted loan to value ratio in the parent bank is approximately 63% for mortgages, and about 83% of the loans are within a loan to value ratio of 80% and 

almost 91% are within a 90% loan to value ratio. Approximately 41% of mortgages have a loan to value ratio of less than 60% in the parent bank. The portfolio is conside-

red to have a low credit risk.  

There is largely good security on non-performing loans without evidence of impanirment for retail market customers. The average loan to value ratio for these loans is 63%. 

Housing loans that are part of the volume of non-performing loans total NOK 116.5 million. About NOK 90.7 million in loans are within a loan to value ratio of 80% , and 

about NOK 101 million are within a loan to value ratio of 90%. The security is also good on home mortgages which are between 1 and 90 days past due. Assets pledged as 

collateral are sold in the retail market. They are not taken over by the bank.

In the credit card portfolio about NOK 151 million has been drawn, and approximately NOK 622 million is available as unused credit facilities. For credit accounts about NOK 

116 million has been drawn, and approximately NOK 330 million is available as unused credit facilities.  

Commitments per customer group

2011

NOK million

Loans to and due  

from customers Guarantees  1) undrawn credit limits

Total  

commitments

Development of building projects 1,236.3 40.3 18.1 1,294.7

Sale and operation of real estate 7,967.0 299.5 504.8 8,771.3

Service providers 1,381.4 5.3 2.0 1,388.7

Wage-earners 6,184.7 0.1 1,484.6 7,669.4

Other 194.4 2.4 17.5 214.4

Total 16,963.8 347.7 2,027.1 19,338.5

Loan loss provisions on individual loans -117.2 -117.2

Loan loss provisions on groups of loans -51.9 -51.9

Total loans to and due from customers 16,794.7 347.7 2,027.1 19,169.4

1) Guarantees include NOK 55 million in undrawn credit limits.
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2010

NOK million

Loans to and due  

from customers Guarantees  1) undrawn credit limits

Total  

commitments

Development of building projects 994.8 59.2 4.3 1,058.3

Sale and operation of real estate 7,099.3 258.5 584.0 7,941.8

Service providers 759.5 7.1 11.1 777.6

Wage-earners 9,380.1 1.2 1,469.1 10,850.4

Other 248.5 3.9 18.3 270.7

Total 18,482.3 329.8 2,086.7 20,898.8

Loan loss provisions on individual loans -187.6 -187.6

Loan loss provisions on groups of loans -82.0 -82.0

Total loans to and due from customers 18,212.6 329.8 2,086.7 20,629.2

1) Guarantees include NOK 82.7 million in undrawn credit limits.

The classification into customer groups is based on Statistics Norway’s standard for sector and business classification. The individual customer’s classification is determi-

ned by the customer’s primary activity.

Average volume of total commitments per customer group

2011

NOK million

Average volume  

loans to and due from 

customers

Average volume 

guarantees

Average  volume  

undrawn credit limits

Average volume total 

commitments

Development of building projects 1,115.5 49.8 11.2 1,176.5

Sale and operation of real estate 7,533.2 279.0 544.4 8,356.6

Service providers 1,070.4 6.2 6.6 1,083.2

Wage-earners 7,782.4 0.7 1,476.8 9,259.9

Other 221.5 3.1 17.9 242.5

Total 17,723.0 338.7 2,056.9 20,118.7

2010

NOK million

Average volume  

loans to and due from 

customers

Average volume 

guarantees

Average  volume  

undrawn credit limits

Average volume total 

commitments

Development of building projects 994.8 59.2 4.3 1,058.3

Sale and operation of real estate 7,099.3 258.5 584.0 7,941.8

Service providers 759.5 7.1 11.1 777.6

Wage-earners 9,380.1 1.2 1,469.1 10,850.4

Other 248.5 3.9 18.3 270.7

Total 18,482.3 329.8 2,086.7 20,898.8

Given the relatively stable development of the balance sheet, the average of 31 December 2011 and 31 December 2010 is a best estimate for the average of the portfolio.
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Commitments per geographical area

                                                                                                2011

NOK million

Loans to and 

due from 

customersr Guarantees 1)

 

 

undrawn 

credit limitsr

 

 

Total 

commitments

 

Non-perfor-

ming loans 

without 

evidence of 

impairment

Non-per-

forming and 

loss-exposed 

loans with 

evidence of 

impairment

 

 

 

Gross defaul-

ted and loss-

exposed loans

 

 

 

Provisions 

for individual 

loan losses

 

 

 

Net defaul-

ted and loss 

exposed loans

eastern 

Norway
15,048.2 332.2 1,646.0 17,026.3 93.6 173.3 266.8 96.7 170.1

Western 

Norway
1,048.7 15.2 257.7 1,321.6 16.5 1.0 17.5 1.1 16.4

Southern 

Norway
90.4 26.3 116.8 6.2 6.2 6.2

Mid-Norway 451.5 44.8 496.3 0.6 0.3 0.9 0.3 0.6

Northern 

Norway
170.1 0.3 38.6 208.9 1.6 1.6 1.6

Rest of 

world 154.9 13.7 168.6 0.1 19.6 19.7 19.1 0.6

Total 16,963.8 347.7 2,027.1 19,338.5 118.6 194.2 312.7 117.2 195.5

                                                                                                2010

NOK million

Loans to and 

due from 

customersr Guarantees 1)

 

 

undrawn 

credit limitsr

 

 

Total 

commitments

 

Non-perfor-

ming loans 

without 

evidence of 

impairment

Non-per-

forming and 

loss-exposed 

loans with 

evidence of 

impairment

 

 

 

Gross defaul-

ted and loss-

exposed loans

 

 

 

Provisions 

for individual 

loan losses

 

 

 

Net defaul-

ted and loss 

exposed loans

eastern 

Norway
16,005.7 329.4 1,734.2 18,069.3 172.5 372.1 544.6 155.3 389.3

Western 

Norway
1,315.4 0.2 220.0 1,535.5 42.7 10.4 53.0 5.9 47.2

Southern 

Norway
140.6 35.3 175.9 0.6 0.6 0.6

Mid-Norway 615.3 40.3 655.6 5.1 0.3 5.3 0.3 5.1

Northern 

Norway
209.2 0.3 40.7 250.1 5.3 5.3 5.3

Rest of 

world
196.2 16.3 212.5 0.4 25.6 26.0 26.1 -0.2

Total 18,482.3 329.8 2,086.7 20,898.8 226.6 408.3 635.0 187.6 447.4

Total engagement amount by remaining term to maturity

2011

NOK million

Loans to and due from 

customersr Guarantees 1) undrawn credit limitsr Total commitments

Up to 1 month 36.6 0.1 4.5 41.3

1 - 3 months 370.4 0.5 26.0 396.9

3 months - 1 year 1,628.8 3.1 183.9 1,815.8

1 - 5 years 3,577.6 337.8 567.8 4,483.1

More than 5 years 11,350.4 6.1 1,244.9 12,601.4

Total 16,963.8 347.7 2,027.1 19,338.5

2010

NOK million

Loans to and due  

from customersr Guarantees 1) undrawn credit limitsr Total commitments

Up to 1 month 35.1 47.7 7.2 90.0

1 - 3 months 237.8 0.2 15.4 253.5

3 months - 1 year 1,435.6 35.9 312.5 1,784.0

1 - 5 years 4,990.5 246.1 1,306.6 6,543.2

More than 5 years 11,783.2 0.0 445.1 12,228.2

Total 18,482.3 329.8 2,086.7 20,898.8
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Age distribution of overdue engagements without impairments

2011

NOK million

Loans to and due  

from customers Guarantees 1) undrawn credit limits Total commitments

Overdue 1 - 30 days 1,260.6 10.0 0.7 1,271.3

Overdue 31 - 60 days 83.8 0.1 3.9 87.7

Ovedue 61- 90 days 9.4 0.2 0.2 9.8

Overdue more than 90 days 117.8 0.8 118.6

Total 1,471.6 10.3 5.5 1,487.3

Engagements overdue more than 90 days by geographical area:

eastern Norway 93.1 0.5 93.6

Western Norway 16.3 0.2 16.5

Southern Norway 6.2 6.2

Mid-Norway 0.6 0.6

Northern Norway 1.6 1.6

Foreign 0.1 0.1

Total 117.8 0.0 0.8 118.6

2010

NOK million

Loans to and due  

from customersr Guarantees 1) undrawn credit limits Total commitments

Overdue 1 - 30 days 487.1 0.0 3.9 491.1

Overdue 31 - 60 days 106.4 1.3 0.5 108.2

Ovedue 61- 90 days 19.5 0.0 0.1 19.6

Overdue more than 90 days 223.1 0.0 3.5 226.6

Total 836.2 1.3 8.1 845.6

Engagements overdue more than 90 days by geographical area:

eastern Norway 169.7 2.8 172.5

Western Norway 42.1 0.5 42.7

Southern Norway 0.6 0.6

Mid-Norway 5.0 5.1

Northern Norway 5.3 5.3

Foreign 0.4 0.4

Total 223.1 0.0 3.5 226.6
    

Commitments are regarded as non-performing and loss-exposed: 

•	 when a credit facility has been overdrawn for more than 90 days

•	 when an ordinary mortgage has arrears older than 90 days

•	 when a credit card has arrears older than 90 days and the credit limit has been overdrawn. If a repayment plan has been agreed with the customer and is being adhe-

red to, the overdraft is not regarded as a non-performing loan.

When one of the three situations described above occurs, the commitment and the rest of the customer's commitments are regarded as non-performing. The number of 

days is counted from when the arrears exceed NOK 2,000.  

The account is given a clean bill of health when there are no longer any arrears. The amount in arrears at the time of reporting can be less than NOK 2,000.
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Credit risk per customer group

2011

NOK million

 Non-perfor-

ming and loss-

exposed loans 

with evidence 

of impairment 

 Non-perfor-

ming loans wit-

hout evidence 

of impairment 

 Gross defaul-

ted and loss-

exposed loans 

 Total provisions 

for individual 

loan losses 

 Net defaulted 

and loss-expo-

sed loans 

 Total value 

changes 

 Total value 

change recog-

nised in profit 

and loss during 

period 

Development of building projects 13.6 13.6 16.8 -3.1 -7.0

Sale and operation of real estate 81.7 0.4 82.0 44.3 37.7 -4.2

Service providers 0.0 0.0 -4.4

Wage-earners 79.3 118.1 197.3 36.6 160.7 -47.9

Other 19.6 0.1 19.8 19.5 0.3 -6.9

Total 194.2 118.6 312.7 117.2 195.5 0.0 -70.4

2010

NOK million

 Non-perfor-

ming and loss-

exposed loans 

with evidence 

of impairment 

 Non-perfor-

ming loans wit-

hout evidence 

of impairment 

 Gross defaul-

ted and loss-

exposed loans 

 Total provisions 

for individual 

loan losses 

 Net defaulted 

and loss-expo-

sed loans 

 Total value 

changes 

 Total value 

change recog-

nised in profit 

and loss during 

period 

Development of building projects 18.3 18.3 23.8 -5.4 4.2

Sale and operation of real estate 225.6 225.6 48.5 177.0 -39.5

Service providers 4.1 6.5 10.6 4.4 6.2 -4.2

Wage-earners 134.5 219.7 354.2 84.6 269.7 -5.4

Other 25.8 0.4 26.2 26.4 -0.2 2.7

Total 408.3 226.6 635.0 187.6 447.4 0.0 -42.3

repossessed assets    

In the event of non-performing loans Storebrand Bank ASA will sell the collateral or repossessed assets if this is most appropriate. The bank has two repossessed assets 

at the end of 2011. The commitments applies to development of building projects and amount to NOK 25 million. The commitments are classified as  non-performing loans 

with evidence of impairment. The individual loan loss provisions which have been made, are considered as sufficient.

fiancial assets at fair value through the profit and loss (fvO)

Lending to customers Liquidity portfolio

NOK million 2011 2010 2011 2010

Book value 787.7 673.1 9 319.6 10 260.6

Maximum exposure to credit risk 787.7 673.1 9 319.6 10 260.6

Book value of related credit derivatives that reduce credit risk

This year's change in fair value of financial assets due to change in credi risk -14.7 -21.8

Accumulated change in fair value of financial assets due to change in credit risk -8.4 6.3

This year's change in value of related credit derivatives

Accumulated change in value of related credit derivatives

Lending to customers is measured at fair value based on valuation techniques. The valuation techniques use interest rate curves from Reuters and credit spreads for equivalent 

new loans as per the end of December. 

Financial assets are designated at fair value through the profit and loss account (FVO) the first time they are recognised where another measurement would result in an inconsis-

tency in the profit and loss account.

financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss (fvO)

NOK million 2011 2010

Book value 3,496.9 5,855.9

Maximum exposure to credit risk

Book value of related credit derivatives that reduce credit risk

The year's change in fair value of liabilities due to changes in credit risk -1.6 7.3

Difference between book value of liabilities and contractual amount due at maturity 3.8 4.1

Accumulated change in fair value of liabilities due to changes in credit risk -1.6 7.3

Difference between book value of liabilities and contractual amount due at maturity 3.8 4.1
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CrEDiT riSk DErivATivES
The purpose of the use of financial derivatives is to identify and reduce currency and interest rate risk. Counterparty risk in connection with the trading of financial deriva-

tives is included in credit risk.  The bank’s risk strategies and policies establish limits for how much credit risk the bank group is willing to accept. Storebrand Bank hedges 

all customer derivative trades by opposite derivatives to minimise foreign exchange and interest rate exposure. 

kredittrisiko fordelt på motpart

AAA AA A BBB NiC Total 2011 Total 2010

NOK million fair value fair value fair value fair value fair value fair value fair value

Norway 36.3 83.9 468.8 589.0 372.1

Sweden 14.7 14.7 95.0

Denmark 2.4 2.4 3.0

Total 0.0 36.3 101.0 0.0 468.8 606.1 470.0

Change in value:

Total change in value on the balance sheet 0.0 36.3 101.0 0.0 468.8 606.1 470.0

Change in value recognised in the profit and 

loss during period
-82.3 -48.9 101.0 -302.5 468.8 136.1 79.9

Equity options, interest rate swaps, basis swaps and forward foreign exchange contracts

Derivatives are entered into for hedging purposes. Derivative transactions are entered into with counterparties that are ”investment grade” rated.

Note 5 | Liquidity risk

The risk that the Bank Group , the parent bank and the subsidiaries are unable to fulfil their obligations without incurring substantial additional expense in the form of 

low price for assets that must be realised, or in the form of especially expensive financing. 

risk management

The risk strategy establishes overall limits for how much liquidity risk Storebrand Bank ASA is willing to accept. The liquidity risk policy builds on the strategy and describes the 

principles for liquidity management and specifies stress testing, minimum liquidity reserves and financial indicators for measuring liquidity risk. In addition to this, the bank’s 

Treasury Department prepares an annual funding strategy and funding plan that set out the overall limits for the bank’s funding activities.

Stress tests are used to illustrate the expected effects of various scenarios on the balance sheet and cash flows. The stress tests are used to evaluate the actual risk capacity 

against the desired willingness to accept risk. The bank prepares a contingency plan annually to safeguard effective management of the liquidity situation during stressful 

periods. 

 

The treasury function in the bank’s Capital Market Products Department is responsible for the bank’s liquidity management, and Middle Office in the Risk Management unit 

monitors and reports on the utilisation of limits pursuant to the liquidity strategy and policy.

 

risk management

The means of controlling liquidity risk include monthly reports of the liquidity indicators and monitoring developments in the bank’s maturity profile. Both of these activities are 

included in the administration’s ongoing reporting to the Board through the risk reports and the CeO’s business briefings. The risk strategy and liquidity policy specify which 

liquidity indicators are followed. Middle Office performs checks on trades undertaken by Treasury to ensure conformance with the applicable policies.

  

Non-discounted cash flows - financial liabilties

NOK million 0 - 6 months

6 months -

12 months 1 - 3 years 3 - 5 years

More than

 5 years Total Book value

Liabilities to credit institutions 1,483.6 416.6 4,319.0 6,219.3 6,318.0

Deposits from and due to customers 18,492.4 18,492.4 18,492.4

Commercial papers and bonds issued 1,551.7 384.7 2,091.0 668.7 4,696.0 4,448.9

Other liabilities 888.7 888.7 888.7

Subordinated loan capital 259.4 162.8 465.7 1.6 74.4 964.0 692.3

Undrawn credit limits 2,072.0 2,072.0

Lending commitments 1,408.5 1,408.5

Total financial liabilities 2011 26,156.4 964.1 6,875.8 670.3 74.4 34,740.9 30,840.3

Derivatives related to funding 31.12.11 -25.7 -13.2 -63.1 -41.9 0.0 -143.9 -121.6

Total financial liabilities 2010 23,588.1 2,915.9 7,157.2 2,253.9 319.3 36,234.4 32,274.2

The amounts includes accrued interests.

The overview of non-discounted cash flows includes interest. Implicit forward interest rates based on the yield curve on 31 December 2011 are used to calculate interest 

costs for lending with FRN conditions. The maturity profile was set up using the PortWin risk management system.

The call date is used as the maturity date on subordinated loan capital.

78 | STOReBRAND BANK



Specification of subordinated loan capital

NOK million

iSiN nummer issuer Net nominal value Currency interes Call-date Book value

Dated subordinated loan capital

NO001036427 Storebrand Bank ASA 250.0 NOK Floating 08.05.2012 251.4

NO001040278 Storebrand Bank ASA 150.0 NOK Floating 19.12.2012 150.1

Other subordinated loan capital

NO00177116 Storebrand Bank ASA 9.3 NOK Fixed Perpetual 9.3

Tier 1 hybrid capital

NO001024206 Storebrand Bank ASA 107.0 NOK Fixed 29.10.2014 112.7

NO001024207 Storebrand Bank ASA 168.0 NOK Floating 29.10.2014 168.8

Total subordinated loan capital 2011 692.3

Total subordinated loan capital 2010 790.1

Specification of liabilites to credit institutions

NOK million 2011 2010

Total liabilites to credit institutions without fixed maturity at amortised 

cost 307.2 272.8

f-loan:

Maturity 2011 500.0

Maturity 2012 1,413.1 1,012.1

Loan with floating interest rate:

Maturity 2011 78.1

Maturity 2012 350.0 350.0

Maturity 2013 750.0 250.0

Accrued expenses 0.8 1.2

Total liabilities to credit institutions with fixed maturity at amortised cost 2,513.9 2,191.5

Borrowings under the Norwegian Government's Swap scheme:

Maturity 2011 2,365.1

Maturity 2013 2,508.4 2,500.4

Maturity 2014 988.4 990.4

Total liabilities to credit institutions with fixed maturity at fair value (fvO) 3,496.9 5,855.9

Total liabilities to credit institutions 6,318.0 8,320.2

As per 31 December 2011, Storebrand Bank ASA had only one current credit facility. A NOK 750 million Revolving Credit Facility was signed in October 2010. The credit 

facility agreement for NOK 750 million contains certain special covenants. In 2011, Storebrand Bank ASA fulfilled all the terms and conditions.
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Specification of commercial papers and bonds issued

NOK million

iSiN code issuer Net nominal value Currency interest Maturity Book value

Commercial papers

NO001063070 Storebrand Bank ASA 500.0 NOK Fast 20.06.2012 501.4

Total commercial papers 501.4

Bond loans

NO001054848 Storebrand Bank ASA 500.0 SeK Flytende 26.01.2012 438.2

NO001049263 Storebrand Bank ASA 520.5 NOK Flytende 20.02.2012 522.9

NO001045553 Storebrand Bank ASA 327.0 NOK Fast 03.09.2012 338.0

NO001059077 Storebrand Bank ASA 500.0 NOK Flytende 10.05.2013 502.8

NO001047340 Storebrand Bank ASA 408.0 NOK Flytende 21.11.2013 415.0

NO001050777 Storebrand Bank ASA 648.0 NOK Flytende 30.04.2014 659.1

NO001059982 Storebrand Bank ASA 400.0 NOK Flytende 11.08.2014 401.9

NO001043982 Storebrand Bank ASA 310.0 NOK Fast 04.06.2015 344.8

NO001051323 Storebrand Bank ASA 300.0 NOK Fast 25.05.2016 324.6

Total bond loans 3,947.4

Total commercial paper and bonds issued 2011 4,448.9

Total commercial paper and bonds issued 2010 4,022.8

The loan agreements contain standard covenants. Storebrand Bank ASA was in compliance with all relevants terms in 2011.

Note 6 | Market risk

The risk of losses on open positions in financial instruments due to changes in market variables and/or market conditions within a specified time horizon. Covers coun-

terparty risk in financial instruments trading, as well as stock market risk, interest rate risk and exchange rate risk. 

risk management

The risk strategy sets general limits for the management and control of market risk which primarily relates to the bank’s long term investments in equity instruments and 

fixed income securities. The bank is also exposed to currency risk to a lesser degree. 

 

Market risk policies specify limits for market risk that the bank is willing to accept. Storebrand Bank ASA’s market risk is primarily managed and controlled through daily 

monitoring of risk exposure pursuant to the policy and continuous analyses of outstanding positions. 

 

The exposure limits are reviewed and renewed by the Board at least annually. The sizes of these limits are set on the basis of stress tests and analyses of market move-

ments, as well as risk capacity and willingness. 

 

risk management

Middle Office in the Risk Management unit is responsible for the ongoing, independent monitoring of market risk. The means of controlling market risk include monthly 

reports of the market risk indicators. The market risk indicators that are followed are specified in the risk strategy, interest rate risk policy and currency risk policy. 

Monthly reports for the individual portfolios are produced for the bank’s balance sheet management committee and the bank’s Board.

For changes in market risk that occur during the first year, the effect on the result and equity will be as shown below based on the balance sheet as of 31 December 2011:

Effect on income

NOK million Amount

Interest rate -1,5% -17.1

Interest rate +1,5% 17.1

Effect on net profit/equity 1)

NOK million Amount

Interest rate -1,5% -17.1

Interest rate +1,5% 17.1

1) Before taxes.
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The note presents the accounting effect over a 12 month period of an immediate parallel change in interest rates of +1.5% and -1.5% respectively. It has taken into acco-

unt the one-time effect that such an immediate change in interest rates would have on the items recognised at fair value and the value of hedging, and the effect that 

the change in interest rates would have on the net profit for the remaining duration of the interest rate before  the change in interest rates has an effect on income and 

expenses. The sensitivity analysis has been performed using the risk management system PortWin. Items that would be affected by the one-time effect and are recorded at 

fair value are the investment portfolio, fixed interest rate loans, borrowing via the swap scheme with the government, deposits with returns linked to the stock market and 

derivatives. Items that would be affected by the one-time effects and which are recorded using hedging accounting are fixed interest rate loans.

See also note 28 regarding foreign exchange risk.

Note 7 | Operasjonell risiko

Operational risk: The risk of financial loss due to ineffective, inadequate or failing internal processes or systems, human error, external events or faliure to comply with 

internal guidelines. Breach of laws and regulations can ubstruct the Group from achieving its objectives and this part of compliance risk is included in operational risk. 

riSk MANAGEMENT

Operational risk management and compliance with laws, regulations and internal rules are an integral part of the management responsibilities of all managers in the Store-

brand Group. Risk assessments and internal control reporting are linked to a unit’s ability to achieve its goals. Risk assessments are continually recorded and documented 

in easy Risk Manager (eRM, a risk management system supplied by Det Norske Veritas). 

The Business Management Department in Storebrand has responsibility for coordinating the risk assessment process and owns the eRM system. The governing structure 

for operational risk management follows the group organisation (the corporate governance model).

Operational risk in Storebrand Bank is governed through an operational risk policy. The Risk Management unit is responsible for monitoring operational risk in the bank.

The compliance manager at Storebrand Bank shall be able to extract risks that are defined as being high with regard to breaching external or internal regulations from eRM.

 

riSk MANAGEMENT

If the risk assessment requires the implementation of planned improvement measures, the measures must be documented and reported via eRM. Routines for any spot 

checks or other forms of regular quality control and the results from these must also be documented.

The work on operational risk is documented in an internal control status report that is considered by the bank’s Board. 

Middle Office in the Risk Management unit carries out numerous checks and reconciliations in conjunction with monthly, quarterly and annual financial statements in order 

to check and reduce operational risk. In addition to this, the bank’s compliance officer, financial crime unit and internal auditor carry out spot checks in a number of the 

bank’s most important work processes. The results of these are reported to the bank’s management team and the Board.

Compliance risk: The risk that the bank incurs public sanctions or financial losses due to faliures to comply with external and internal regulations.

riSk MANAGEMENT

The compliance risk in Storebrand Bank is managed through routines for the bank’s compliance manager. Furthermore, the compliance risk is governed through the compli-

ance manager’s processes which include:

•	 Maintaining an overview of the applicable laws and regulations at all times, and how the division of responsibilities for ensuring compliance is assigned within the 

organisation.

•	 Monitoring that the company complies with its commitments under the Securities Trading Act and accompanying regulations and other requirements.

•	 Regularly assessing the company’s routines and guidelines, in regard to the company’s risk profile. 

•	 Functioning as an internal adviser to employees on questions relating to compliance. 

The compliance manager participates in the Group’s compliance working group which meets on a regular basis to exchange information, discuss common current problems 

and prepare common routines.

 

riSk MANAGEMENT

The compliance manager is responsible for keeping and updating the compliance journal in accordance with special routines and carrying out ongoing spot checks pursuant 

to compliance with own account trading regulations, Mifid and similar. In order to be able to identify problem areas by gaining a complete overview of problems that arise 

internally, the bank has implemented routines for continuously reporting incidents to the compliance manager, who is responsible for inputting the reported incidents into 

a separate event journal. Reported incidents are reviewed and considered by the compliance forum in the bank. The event journal provides operational risk with a good 

basis for evaluating/implementing measures to reduce the unit’s operational risk. 
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Note 8 | Valuation of financial instruments at fair value

Specification of financial assets at fair value 

NOK million

quoted  

prices 

Observable 

assumptions

Non-observable 

assumptions

Book value 

31.12.2011

Book value 

31.12.2010

equities and unit 1.8 1.8 1.6

Lending to customers 787.7 787.7 673.1

      Sovereign and Government Guaranteed bonds 0.0 903.6

      Credit bonds 564.1 564.1 440.0

      Mortage and asset backed bonds 50.0 8,705.5 8,755.5 8,917.1

Total bonds 50.0 9,269.6 0.0 9,319.6 10,260.6

     Interest rate derivatives 108.8 108.8 102.3

     Currency derivatives -2.9 -2.9 -3.9

Total derivatives 0.0 105.9 0.0 105.9 98.5

     Derivatives with a positive fair value 606.1 606.1 470.0

     Derivatives with a negative fair value -500.2 -500.2 -371.5

Changes between quoted prices and observable assumptions

NOK million

from quoted prices to  

observable assumptions

from observable assumptions  

to quoted prices 

equities and units

Bonds and other fixed-income securities

Derivatives

Liabilities

Storebrand Bank ASA conducts a comprehensive process to ensure that financial instruments are valued as closely as possible to their market value. Publicly listed financial 

instruments are valued on the basis of the official closing price on stock exchanges, supplied by Reuters and Bloomberg. Bonds are generally valued based on prices col-

lected from Reuters and Bloomberg. Bonds that are not regularly quoted will normally be valued using recognised theoretical models. The latter is particularly applicable to 

bonds denominated in Norwegian kroner. Discount rates composed of the swap rates plus a credit premium are used as a basis for these types of valuations. The credit 

premium will often be specific to the issuer, and will normally be based on a consensus of credit spreads quoted by well recognised brokerage houses.

 

Unlisted derivatives, including primarily interest rate and foreign exchange instruments, are also valued theoretically. Money market rates, swap rates, exchange rates and 

volatilities that form the basis for valuations are supplied by Reuters, Bloomberg and Norges Bank.

 

Storebrand Bank ASA carries out continual checks to safeguard the quality of market data that has been collected from external sources. These types of checks will gene-

rally involve comparing multiple sources as well as controlling and assessing the likelihood of unusual changes.

 

The company categorises financial instruments that are valued at fair value into three different levels which are described in more detail below. The levels express the dif-

fering degrees of liquidity and different measurement methods used.

 

Level 1: financial instruments valued on the basis of quoted prices in active markets for identical assets

 

Bonds, certificates or equivalent instruments issued by nation states are generally classified as level 1. When it comes to derivatives, standardised stock index futures and 

interest rate futures they will also be included at this level.

 

Level 2: financial instruments valued on the basis of observable market information not covered by level 1

 

This category encompasses financial instruments that are valued based on market information that is directly observable or indirectly observable. Market information that 

is indirectly observable means that the prices can be derived from observable related markets. Level 2 includes shares or equivalent equity instruments for which market 

prices are available, but where the volume of transactions is too limited to fulfil the criteria in level 1. Shares in this level will normally have been traded during the last 

month. Bonds and equivalent instruments are generally classified in this level. Moreover, interest rate and foreign exchange swaps, non-standardised interest rate and 

foreign exchange derivatives are classified in level 2. 

Level 3: financial instruments valued on the basis of information that is not observable according to the definition for level 2 financial instruments 

Investments classified as level 3 largely include investments in unlisted/private companies. The company did not have any investments that were classified at this level at 

year-end.

Note 9 | Segment reporting

The management’s segment reporting for Storebrand Bank is only done at a group level.  

See note 9 under the Storebrand Bank Group.
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Note 10 | Net income from financial instruments

NOK million

Net interest income 2011 2010

     Interest and other income on loans to and deposits with credit institutions 151.8 79.2

     Interest and other income on loans to and due from customers 831.2 819.6

     Interest on commercial paper, bonds and other interest-bearing securities 340.5 342.2

     Other interest income and related income 6.1 8.1

Total interest income *) 1,329.6 1,249.0

     Interest and other expenses on debt to credit institutions -245.2 -288.2

     Interest and other expenses on deposits from and due to customers -480.1 -456.2

     Interest and other expenses on securities issued -170.0 -139.4

     Interest and expenses on subordinated loan capital -39.5 -31.8

     Other interest expenses and related expenses -24.7 -30.5

Total interest expenses **) -959.6 -946.2

Net interest income 370.0 302.8

*) Of which total interest income on financial assets that are not at fair value through the profit and loss account. 955.1 870.1

**) Of which total interest expenses on financial liabilities that are not at fair value through the profit and loss account. -788.3 -725.8

interest expense and changes in value of issued funding at fvO: 2011 2010

Interest expense issued funding at FVO -171.3 -220.4

Changes in value of issued funding at FVO -7.9 -7.3

Net expense issued funding at fvO -179.2 -227.7

Net income and gains from financial assets and liabilities at fair value: 2011 2010

Equity instruments

Dividends received from equity investments 0.1 0.3

Net gains/losses on realisation of equity investments -0.1

Net change in fair value of equity investments 0.2 0.1

Total equity investments 0.3 0.3

Commercial papers and bonds

Realised gain/loss on commercial papers and bonds 1.6 -0.2

Unrealised gain/loss on commercial papers and bonds -14.7 -21.8

Total gain/loss on commercial papers and bonds -13.1 -22.1

financial derivatives

Realised gain/loss on financial derivatives, held for trading -57.6 -1.7

Unrealised gain/loss on financial derivatives, held for trading 58.7 4.7

Total financial derivatives 1.2 3.0

Net income and gains from financial assets and liabilities at fair value -11.6 -18.8

Net gain/loss on financial assets at fair value through the profit and loss account:

Financial assets designated at fair value upon initial recognition 17.6 -28.8

Financial assets classified as held for trading -21.4 17.1

Changes in fair value of assets due to changes in credit risk -8.4 6.3

Net gain/loss on financial liabilities at fair value through the profit and loss account:

Financial liabilities designated at fair value upon initial recognition -7.9 -7.3

Financial liabilities classified as held for trading 0.0 0.0

STOReBRAND BANK | 83



annual report 2011

Note 11 | Net commission income

NOK million 2011 2010

Fees related to banking operations 53.8 51.3

Commissions from sale of group products 1.5 0.8

Commissions from saving products 26.3 25.5

Commissions from stockbroking 4.9 5.1

Fees from loans 18.5 19.4

Other fees and commissions receivable 0.4 2.3

Total fees and commissions receivable  *) 105.3 104.5

Fees and commssisions payable relating to banking operations -13.2 -13.5

Commissions payable on saving products -4.9 -3.5

Commissions payable on stockbroking -0.4 -0.7

Other fees and commissions payable -0.1

Total fees and commissions payable  **) -18.5 -17.8

Net commission income 86.9 86.7

*) Of which total fees and commission income on book value of financial assets and liabilities  

that are not at fair value through the profit and loss account
72.3 55.1

**) Of which total fees and commission expense on book value of financial assets and liabilities  

that are not at fair value through the profit and loss account
-13.2 -13.5

Other fee and commission income and fee and commission expense are related to charges on services bought and sold.

Note 12 | Other income

NOK million 2011 2010

Loss on sale of subsidiaries 8.1 -0.2

Write-downs of shares in subsidiaries -140.4 -11.4

Receipts of group contribution from subsidiaries 60.3 87.9

Income from capital market products 0.1 1.9

Other income 0.6 0.5

Total other income -71.4 78.8

Note 13 | Remuneration paid to auditor

remuneration excluding value added tax:

NOK 1000 2011 2010

 Statutory audit 670 428

 Other reporting duties 181

 Taxation advice 13

 Other non-audit services 123 63

Total 793 685

All remuneration for statutory auditing concerns Deloitte AS.
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Note 14 | Operating expenses

NOK million 2011 2010

Ordinary wages and salaries 73.7 92.1

employer's social security contributions 12.3 15.8

Other staff expenses 13.0 15.6

Pension cost (see note 15) 21.8 17.9

Total staff expenses 120.8 141.4

IT costs 78.1 79.6

Printing, postage etc. 3.5 4.0

Travel, entertainment, courses, meetings 2.1 2.1

Other sales and marketing costs 0.9 0.9

Total general administration expenses 84.6 86.7

Total staff expenses and general administration expenses 205.4 228.1

Depreciation fixed assets and intangible assets 26.3 25.9

Contract personnel 9.6 7.4

Operating expenses on rented premises 12.2 13.6

Inter-company charges for services 1) 70.4 46.6

Fee regarding sale of loans to Storebrand Boligkreditt AS 2) -11.8

Other operating expenses 22.3 23.1

Total other operating expenses 140.7 104.9

Total operating expenses 346.1 332.9

1) Services purchased from the group contain costs relating to bank production, IT services, joint administrative functions, financial and legal services, marketing activities,

HR and skills development, purchasing, information services and savings advice.
2) The agreement concerning compensations was terminated in February 2010.

Note 15 | Pensions

The employees in Storebrand in Norway have both defined contribution and defined benefit pension schemes that are established in Storebrand Livsforsikring AS, but the 

group is not a member of the contractual pension scheme (AFP). From 1 January 2011 the defined benefit scheme was closed to new members. At the same date a defined 

contribution pension scheme was established. The defined contribution based scheme applies to all new employees from 1 January 2011 and to those who chose to transfer 

from a defined benefit to a defined contribution pension arrangement. For the defined contribution based scheme, the cost is equal to the employee’s pension savings 

contribution during the period, which totals 5 per cent annually of the contribution basis between 1 and 6 G (G = the National Insurance scheme’s basic amount which was 

NOK 79,216 as of 31 December 2011), and 8 per cent of the contribution basis between 6 and 12 G. The contributions are deposited in the employees’ pension accounts 

each month. The future pension depends upon the amount of the contributions and the return on pension savings. 

 

The employees who are members of the defined benefit pension scheme are secured a pension of about 70 per cent of pensionable salary at the time of retirement. Full 

pension entitlement is reached after 30 years of membership in the pension scheme. The cost for the period shows the employees’ accrued future pension entitlements 

during the financial year. From 1 July 2011 the retirement age is 67 years old. Nonetheless employees are given the right to retire at 65 years old and receive a pension from 

Storebrand until they reach 67 years old. 

 

The pension for employees aged between 65 and 67 years old and pensions linked to salaries over 12 G are paid out directly from the companies and apply to both mem-

bers of the defined contribution scheme and the defined benefit scheme. A guarantee has been granted for earned pensions on salaries over 12 G for employees retiring 

before the age of 65. The pension conditions are determined by the pension regulations. Storebrand is obliged to have an occupational pension scheme pursuant to the 

Act relating to mandatory occupational pensions. The company’s pension scheme satisfies the requirements of the Act.

reconciliation of pension assets and liabilities in the balance sheet:

NOK million 2011 2010

Present value of insured pension liability 147.5 142.1

Pension assets at fair value -92.4 -90.5

Net pension liability/surplus for the insured schemes 55.0 51.6

Present value of uninsured pension liability 48.7 50.4

Net pension liabilities in the balance sheet 103.7 102.0

Includes employer’s NI contributions on net underfunded liabilities.

STOReBRAND BANK | 85



annual report 2011

Experience adjustments applied to equity

NOK million 2011 2010

Year's change in experience adjustments included in equity after tax 2.8 -13.6

Accumulated experience adjustments included in equity 18.3 15.6

Changes in the net defined benefits pension liabilities in the period

NOK million 2011 2010

Net pension liability at 01.01. incl. provision for employer's NI contribution 192.5 161.9

Net pension cost recognised in the period incl. provision for employer's NI contribution 19.2 17.5

Interest on pension liabilities 7.5 6.9

experience adjustments -16.8 12.4

Gain/loss of curtailment -1.6

Pension paid -2.8 -4.7

Reversed employer's NI contribution -1.8 -1.6

Net pension liability at 31.12. 196.2 192.5

Change in the fair value of pension assets

NOK million 2011 2010

Pension assets at fair value at 01.01. 90.5 82.4

expected return 4.3 4.6

experience adjustments -13.0 -6.5

Gain/loss of curtailment -0.6

Premium paid 12.8 11.5

Pensions paid -1.6 -1.5

Net pension assets at 31.12. 92.4 90.5

expected premium payments (pension assets) in 2012: NOK 11.6 million.
 

Pension assets are based on the financial assets held by Storebrand Livsforsikring composed as of 31.12.

2011 2010

Properties and real estate 17% 16%

Bonds at amortised cost 38% 26%

Secured and other lending 2% 2%

equities and units 22% 22%

Bonds 14% 24%

Commercial papers 6% 9%

Other short-term financial assets 1% 1%

Total 100% 100%

The table shows the percentage asset allocation of pension assets at year-end managed by Storebrand Livsforsikring.

The book (realised) return on the assets was 4.5 % in 2011, 4.7 % in 2010 and 5.0 % in 2009.
 

Net pension cost booked to the profit and loss account specified as follows:

NOK million 2011 2010

Payment to defined contribution pension scheme in the period 0.4

Current service cost including employer's NI contributions 19.2 17.5

Interest on pension liabilities 7.5 6.9

expected return on pension assets -4.3 -4.6

Gain/loss of curtailment -1.0

Correction for pension cost included earlier years -1.9

Net pension cost booked to profit and loss account in the period 21.8 17.9

Net pension cost includes national insurance contributions and is included in operating expenses. See note 14.

86 | STOReBRAND BANK



Main assumptions used when calculating net pension liability at 31.12. 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

Discount rate 3.1% 4.0%

expected return on pension fund assets in the period 4.6% 4.9%

expected earnings growth 3.6% 3.9%

expected annual increase in social security pensions 3.8% 3.8%

expected annual increase in pensions payment 1.5% 2.0%

Disability table KU KU

Mortality table K2005 K2005

  

financial assumptions: 

The financial assumptions have been determined on the basis of the regulations in IAS 19. Long term assumptions such as future inflation, real interest rates and real wage 

growth are particularly subject to a high degree of uncertainty. As Norway does not have a deep and active market for high quality corporate bonds, IAS 19 requires that 

the interest rate on government bonds be used as the discount rate. Moreover, IAS 19 does not specify the need for a deep and active market for government bonds in 

order to use this interest rate as the discount rate. Specific company conditions including expected direct wage growth are taken into account when determining the finan-

cial assumptions. 

Actuarial assumptions: 

In Norway, standardised assumptions on rates of mortality and disability as well as other demographic factors are prepared by Finance Norway. The mortality table K2005 

is being used until new common mortality rates for the industry are adopted and can provide a basis for more accurate calculations. The average employee turnover rate is 

2-3 per cent of the entire workforce as a whole and includes an assumption of reduced rates of turnover with increasing age. 

 

Net pension liability at 31.12. 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

Discounted current value of defined benefit pension liabilities 196.2 192.5 192.5 154.2 147.6

Fair value of pension assets 92.4 90.5 90.5 74.0 78.1

Deficit (surplus) 103.7 102.0 102.0 80.1 69.5

Fact based adjustments liabilities 32.1 -6.4 -4.6 -23.7

Fact based adjustments pension assets -13.0 6.5 -3.8 -16.4

Sensitivity analysis pension calculations                                                                                              2011

Change in discount rate 1% -1%

Percentage change in pension:

Pension liabilities 28.6% -20.9%

The period's net pension costs 25.6% -19.2%

The pension liabilities are not sensitive to changes in the discount rate. A reduction in the discount rate seen in isolation would result in an increase in the pension liabilities.

Note 16 | Loan losses

NOK million 2011 2010

Change in loan loss provisions on individual loans for the period 70.4 42.3

Change in loan loss provisions on groups of loans for the period 30.1 24.1

Other corrections to loan loss provisions -2.7 -2.4

Change in individual loan loss provisions on guarantees for the period  

Realised losses in period on commitments specifically provided for previously -106.2 -102.9

Realised losses on commitments not specifically provided for previously -6.7 -1.1

Recoveries on previously realised losses 17.7 4.7

Loan losses for the period 2.5 -35.3

Interest recognised to the profit and loss account on loans subject to loan loss provisions 4.6 17.2
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Note 17 | Tax

Tax basis for the year

NOK million 2011 2010

Profit before taxes 31.2 80.0

+ Group contribution received, difference between the carrying amount and the tax base 0.8 54.3

+/- Share of results from associated companies -0.9 1.3

+/- Realised gains/losses on shares within eeA -7.8 0.0

+/- Taxable realised gains on shares within eeA 0.1 0.3

Other permanent differences 152.7 12.8

Changes in temporary differences -2.0 54.1

Tax basis for the year 173.9 202.8

Reduction for tax deductible loss 20.0

- Application of tax loss carryforward -138.0 -222.8

Tax basis for the year for current taxes 1) 35.8 0.0

Tax rate 28% 28%

1) Allocated group contribution with tax effect 35.8 0.0

Tax charge for the year

NOK million 2011 2010

Tax payable for the period 10.0

Change in deferred tax assets 61.1 45.7

Total tax charge for the year 71.1 45.7

reconciliation of expected and actual tax charge

NOK million 2011 2010

Ordinary pre-tax profit 31.2 80.0

expected tax on income at nominal rate 8.7 22.4

Tax effect of:

   Realised shares -2.5 0.1

   Associated companies -0.4

   Permanent differences 42.7 -0.4

   Group contribution received 0.2

   Change of tax assessment earlier years 21.9 24.0

Tax charge 71.1 45.7

Tax payable 10.0

- tax effect of group contribution paid 10.0

Tax payable in the balance sheet 0.0 0.0
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Analysis of the tax effect of temporary differences and tax losses carried forward

NOK million 2011 2010

Tax increasing timing differences

Operating assets 6.5 4.2

Financial instruments 55.4 26.5

Total tax increasing timing differences 61.9 30.7

Tax reducing timing differences

Pensions -103.7 -102.0

Provisions -3.3 -8.2

Financial instruments -31.5 -2.6

Total tax reducing timing differences -138.6 -112.8

Losses/allowances carried forward -216.6

Net base for deferred tax/tax assets -76.7 -298.7

Net deferred tax/tax asset in the balance sheet 21.5 83.6

Analysis of tax payable and deferred tax applied to equity 2011 2010

Pension experience adjustments -1.1 5.3

Total -1.1 5.3

Deferred tax assets principally relate to tax reducing temporary differences on fixed assets, pension liabilities and financial instruments.

The bank produces an annual profit, and is expected to continue to produce a profit in future years. 

Deferred tax assets in respect of  Storebrand Bank ASA are capitalised to the extent that it is considered likely that it will be possible to make use of the assets.

Note 18 | Classification of financial instruments 

NOK million

Loans and 

receivables

fair value,  

trading fair value, fvO

Liabilities at  

amortised cost Total

financial assets

Cash and deposits with central banks 508.4 508.4

Loans to and deposits with credit institutions 4,404.4 4,404.4

equity instruments 1.8 1.8

Bonds and other fixed-income securities 651.2 9,319.6 9,970.8

Derivatives 606.1 606.1

Lending to customers 16,007.0 787.7 16,794.7

Other assets 1,263.4 1,263.4

Total financial assets 2011 22,834.4 606.1 10,109.1 0.0 33,549.5

Total financial assets 2010 23,469.2 470.0 10,935.3 0.0 34,874.5

financial liabilities

Deposits from and due to credit institutions 3,496.9 2,821.1 6,318.0

Deposits from and due to customers 18,492.4 18,492.4

Commercial papers and bonds issued 4,448.9 4,448.9

Derivatives 500.2 500.2

Other liabilities 888.7 888.7

Subordinated loan capital 692.3 692.3

Total financial liabilities 2011 0.0 500.2 3,496.9 27,343.4 31,340.5

Total financial liabilities 2010 371.5 6,034.4 26,239.7 32,645.6
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Note 19 | Fair value of financial assets and liabilities at amortised cost

2011 2010

NOK million Book value fair value Book value fair value

Assets

Loans and receivables:

Bonds, amortised cost 651.2 649.8

Loans to and deposits with credit institutions, amortised 

cost
4,404.4 4,404.4 3,842.0 3,842.0

Lending to customers, amortised cost 16,176.1 15,961.9 17,809.2 17,577.1

Liabilities

Deposits from and due to credit institutions, amortised cost 2,821.1 2,816.2 2,464.3 2,964.0

Deposits from and due to customers, amortised cost 18,492.4 18,492.4 18,638.9 18,638.9

Commercial papers and bonds issued, amortised cost 4,448.9 4,476.0 4,022.8 4,096.2

Subordinated loan capital, amortised cost 692.3 685.4 790.1 772.4

The fair value of lending to customers subject to variable interest rates is stated as book value. However, the fair value of lending to corporate customers with margin loans 

is slightly lower than book value since some loans have lower margins than they would have had had they been taken out at year-end 2011. The shortfall is calculated using 

a discounted difference between the agreed margin and the current market price over the remaining term to maturity. Fair value is also adjusted for individual loan loss 

provisions. The fair values of lending, liabilities to financial institutions and securities issued are based on valuation techniques. The valuation techniques use interest rate 

curves and credit spreads from external providers, this with exception of loans assessed to spreads  for  new loans correspondingly . The calculations are made using the 

PortWin risk management system.

Note 20 | Cash and deposits with central banks

2011 2010

NOK million Book value Book value

Cash 2.5 2.1

Deposits with central banks at amortised cost, loans and receivables 506.0 162.6

Total cash and deposits with central banks 508.4 164.7

 
Note 21 | Loans to and deposits with credit institutions

2011 2010

NOK million Book value Book value

Total loans to and deposits with credit institutions without fixed maturity at amortised cost 4,404.4 3,842.0

Total loans to and deposits with credit institutions at amortised cost 4,404.4 3,842.0

 
Note 22 | Shares and other equity instruments

2011 2010

NOK million Ownership interest Book value Book value

Storebrand Institusjonelle Investor ASA 5.15% 1.1 0.9

Visa Inc. A-shares 0.5 0.4

Other 0.2 0.3

Total 1.8 1.6

Of which

Listed shares

Unlisted shares 1.8 1.6

Shares and other equity instruments are classified as financial assets at fair value through the profit and loss account.
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Note 23 | Investments in associated companies and joint ventures

Associated companies

Main accounting figures for associated companies - figures shown are the Storebrand Bank ASA share.    

NOK million 2011 2010

revenue:

Seilduksgaten 25/31 AS 1.3

Storebrand Baltic UAB 12.1

Profit and Loss:

Seilduksgaten 25/31 AS -1.3

Storebrand Baltic UAB 0.9

Assets:

Seilduksgaten 25/31 AS 15.1

Storebrand Baltic UAB 3.5

Liabilities:

Seilduksgaten 25/31 AS 18.7

Storebrand Baltic UAB 0.8

Investments in associated companies are accounted for on the equity method. Seilduksgaten 25/31 AS have been sold in 2011. 

Storebrand Baltic UAB have been reclassified from a join venture to an associated company from 1 January 2011.

Ownership interests in associated companies

NOK million

Ownership

interest

Acquisition

cost

Book value at 

01.01. 

Additions/

disposals

Share in  

profit

Book value at 

01.01 

Seilduksgaten 25/31 AS 50% 30.0 24.6 -24.6 0.0

Storebrand Baltic UAB 50% 0.5 0.5 0.9 1.4

Total 30.5 25.1 -24.6 0.9 1.4

Joint ventures

Overview of companies included in the accounts – figures shown are the Storebrand Bank ASA share:

NOK million 2011 2010

revenue:

Storebrand Baltic UAB 8.8

Profit and loss:

Storebrand Baltic UAB 0.8

Assets:

Storebrand Baltic UAB 3.1

Liabilities:

Storebrand Baltic UAB 1.2

The joint venture is a business the bank group operates together with Storebrand Livsforsikring As.

Joint ventures are recognised through proportional consolidation.

Storebrand Baltic UAB have been reclassified from a join venture to an associated company from 1 January 2011.
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Note 24 | Investments in subsidiaries

NOK million

registered 

office

Ownership 

interest

Share of  

votes

Share  

capital

Acquisition  

cost

Book value 

31.12.11

Book value 

31.12.10

Storebrand Boligkreditt AS Lysaker 100.0% 100.0% 350.0 661.2 661.2 661.2

Ring eiendomsmegling AS 1) Lysaker 100.0% 100.0% 55.2 143.5 3.1 103.8

Hadrian eiendom AS   Oslo 100.0% 100.0% 0.1 43.7 43.7 39.2

Hadrian Utvikling AS Oslo 96.1% 96.1% 0.5 13.9 2.5 2.5

Filipstad Tomteselskap AS Lysaker 100.0% 100.0% 0.5 2.0 2.0 2.0

Bjørndalen Panorama AS Lysaker 100.0% 100.0% 2.7 72.5 6.0 16.5

Ullensaker Boligbygg AS  2) Ullensaker 89.0% 89.0% 2.5

Ullensaker Boligbygg KS 2) Ullensaker 89.0% 89.0% 45.0

Sørlandsbygg Holding AS  3) Kristiansand 0.0% 0.0% 0.2

Storebrand eiendomskreditt AS  4) Lysaker 100.0% 100.0% 0.1 300.4 300.4 750.3

Filipstad Invest AS Lysaker 100.0% 100.0% 0.1 0.1 0.1

Total investments in 

subsidiaries 1,237.4 1,019.1 1,575.7

1) The ownership in Ring eiendomsmegling AS is being discontinued.
2) The subsidiaries Ullensaker Boligbygg AS and Ullensaker Boligbygg KS petitioned for winding up in November 2010 and were 

subject to liquidation proceedings as per 31 December 2011.
3) Sørlandsbygg Holding AS has been liquidiated in 2011.
4) Storebrand eiendomskreditt AS will be wound up in 2012. In 2011, there has been a repayment of share capital of NOK 449.9 million.

Note 25 | Bonds and other fixed-income securities at fair value through the profit and loss account

2011 2010

NOK million Acquisition cost fair value fair value

Sovereign and Government Guaranteed bonds  903.6 

Credit bonds  558.6  564.1  440.0 

Mortgage and asset backed bonds  8,740.1  8,755.5  8 917.1 

Total bonds and other fixed-income securities at fair  

value through the profit and loss account 9,298.7 9,319.6 10,260.6

Modified duration  0.15  0.15 

Average effective yield per 31.12. 2.91% 2.91%

The portfolio is mainly denominated in NOK, as per 31 December 2011 the bank had only one covered bond in eUR.   

The effective yield for each asset is calculated using the observed market price. Calculated effective yields are weighted to give an average effective yield on the basis of 

each asset’s share of the total interest rate sensitivity.    

Note 26 | Bonds at amortised cost

2011 2010

NOk MiLL. Nominal value Acquisition cost Book value fair value Book value fair value

Sovereign and Government Guaran-

teed bonds
 525.0  525.1  528.0  526.5 

Mortgage and asset backed bonds  126.0  123.2  123.3  123.4 

Total bonds at amortised cost  651.0  648.3  651.2  649.8 0.0 0.0

Modified duration  0.16 

Average effective yield per 31.12. 3.24%

All securities are denominated in NOK.

The effective yield for each asset is calculated using the observed market price. Calculated effective yields are weighted to give an average effective yield on the basis of 

each asset’s share of the total interest rate sensitivity.
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Note 27 | Transferred financial assets (swap scheme)

NOK million

2011 

Book value

2010

Book value

Covered bonds:

Covered bonds 6,664.6 7,224.5

Swap scheme 3,496.9 5,855.9

Transferred financial assets consist of swap agreements with the state through the Ministry of Finance concerning the posting of financial collateral (see note 43). The 

swap agreements were entered into through auctions that are administrated by Norges Bank. In the swap agreement, the state sells treasury bills to the bank through 

a timerestricted swap for covered bonds. The bank can either keep the treasury bills and receive payment from the state when the swap agreement falls due for repay-

ment, or it may sell the treasury bills in the market. When the bills become due within the term of the swap agreement, the bank must purchase new bills from the state 

at the price that is determined by the market price for treasury bills. This rollover will be ongoing throughout the entire term of the agreement. Upon expiry of the swap 

agreement, the bank is obliged to purchase the covered bonds back from the state at the same price that the state purchased them for. Storebrand Bank ASA will receive 

the interest on the transferred covered bonds. All risk concerning the covered bonds continues to lie with Storebrand Bank ASA.

Note 28 | Financial derivatives

NOMiNAL vOLuM

Financial derivative contracts are related to underlying amounts which are not capitalised in the balance sheet. In order to quantify a derivative position, reference is made 

to underlying amounts such as nominal principal, nominal volume, etc. Nominal volume is calculated differently for different classes of derivatives, and gives an indication 

of the size of the position and the risk the derivative creates. Gross nominal volume principally indicates the size of the exposure, whilst net nominal volume gives an indi-

cation of the risk exposure. However nominal volume is not a measure which necessarily provides a comparison of the risk represented by different types of derivatives.  

In contrast to gross nominal volume, net nominal volume also takes into account the direction of the instruments’ market risk exposure by differentiating between long 

(asset) positions and short (liability) positions. A long position in an equity derivative produces a gain in value if the share price increases. For interest rate derivatives, a 

long position produces a gain if interest rates fall, as is the case for bonds. A long position in a currency derivative produces a gain if the currency strengthens against the 

NOK. Average gross nominal volume is based on monthly calculations of gross nominal volume.

2011

Gross nom. Average nom. Net. nom.               fair value  2)

NOK million value  2) value  3) value  2) Asset Liability

equity derivatives 114.6

Interest rate derivatives  1) 22,457.4 23,552.2 9,131.2 598.5 489.7

Currency derivatives 4 180.1 4 786.6 -53.3 7.6 10.5

Total derivatives 26,637.5 28,453.4 9,077.9 606.1 500.2

2010

Gross nom. Average nom. Net. nom.              fair value 2)

NOK million value  2) value  3) value  2) Asset Liability

equity derivatives 173.1 436.7 22.3

Interest rate derivatives  1) 23,995.1 26,010.0 5,953.3 417.5 315.2

Currency derivatives 4,423.9 4,392.9 -42.3 52.5 56.3

Total derivatives 28,592.1 30,839.6 5,933.3 470.0 371.5

1)  Interest rate swaps includes accrued interest.
2) Value at 31.12. 
3) Average for the year.
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Note 29 | Foreign exchange risk

financial assets and liabilities in foreign currency 
       Statement of financial position 

items

Currency  

forwards
          Net position

NOK million Assets Liabilities Net sale in currency i NOk

CHF 59.2 0.0 -59.5 0.0 -0.3

DKK 0.3 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.3

eUR 81.1 34.3 -53.3 -0.8 -6.5

GBP 4.7 4.6 0.0 0.1

JPY 1.0 0.0 -1.0 0.5

SeK 67.3 439.3 372.0 -0.1

USD 51.0 33.8 -9.4 1.4 7.8

Other 0.2 0.8 0.0 -0.6

Total net position foreign currency 2011 0.8

Total net position foreign currency 2010 1.8

Storebrand Bank ASA hedges the net currency position on its balance sheet with forward contracts, accordingly forward sales and forward purchases are not shown 

separately in respect of assets and liabilities. 

 
Note 30 | Loan portfolio and guarantees

2011 2010

NOK million Book value Book value

Lending to customers at amortised cost 16,176.1 17,809.2

Lending to customers at fair value 787.7 673.1

Total gross lending to customers 16,963.8 18,482.3

Loan loss provisions on individual loans (see note 31) -117.2 -187.6

Loan loss provisions on groups of loans (see note 31) -51.9 -82.0

Net lending to customers 16,794.7 18,212.6

See note 4 for analysis of lending to customers and guarantees per customer group.

 
Note 31 | Loan loss provisions

2011 2010

NOK million Book value Book value

Loan loss provisions on individual loans 01.01 187.6 229.9

Losses realised in the period on individual loans previously written down -106.2 -102.9

Loan loss provisions on individual loans for the period 38.5 82.2

Reversals of loan loss provisions on individual loans for the period -11.4 -68.1

Other corrections to loan loss provisions *) 8.8 46.5

Loan loss provisions on individual loans at 31.12 117.2 187.6

Loan loss provisions on groups of loans and guarantees  01.01 82.0 106.1

Grouped loan loss provisions for the period -30.1 -24.1

Loan loss provisions on groups of loans and guarantees etc. 31.12 51.9 82.0

Total loan loss provisions 169.1 269.6

1) Other corrections to loan loss provisions relates to effects of amortisation.

The bank has no provisions for guarantees as at 31.12.11 and as at 31.12.10. 

The accounting policies for recording loans have changed during the course of 2011 and the treatment of doubtful credit card debts has been moved from loan loss 

provisions on groups of loans loan to loan loss provisions on individual loans. 
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Note 32 | Intangible assets

2011 2010

NOK million iT systems

Total

book value iT systems

Total

book value 

Acquisition cost at 01.01 153.6 153.6 137.3 137.3

Additions in the period:

   Purchased separately 44.8 44.8 16.3 16.3

Disposals in the period -0.2 -0.2

Acquisition cost at 31.12. 198.2 198.2 153.6 153.6

Accumulated depreciation and write-downs at 01.01 111.4 111.4 89.2 89.2

Depreciation in the period 17.9 17.9 17.3 17.3

Write-downs in the period 4.6 4.6 4.9 4.9

Accumulated depreciation and write-downs at 31.12 133.9 133.9 111.4 111.4

Book value at 31.12 64.3 64.3 42.2 42.2

for each class of intangible assets:

Depreciation method linear method linear method

economic life 3 – 8  years 3 – 8  years

Rate of depreciation 12.5% -33.33% 12.5% -33.33%

IT systems in this note refers to the development of systems, data warehouses, user licenses to systems, etc. All capitalised expenses in respect of systems development 

relate to work carried out by external resources. The estimate of economic liftetime are reviewed annually.

During 2011 Storebrand Bank has made a write-down of intangible assets by NOK 4.6 million. The write-down are mainly related to systems for credit risk which no lon-

ger are in use.

Note 33 | Fixed assets

2011 2011

NOK million fixture and fittings iT real estate  1) Total book value Total book value 

Book value at 01.01 10.2 2.2 3.1 15.5 15.7

Additions 0.0 4.1

Disposals -1.2 0.0 0.0 -1.2 -0.7

Depreciation -1.6 -1.6 -0.4 -3.6 -3.6

Book value at 31.12. 7.4 0.6 2.7 10.7 15.5

Opening acquisition cost 12.0 6.8 5.7 24.5 21.4

Closing acquisition cost 10.2 6.8 5.7 22.7 24.5

Opening accumulated depreciation 

and write-downs
1.8 4.6 2.6 9.0 -5.7

Closing accumulated depreciation and 

write-downs 2.8 6.2 3.0 12.0 -9.0

for each class of fixed assets:

Method for measuring cost price Acquisition cost Acquisition cost Acquisition cost

Depreciation method linear linear linear

Depreciation period and economic life 3 - 10 years 4 years 15 years

There are no restrictions on rights to fixed assets. No fixed assets have been pledged as collateral for liabilities. 

1) Holiday cabins valued using the cost method..
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Note 34 | Operational leasing

Minimum future payments on operational leases for fixed assets are as follows:   

NOK million

Minimum lease  

less than 1 year

Minimum lease 

between 1 - 5 

years

Minimum lease more 

than 5 years

Minimum lease payments less than 1 year 0.0

Minimum lease payments between 1 - 5 years 0.9 0.3

Minimum lease payments nore than 5 years 7.9 31.4 22.3

Total 8.8 31.7 22.3

Of which future lease income:

Amount through the profit and loss account

NOK million 2011 2010

Lease payments through the profit and loss account 8.8 15.6

Future lease income through the profit and loss account 2.6

Operational leases are primarily lease for Storebrand’s head office in Lysaker, and the rental of coffee machines and photocopiers.

Costs are included in the item ”General adminstration expenses” and  the item ”Other operating costs”.

Specification of substantial lease agreements

NOK million

yearly lease  

(cost)

Of which future  

lease income

Duration of the  

agreement

Option for renewal?  

(yes/No)

Rent agreement Lysaker Park 7.9 2019 Ja

Lease agreement photocopiers 0.9 2013 Nei

Total 8.8 0.0

Note 35 | Other current assets

2011 2010

NOK million Book value Book value

Interest accrued 77.5 90.2

Other accrued income 6.5 12.5

Due from customers 6.3 0.3

Shares in subsidiaries 1) 1,019.1 1,575.7

Due form group companies 65.4 150.1

Due from stockbrokers 22.8 16.0

Due from customers stockbrokerage 65.5 74.6

Other assets 0.2 3.7

Total other assets 1,263.4 1,922.9

1) See note 24.
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Note 36 | Deposits from customers

2011 2010

NOK million Book value Book value

Deposits from customers 17,373.6,, 17,608.6,,

Term loans and deposits from customers 1,118.8,, 1,208.9,,

Total deposits from customers 18,492.4 18,817.5

2011 2010

NOK million Book value Book value

Sector and industry classification  

Development of building projects 184.6 203.4

Sale and operation of real estate 2,589.7 2,419.1

Professional and financial services 2,828.3 3,018.3

Wage-earners 10,729.3 10,885.9

Other 2,160.5 2,290.8

Total 18,492.4 18,817.5

Geographic distribution

eastern Norway 14,845.2 14,454.5

Western Norway 1,960.5 2,333.5

Southern Norway 234.5 231.4

Mid-Norway 447.4 516.7

Northern Norway 584.6 809.0

Rest of world 420.2 472.3

Total 18,492.4 18,817.5

Note 37 | Hedge accounting

Storebrand uses fair value hedging for interest risk, when the hedging items are financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

Derivatives are recognised at fair value through the profit or loss (FVO). Changes in the value of the hedged item that relate to the hedged risk are applied to the book value on 

the item and are recognised in the profit and loss account.

Hedging effectiveness is monitored at the individual item level. each portfolio comprises swaps and hedged items with maturity within the same half year period.  Hedging effec-

tiveness when the hedge is created measures the relationship between changes in the hedged value of the interest rate hedging instrument and the item hedged in the event of 

a 2-percentage point interest rate shock.

Subsequently, hedging effectiveness is measured on the basis of the simple Dollar Offset method for both prospective and retrospective calculations. Hedging is expected to be 

highly efficient in the period.

2011 2010

Contract/ fair value  1) Contract/ fair value  1)

NOK million nominal value Assets Liabilities nominal value Assets Liabilities

Interest rate swaps 1,047.0 69.4 1,047.0 60.3 0.0

Total interest rate derivatives 1,047.0 69.4 1,047.0 60.3 0.0

Total derivatives 1,047.0 69.4 1,047.0 60.3 0.0

Contract/ fair value  1) Contract/ fair value  1)

nominal value Assets Liabilities nominal value Assets Liabilities

Total underlying items 1,044.0 1,120.1 1,044.0 1,109.4

Hedging effectiveness - prospective 102% 99%

Hedging effectiveness - retrospective -98% 90%
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Gain/loss on fair value hedging: 2)

2011 2010

NOK million Gain / loss Gain / loss

On hedging instruments 9.7 6.8

On items hedged -13.5 -7.3

1) Book value at 31.12.  
2) Amounts included in the line ”Net interest income”.

 
Note 38 | Bonds and commercial papers issued

2011 2010

NOK million Book value Book value

Commercial papers 501.4 400.9

Bond loans 3 947.4 3 621.9

Total bonds and commercial papers issued 4,448.9 4,022.8

See note 5 for analysis of bonds and commercial papers issued.

Note 39 | Subordinated loan capital

2011 2010

NOK million Book value Book value

Dated subordinated loan capital 401.5 501.3

Other subordinated loan capital 9.3 9.3

Tier 1 hybrid capital 281.5 279.4

Total subordinated loan capital 692.3 790.1

NOK million 2011 2010

Subordinated loan capital included in capital adequacy calculation 692.3 790.1

interest expense

Interest expense booked in respect of subordinated loan capital 33.6 31.8

All subordinated loans are denominated in NOK.

 
Note 40 | Provisions

Provisions for restructuring

NOK million 2011 2010

Provisions 1 January 3.7 7.0

Provisions during the period 0.8

Provisions used during the period -2.9 -4.0

Total provisions 31 December 0.8 3.7

Classified as:

Provision for accrued expenses and liabilities 0.8 3.7

Provisions were made for restructuring in Storebrand Bank ASA carried out in 2008 and 2009.  expected settlement time for the provision is in the period 2012-2013.
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Note 41 | Other liabilities

2011 2010

NOK million Book value Book value

Payable to Storebrand group companies 329.7 35.8

Money transfers 43.2 2.8

Group contribution payable to group companies 85.8 115.5

Accounts payable 4.6 7.5

Payable to stockbrokers 42.1 34.3

Payable to customers stockbrokerage 45.0 54.7

Accrued interest expenses financial debt 14.3 16.5

Accrued expenses and prepaid income 22.2 42.8

Due to brokers related to settlement of financial instruments 296.1

Other debt 5.6 13.8

Total other liabilities 888.7 323.6

 
Note 42 | Off balance sheet liabilities and contingent liabilities

NOK million 2011 2010

Guarantees 293.6 301.6

Undrawn credit limits 4 263.1 8 227.5

Lending commitments 1 408.5 816.6

Total contingent liabilities 5 965.2 9 345.6

Guarantees are mainly payment guarantees and contract guarantees. See also note 4.

Undrawn credit limits relate to  the unused portion of credit limits approved on overdraft accounts and credit cards, as well as the unused portion of lending limits on 

flexible mortgages.

In 2009 an action was brought against Storebrand Bank by two customers seeking damages for economic loss in connection with investments in one of Storebrand 

Bank’s stock index bonds. The bank won in both the district court and the court of appeal, and the case has been appealed by the plaintiff to the Supreme Court, due to 

it dealing with a matter of principal interest. The Supreme court heard the case in January 2012 but has not rendered a decision at the time the financial statements were 

being prepared. The bank believes it to be highly probable that the claim for compensation will be denied and has therefore not made any provisions in the financial 

statements.

 
Note 43 | Collateral

received and pledged collateral

Storebrand Bank ASA has not received or pledged any collateral except securities pledged as collateral for F-loans in Norges Bank and securities pledged as collateral in connec-

tion with the scheme for swapping covered bonds for government papers (see table below).

This note does not cover collateral on lending to customers.

Collateral and security pledged

NOK million 2011 2010

Booked value of bonds pledged as collateral for the bank's lending from Norges Bank 3,164.4 3,935.1

Booked value of bonds pledged as collateral for swap scheme 3,496.9 5,855.9

Booked value of securities pledged as collateral in other financial institutions 286.5

Total 6,947.8 9,791.0

Securities pledged as collateral are linked to lending access in Norges Bank for which, pursuant to regulations, the loans must be fully guaranteed with collateral in interest-

bearing securities and/or the bank’s deposits in Norges bank. Storebrand Bank ASA has a F-loan for NOK 1.4 billion in Norges Bank as per 31.12.2011.

In connection with the package of measures by the authorities concerning the banks, Storebrand Bank ASA has entered into an agreement involving the following amounts to 

conditions and terms for a swap scheme of covered bonds for treasury bills: 
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NOK million

Amount issued Maturity interest rate 

496.5 06.05.2009 19.03.2014 NIBOR minus 20bp

493.8 04.06.2009 19.03.2014 NIBOR minus 20bp

493.5 17.06.2009 20.03.2013 NIBOR minus 20bp

491.5 09.09.2009 18.12.2013 NIBOR pluss 24bp

1,487.9 21.10.2009 18.09.2013 NIBOR pluss 70bp

Note 44 | Capital Adequacy

Capital adequacy calculations are subject to special consolidation rules in accordance with the Regulation on consolidated application of the capital adequacy rules etc. (the “Con-

solidation Regulation”). The Storebrand Bank group is defined pursuant to Section 5 of the Consolidation Regulation as a financial group comprising solely or mainly undertakings 

other than insurance companies. The valuation rules used in the company’s accounts form the basis for consolidation. Consolidation is, in the main, carried out in accordance with 

the same principles as used in the accounts, with all internal transactions eliminated, including shares, loans and deposits as well as other receivables and liabilities. Profit for the 

year is included in the primary capital.

Net primary capital

NOK million 2011 2010

Share capital 960.6 960.6

Other equity 1,241.8 1,329.0

Total equity 2,202.4 2,289.6

Deductions:

Intangible assets -64.3 -42.2

Deferred tax assets -21.5 -83.6

Addition:

Tier 1 hybrid capital 279.0 279.4

Core capital 2,395.6 2,443.1

Supplementary capital 409.2 509.1

Deductions

Net primary capital 2,804.9 2,952.2

Minimum capital requirement

NOK million 2011 2010

Credit risk 1,340.7 1,320.2

   Of which:

       Local and Regional authorities 2.5

       Publicly owned companies 8.0

       Institutions 193.5 234.9

       Corporates 666.1 475.6

       Loans secured on real estate 316.6 393.8

       Retail market 44.2 54.0

       Loans past-due 19.6 55.4

       Covered bonds 71.1 71.3

       Other 19.1 35.2

Total minimum requirement for credit risk 1,340.7 1,320.2

Total minimum requirement for market risk 0.0 0.0

Operational risk 60.8 65.5

Deductions

  Loan loss provisions on groups of loans -4.2 -6.6

Minimum requirement for capital base 1,397.4 1,379.2

Capital adequacy

2011 2010

Capital ratio 16.1% 17.1%

Core capital ratio 13.7% 14.2%

The company uses the standard method for credit risk and market risk, and the basic method for operational risk. 

The minimum requirement for the capital ratio is 8 per cent.
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Note 45 | Remuneration of senior employees and elected officers of the company

remunerations of senior employees and elected officers at 31.12.11

NOK 1000 remuneration 11)
Bonus earned 

in 2011  1)
Bonus 

paid in 2012  1)

Bonus 

transferred to 

share bank in 

2012 1)
Salary guarantee 

(months)

Pensions 

accrued for  

the year  10)

Senior employees

Truls Nergaard (CeO)   2,863 454 227 227 18 1,048

Bernt Uppstad 1,158 234

Anne Grete T. Wardeberg 1,558 467

Trond Fladvad  1,697 260 130 130 522

Robert Fjelli  1,924 267 133 133 522

Torstein Hagen 760 93 47 47 249

Board of Directors  6)

Idar Kreutzer   7) 9,983 860 430 430 24 1,284

Geir Holmgren  8) 2,585 192 96 96 401

Heidi Storruste 153

Steinar Wessel-Aas 153

Kristine Schei 153

Anne-Kristine Baltzersen  8) 1,710 432

Maria Borch Helsengreen 153

Control Committee 9)

Finn Myhre  275

Tone Margrethe Reierselmoen  225

elisabeth Wille 315

Harald Moen 225

Ida Hjort Kraby 110

Ole Klette 225

NOK 1000

Discounted  

present value of 

pension  10) No. of shares 2)  Loans 3)
interest rate

at 31.12.11 repayment period 4)
Outstanding 

amount 5)

Ledende ansatte 

Truls Nergaard (CeO)   2,823 13,335

Bernt Uppstad 1,438 1,478 2.75% 2027

Anne Grete T. Wardeberg 4,447 3,467

Trond Fladvad  2,489 6,912 2.75%/3.65% 2021/2032/2041

Robert Fjelli  2,232 1,100 3,371 2.75%/3.85% 2019/2041

Torstein Hagen 100 2,963 2.75% 2041

Board of Directors  6)

Idar Kreutzer  7) 24,908 121,294 13,441 2.75%/3.84%/4.39% 2018/2025/2037

Geir Holmgren  8) 5,726 3,137 3,155 2.75% 2021

Heidi Storruste 1,228 2,617 2.75% 2019/2037

Steinar Wessel-Aas 0 1,400 4.25% 2021

Kristine Schei 0 0

Anne-Kristine Baltzersen  8) 5,375 4,439 1,463 2.75% 2021

Maria Borch Helsengreen 50 0

Control Committee 9)

Finn Myhre  8,249 3.84%/3.94% 2014/2025/2030/2036

Tone Margrethe Reierselmoen  1,734 504 4.25% 2021

elisabeth Wille 163

Harald Moen 595

Ida Hjort Kraby

Ole Klette
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1) As a consequence of the new compensation regulations, Storebrand has carried out the necessary adjustments in the Group’s bonus model with effect from 2011. In 

connection with this, the bonus bank was closed during the first half of 2011. The 2011 payment is therefore substantially higher than the normal level for a bonus pay-

ment, and is to be viewed as a one-time event.

The funds in the bonus bank comprised withheld bonuses earned in previous years. 50% of the amount paid after tax was used to acquire Storebrand shares with an 18 

month lock-in period. Based on the prevailing market conditions, no increase in salaries and the bonus limits for the Group’s executive management team were made in 

Storebrand in 2012, and a moderate local salary adjustment was made in the rest of the organisation of nearly 1% in Norway and 2% in Sweden.
2) The summary shows the number of shares owned in Storebrand ASA by the individual, as well as his or her close family and companies where the individual exercises 

significant (cf. Accounting Act 7-26) influence.
3) Loans to senior employees and members of the Board of Directors are granted in part on the normal terms and conditions for loans to employees, i.e. loan to an indivi-

dual of up to NOK 3.5 million at 

an interest rate equal to the norm interest rate (for tax purposes) defined by the Norwegian Minstry of Finance.
4) The years shown are the years in which the loans are contractually due to be repaid.
5) Loan payment due but not yet paid.
6) Remuneration paid represents remuneration paid in connection with the individual’s appointment to the Board of Directors of Storebrand Bank ASA. 
7) Idar Kreutzer, the Chairman of the Board, does not receive any remuneration from Storebrand Bank ASA for this appointment, and the company has no liability towards 

the Chairman of the Board in the event of termination of or change to this appointment. Idar Kreutzer is the Chief executive Officer of Storebrand ASA.He is entitled to 

salary for 24 months after the expiry of the normal notice period. Such payments will be reduced by all work-related income during this period, including consultancy 

assignments. Idar Kreutzer has a bonus in accordance with the new bonus scheme described above in section 1.
8) Neither Geir Holmgren nor Anne-Kristine Baltzersen receives any remuneration from Storebrand Bank ASA for their appointments as members of the Board. The remu-

neration shown in the note relates to salary and benefits paid by Storebrand Livsforsikring AS and Storebrand Kapitalforvaltning AS in respect of their employment by the 

company. 
9) Storebrand Bank ASA has had from 1 July 2010 a joint control committee with Storebrand ASA. Remuneration to the members of the control committee is paid by Store-

brand ASA.
10) All employees are members of Storebrand’s pension scheme. From 1 January 2011 the defined benefit scheme was closed to new members. At the same date a defined 

contribution pension scheme was established which applies to new employees from 1 January 2011 and to those who chose to transfer from a defined benefit to a defined 

contribution pension arrangement. For further information about the pension schemes refer to note 15.

NOK 1000 Salary/fee Bonus 

Additional 

remuneration

Other taxable  

benefits  1)
Total  

remuneration

Ledende ansatte 

Truls Nergaard (CeO)  2,320 415 128 2,863

Bernt Uppstad 936 115 107 1,158

Anne Grete T. Wardeberg 1,287 137 134 1,558

Trond Fladvad  1,366 197 135 1,697

Robert Fjelli  1,410 379 134 1,924

Torstein Hagen 694 0 66 760

1) Comprises company car, telephone, insurance, concressionary interest rate and other contractual benefits.
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remunerations of senior employees and elected officiers at 31.12.10

NOK 1000 remuneration 11) Bonus bank  1)
⅓ Bonus bank 

payment in 2011 1)
Salary guarantee  

(months)

Pension acrued  

for the year

Senior employees

Truls Nergaard (adm.dir.)   10) 3,183 299 300 18 1,515

Monica Kristoffersen Hellekleiv 1,261 114 138 3,005

Anne Grete T. Wardeberg 1,560 77 127 3,544

Trond Fladvad  1,627 191 197 1,780

Robert Fjelli  1,839 138 379 1,703

Lars Syse Christiansen 1,607 204 235 524

Klaus-Anders Nysteen (tidl. adm.dir.)  10) 1,691

Board of Directors  6)

Idar Kreutzer   7) 5,745 5,129 1,710 24 18,008

Roar Thoresen  8) 3,581 947 882 18 8,537

Heidi Storruste 148

Steinar Wessel-Aas 148

Kristine Schei 148

Anne-Kristine Baltzersen  8) 1,224 261 137 3,553

Maria Borch Helsengreen 150

Control Committee of Storebrand Bank 

ASA  9)

Finn Myhre  

Maria Borch Helsengreen  

Tone Margrethe Reierselmoen  

Jan Ljone   75

Control Committee of Storebrand ASA  9)

Finn Myhre  245

Tone Margrethe Reierselmoen  90

elisabeth Wille 270

Harald Moen 200

Ida Hjort Kraby 200

Ole Klette 200

erling Naper 90
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remuneration of senior employees and elected officiers at 31.12.10

 No. of shares 2) Loans 
3)

interest rate at 

31.12.10

repayment 

period  4)
Outstanding 

amount 5)

Senior employees 

Truls Nergaard (CeO)  10) 10,967

Monica Kristoffersen Hellekleiv 1,977 2,420 3,34% 2028

Anne Grete T. Wardeberg 3,467

Trond Fladvad  4,496 5,163 3,00%/3,35% 2012/2017/2032

Robert Fjelli  1,100 3,569 3,00%/3,35% 2019/2039

Lars Syse Christiansen 877 1,616 3,00% 2038

Klaus-Anders Nysteen (formerly CeO) 10) 49,807 3,175 3,50% 2020

Board of Directors 6)

Idar Kreutzer  7) 96,232 13,061 3,00%/3,34%/3,74% 2018/2025/2037

Roar Thoresen 8) 32,888 1,564 3,00% 2032

Heidi Storruste 1,228 2,700 3,00%/3,35% 2019/2037

Steinar Wessel-Aas 0 7,520 3,75%/4,05% 2021/2031

Kristine Schei

Anne-Kristine Baltzersen 8) 3,571 1,618 3,00% 2021

Maria Borch Helsengreen 50

Control committee of Storebrand Bank ASA 9)

Finn Myhre  8,426 3,34% 2014/2025/2030

Maria Borch Helsengreen  50

Tone Margrethe Reierselmoen  1,734 547 3,75% 2021

Jan Ljone   

Control committee of Storebrand ASA 9)

Finn Myhre  

Tone Margrethe Reierselmoen  

elisabeth Wille 747

Harald Moen 595

Ida Hjort Kraby

Ole Klette

erling Naper
 

1) Outstanding in bonus bank at 31.12.10 less Storebrand’s initial contribution. Senior executives are contractually entitled to performance related bonuses related to the group’s 

value-based management system. The group’s value creation finances the overall amount of bonus, but individual performance determines what proportion of the bonus is 

allocated. The bonus allocated to an individual is credited to a bonus account, and 1/3 of the balance on the bonus account is paid each year. If the total annual payments 

exceed the total bonuses awarded and return this will result in parts of Storebrand’s initial contribution forming part of the annual payment. Senior employees, with the 

exception of the Charirman of the Board, received an intitial contribution when the bonus bank was established. If the employee leaves the company, the positive amount 

of the initial deposit will be retained by Storebrand. The balance of the bonus account is exposed 50% to Storebrand’s share price and 50% to the best interest rate paid by 

Storebrand Bank. Over time the balance in the ”share bank” and ”interest bank” will grow separately. In accordance with the annual general meeting’s decision a long-term 

incentive scheme was established in 2008 for the group’s management team and other senior employees. In connection with the establishment of this, the previously withheld 

bonuses earned from 2008 and before have been paid. Storebrand has also made an extra contribution that equals the size of this amount. The payment was reported as 

salary/bonus and taxed as income. The net payment less tax, was in its entirety spent on purchasing shares with a lock-in period of 3 years.
2) The summary shows the number of shares owned in Storebrand ASA by the individual, as well as his or her close family and companies where the individual exercises 

significant influence (cf. Accounting Act 7-26).
3) Loans to senior employees and members of the Board of Directors are granted in part on the normal terms and conditions for loans to employees, i.e. loan to an individual 

of up to NOK 1.7 million at  80% of normal market interest rate. Loans in excess of NOK 1.7 million are granted on normal commercial terms and conditions.
4) The years shown are the years in which the loans are contractually due to be repaid.
5) Loan payment due but not yet paid.
6) Remuneration paid represents remuneration paid in connection with the individual’s appointment to the Board of Directors of Storebrand Bank ASA. 
7) Idar Kreutzer, the Chairman of the Board, does not receive any remuneration from Storebrand Bank ASA for this appointment, and the company has no liability towards the 

Chairman of the Board in the event of termination of or change to this appointment. Idar Kreutzer is the Chief executive Officer of Storebrand ASA.He is entitled to salary for 

24 months after the expiry of the normal notice period. Such payments will be reduced by all work-related income during this period, including consultancy assignments. He is 

entitled to a performance-related bonus based on Storebrand’s ordinary bonus scheme, payable in three instalments. The group’s value creation finances the overall amount of 

the bonus, but individual performance determines allocation. Bonus entitlement is credited to a bonus account, and 1/3 of the balance on the bonus account is paid each year.
8) Neither Roar Thoresen nor Anne-Kristine Baltzersen receives any remuneration from Storebrand Bank ASA for their appointments as members of the Board.  

The remuneration shown in the note relates to salary and benefits paid by Storebrand Livsforsikring AS and Storebrand Kapitalforvaltning AS in respect of their employment by 

the company. In addition to the information in this note, Anne-Kristine Baltzersen will receive NOK 124’ in payment from bonus bank in 2011.
9) Storebrand Bank ASA has had from 1 July 2010 a joint control committee with Storebrand ASA. Of the members of 

Storebrand Bank ASA’s former control committee only Jan Ljone has been paid remuneration by the bank.
10) Former CeO Klaus-Anders Nysteen left Storebrand Bank ASA on 1 May 2010. Truls Nergaard, former head of Corporate Market, was appointed as the new CeO on the same date. 
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11) Specification of remuneration

NOK 1000 Salary/fee Bonus 

Additional 

remuneration

Other taxable  

benefits 1)

Total  

remuneration

Senior employees

Truls Nergaard (CeO)  1,983 959 240 3,183

Monica Kristoffersen Hellekleiv 1,030 123 108 1,261

Anne Grete T. Wardeberg 1,151 295 114 1,560

Trond Fladvad  1,367 148 112 1,627

Robert Fjelli  1,459 274 105 1,839

Lars Syse Christiansen 1,235 282 91 1,607

Klaus-Anders Nysteen (former CeO) 1,254 352 85 1,691

1) Comprises company car, telephone, insurance, concressionary interest rate and other contractual benefits.

For the 2012 AGM, the Board of Storebrand Bank ASA will present the following statement on the determination of salaries and other compensation for senior employees 

pursuant to Section 6-16a of the Public Limited Liability Companies Act, based on the Group’s previously adopted guidelines for compensation for senior employees in 

Storebrand. 

ThE BOArD’S STATEMENT ON ThE DETErMiNATiON Of SALAriES AND OThEr COMPENSATiON fOr SENiOr EMPLOyEES

Since 2000 the Board of Storebrand ASA has had a separate Remuneration Committee. The Remuneration Committee shall provide advice to the Board on all matters con-

cerning the company’s remuneration to the CeO. The Committee shall monitor and propose guidelines for determining Group senior employees’ compensation. In addition, 

the Committee is an advisory organ for the CeO in relation to remuneration schemes that encompass all the employees in Storebrand Group, including Storebrand’s bonus 

system and pension scheme. 

In 2011 a common Compensation Committee was established for the companies in the Group which are required to have a compensation committee in accordance with the 

regulations laid down by the Ministry of Finance on 1 December 2010 ”On remuneration schemes in financial institutions”. The Committee shall prepare cases that in accor-

dance with the regulations are to be considered by the Boards.

The Board’s Remuneration Committee will continue to function in the same manner, in keeping with current practice.

1. rECOMMENDED GuiDELiNES fOr ThE COMiNG fiNANCiAL yEAr

Storebrand shall have competitive and stimulating salary policies that help to attract, develop and retain highly qualified members of staff. The optimal use of financial 

compensation contributes to creating an achievement culture with clear goals for all employees and appropriate management evaluations that differentiate between good 

and less good levels of performance.

The financial compensation shall be designed to:

1. Contribute to supporting continuous improvement, stimulate collaboration with others and create a values-based achievement culture

2. Help to focus employees’ efforts on the goals

3. ensure that the Group’s strategy and plans form the basis for employees’ performance requirements and goals

4. Be based on long term thinking, a balanced scorecard and actual value creation

5. Be based on evaluations of the individual’s results and compliance with Group policies

6. Facilitate a process connected to establishing goals and goal structures that is clear, transparent and team-based.

7. ensure that both the development in financial remuneration and requirements of the position are based on the employee’s role, responsibilities and influence in the 

Group

8. Are designed in such a way that the composition and level of the elements of financial remuneration are balanced and tailored to the market

The salary for senior employees is determined on the basis of the position’s responsibility and complexity. Comparisons with equivalent external positions are regularly 

made in order to adjust the salary level to the market rates. Storebrand does not wish to be the wage leader in the industry. 

In addition to fixed salary, senior employees in Storebrand can receive compensation in the form of an annual bonus, participate in the common Group pension scheme, 

and gain other fringe benefits. Senior employees may also receive a severance package, which guarantees an amount of salary less other income for a specific period of up 

to 24 months after the employment has ended. 

2. BiNDiNG GuiDELiNES fOr ShArES, WArrANTS, OPTiONS ETC. fOr ThE 2012 fiNANCiAL yEAr

2.1 furThEr iNfOrMATiON ON ThE BONuS SySTEM

The principal elements of the bonus system remain the same

The Storebrand Group bonus scheme for the 2012 financial year has been established in compliance with the regulations laid down by the Ministry of Finance on 1 Decem-

ber 2010 ”On compensation schemes in financial institutions”. Much of the Group’s bonus scheme for senior employees in 2012 is a continuation of the previous bonus 

scheme. The previous bonus scheme has been very robust in safeguarding the overarching goals of increasing compatibility between the owners’ and the senior employ-

ees’ incentives as well as helping the senior employees to refrain from taking inappropriate levels of risk.

Two categories for financial compensation

Senior employees and employees who influence the company’s risk are divided into two categories for financial compensation. Senior employees who have a large part of 

their work relating to accounting and control functions are paid a fixed salary only. The other senior employees have a bonus scheme that is linked to value creation in the 

Group and the unit as well as the performance of the individual employee. 
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The overall structure of the bonus scheme

The overall structure of the bonus scheme is shown in the diagram below.

The bonus is funded by the value created in the Group, while the allocation of the bonus is dependent upon the value created in the unit and the employee’s own 

performance. 

 

financing

Specific quantitative goals are set annually for how the company’s creation of value shall finance bonuses. The value creation target is based on the risk-adjusted result 

which excludes results and profit sharing that depend on the market. Material one-time effects are also adjusted for. The financing is calculated based on the value created 

over the last two years. The last year is used for 2011 as there is not a corresponding risk-adjusted result available for 2010. For 2012 the value creation will be an average 

of the percentage of goals achieved in 2011 and 2012.

In addition, the total Group result must exceed a predefined level in order to avoid a reduction in the bonus earned based on the risk-adjusted result. A negative Group 

result before taxes leads to the maximum reduction and zero bonus. Also, the return on equity (before taxes) must exceed 5% and there must be a satisfactory level of 

solvency.

 

The Board of Storebrand ASA decides upon the target for how the risk-adjusted value creation finances the bonus. 

 

Calculation of the profit distribution

The unit’s value creation is measured by means of a scorecard, which is anchored in the unit’s strategy and financial and operational goals. The scorecard incorporates 

both quantitative and qualitative goals. Also each year specific goals are established for senior employees’ performance, which are documented in a separate monitoring 

system. employee evaluations are conducted annually. The profit allocation is dependent upon both the unit’s results and individual goal achievements.

 

Calculation of individual bonuses awarded

The target bonus for senior employees shall over time account for 20-40 per cent of the fixed salary. The maximum goal achievement for financing and allocations is 150%. 

The bonus awarded to senior employees is determined using the following formula:

Target bonus level x Financing result x Allocation result

 

The maximum awarded bonus can not represent more than 90 per cent of the fixed salary. For senior employees at Storebrand Bank ASA the awarded bonus can not 

exceed 50 per cent of the fixed salary.

 

Bonus payment

50% of the awarded bonus, 40% for participants in the scheme in Sweden, is paid in cash.

50% of the awarded bonus, 60% for participants in the scheme in Sweden, is converted to a number of synthetic shares based on the weighted average of the price 

during the last week before the date in February on which the ordinary bonus is paid. The number of shares is registered in a share bank and will remain there for three 

years. No actual shares are bought. At the end of the three year period, an amount corresponding to the number and market price of the shares awarded is paid, based 

on the weighted average of the price during the last week prior to the ordinary bonus being paid. The amount is paid as a bonus and tax is assessed on this payment. The 

company can withdraw some, or all, of the shares that have previously been awarded and deposited in the share bank if the allocation was made on the basis of faulty 

assumptions. The Board shall conduct an evaluation of whether there is good reason to adjust the number of shares awarded. Half of the amount paid, after tax, from the 

share bank shall be used to purchase actual shares in Storebrand ASA at the market price with a lock-in period of 3 years. No payments are made from the share bank 

until the end of the 3-year period, even if the employee withdraws from the scheme or leaves the company, but the payment will be made on the date that was specified 

at the time the allocation was made. 

2.2 PENSiON SChEME

The company arranges and pays for ordinary collective pension insurance for all members of staff, applicable from the date of employment, and in accordance with the 

pension regulations in effect at all times.

2.3 SEvErANCE PACkAGE

The CeO and the Group’s directors are entitled to a severance package in the event of the company terminating the employee.

The entitlement to a severance package is also available if the employee decides to leave the company if this is due to substantial changes in the organisation, or equiva-

lent conditions which result in the employee not being able to naturally continue in his position. If the employment relationship ends as a result of the person concerned 

being guilty of a gross breach of duty or other material breach of the employment contract, the provisions in this section do not apply. Deductions are made to the seve-

rance pay for all work-related income, including fees from the provision of services, offices held etc. Severance pay represents the pensionable salary at the date on which 

the employment ends, excluding all bonus schemes, if applicable. The CeO is entitled to 24 months severance pay. Other Group directors have 18 months severance pay. 

2.4 EMPLOyEE ShArE PrOGrAMME

Senior employees, in line with other employees in Storebrand, are given the opportunity to purchase a limited number of shares in Storebrand ASA at a discount pursuant 

to the employee share programme. 

 

3. ThE SENiOr EMPLOyEE rEMuNErATiON POLiCy PrACTiSED iN 2011

3.1 GENErAL

The senior employee remuneration policy practised in 2011 is based on the statement concerning the setting of senior employees’ remuneration which was considered at 

the AGM in April 2011. 

3.2 BONuS PAiD fOr ThE 2010 quALifyiNG yEAr

The targets set for funding the bonus were achieved in the 2010 qualifying year. Therefore bonuses were awarded to the senior employees based on the results and 

performance in 2010, and were paid in March 2011. The payment from the bonus bank in March 2011 was carried out in accordance with the applicable regulations for the 

funding
How large should 

the bonus pot 
be?

Payment
How should 

the bonus be 
paid?

Allotment
How should the pot 

be distributed among 
the employees in the 

scheme??
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2010 qualifying year. One third of the balance in the bonus bank after the bonus for the 2010 qualifying year was awarded and after the estimated returns relating to the 

interest rate and the Storebrand share price performance from 1 January 2010 to 31 December 2010, was disbursed. Pursuant to the regulations for a long term incentive 

scheme, shares were also purchased for half of the amount disbursed. A total of 42,344 shares were bought.

 

As a consequence of the new compensation regulations, Storebrand has carried out the necessary adjustments in the Group’s bonus model with effect from 2011. In con-

nection with this, the bonus bank was closed during the first half of 2011. The 2011 payment was therefore substantially higher than the normal level for a bonus payment, 

and is to be viewed as a one-time event. The funds in the bonus bank comprised withheld bonuses earned in previous years. 50% of the amount paid after tax was used 

to acquire Storebrand shares with an 18 month lock-in period. Based on the prevailing market conditions, no increase in salaries and the bonus limits for the executive 

management team were made in Storebrand in 2012, and a moderate local salary adjustment was made in the rest of the organisation of nearly 1% in Norway and 2% in 

Sweden. 

3.3 furThEr iNfOrMATiON ON hOW ThE BONuS AWArDED fOr ThE 2010 quALifyiNG yEAr iS CALCuLATED 

The average calculation for the bonus awarded to a member of the Group’s executive management team is determined as follows:

expected bonus level x the Group’s financing x Individual goal achievement

The average expected bonus level was NOK 938,000. The Group financing was 114% and the average unit’s and individual’s goal achievement was 106% for the 2010 quali-

fying year. This lead to an average bonus awarded of NOK 1,289,000. This amount was deposited in the bonus bank. 

The return on the cash portion of the bonus bank was 3.04% and the securities portion returned 10.3% for 2010. Awarding and payment of the bonus adhered to the 

guidelines that were applicable in 2010. The bonus paid was 1/3 of the account balance in the bonus bank. Half of the amount paid was used to purchase shares with a 

3-year lock-in period. When the bonus bank was closed, NOK 796,000 was paid to each Group director on average, including funds for share purchases with an 18-month 

lock-in period.

3.4 CALCuLATiON Of ThE BONuS AWArDED fOr 2011

For 2011 there was a basis for financing the bonus. The average expected bonus level for the Group’s executive management team was NOK 1,000,000.

Financing of the bonus was connected to the risk-adjusted result. Minimum requirements relating to the Group result, ROe and solvency were fulfilled. The financing result 

was 59%, calculated in accordance with the guidelines for the bonus scheme. Given an individual result of 100%, the average bonus awarded was NOK 493,000. The alloca-

tion for 2011 was also dependent upon the unit’s results and individual results.  50% of the bonus awarded (40% in Sweden) was paid in cash, while the remaining balance 

was converted into a number of synthetic shares based on the market price and registered in a share bank with a lock-in period of 3 years. The bonuses were allocated in 

accordance with the applicable guidelines for 2011. The report on the compensation scheme in practice will be prepared by an independent control function team.

 

4. rEPOrT ON ThE EffECTS Of ShArE-BASED COMPENSATiON AGrEEMENTS ON ThE COMPANy AND ThE ShArEhOLDErS

In accordance with the new guidelines, in section 2.1 above, half of the amount disbursed from the share bank shall be used to purchase shares in Storebrand ASA at 

the market price with a 3-year lock-in period. Senior employees thereby have up to 6 years of withheld bonus and substantial exposure to the company’s share price. In 

the opinion of the Board, this does not have any negative effect on the company and the shareholders, given the structure of the scheme and the size of each Group 

director’s portfolio of shares in Storebrand ASA.  

Note 46 | Close associates

Transactions with group companies

2011 2010

NOK million Subsidiaries Other group companies Subsidiaries Other group companies

Interest income 367.0 313.4

Interest expense 24.7 0.2 14.1 0.2

Services sold 13.9 3.4 13.1 4.7

Services purchased 82.6 66.7

Due from 4,379.7 0.2 3,656.9 1.3

Liabilities to 667.9 65.4 372.1 62.1

Transaction with group companies are based on the principle of transactions at arm’s length.

Lending transferred to Storebrand Boligkreditt AS 

Storebrand Bank ASA shall arrange the transfer and return of loans when changes have to be made, i.e. if the customer requested to increase borrowing, change from 

variable to fixed interest rate, convert to empoloyee loan or convert to a mortgage loan. The costs form part of the contractual administration fees. The mortgages will be 

transferred on commercial terms. Non-performing loans in Storebrand Boligkreditt AS remain in the undertaking. These loans will, pursuant to the service agreement with 

Storebrand Bank ASA, be treated in the same way as non-performing loans in the bank. 

Overview of transferred lending:

NOK million 2011 2010

To Storebrand Boligkreditt AS 3,613.9 7,504.1

From Storebrand Boligkreditt AS 825.0 2,815.5

To Storebrand eiendomskreditt AS 438.3

From Storebrand eiendomskreditt AS 2,261.7 65.8

In January 2011, Storebrand eiendomskreditt AS under avvikling sold all of the lending portfolio to Storebrand Bank ASA as the company is winding up.

Storebrand Bank AS has not pledged any guarantees in connection with loans to Storebrand Boligkreditt AS and Storebrand eiendomskreditt AS under avvikling.
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Transactions with other related parties:

Storebrand Bank ASA defines Storebrand Optimér ASA as a related party as the company’s objective is to offer alternative savings products to the bank’s customers. Sto-

rebrand Optimér ASA has no employees and the company has entered into an agreement with Storeband Bank ASA to carry out the day-to-day operation of the company. 

The bank also acts as a Manager for issues of shares carried out by Storebrand Optimér ASA. The bank has booked NOK 5.7 million as revenue in the accounts for 2011 and 

the bank has a receivable due from the company of NOK 1.6 million as of 31.12.11. The fees paid to the bank are based on the  arm’s length principle.

Storebrand Bank ASA also defines Storebrand Infrastruktur ASA as a related party since the general manager of Storebrand Infrastruktur ASA is an employee of Storebrand 

Bank ASA and the company’s objective is to offer alternative savings products to the bank’s customers. Storebrand Infrastruktur ASA has no employees and the company 

has entered into an agreement with Storeband Bank ASA to carry out the day-to-day operation of the company. The bank also acts as a Manager for issues of shares car-

ried out by Storebrand Infrastruktur ASA. The bank has booked NOK 0.6 million as revenue in the accounts for 2011 and the bank has a receivable due from the company of 

NOK 0.2 million as of 31.12.11. The fees paid to the bank are based on the arm’s length principle.

Loans to employees:

NOK million 2011 2010

Loans to employees of Storebrand Bank ASA 48.0 82.6

Loans to employees of Storebrand group including Storebrand Bank ASA 326.7 560.7

Loans to employees are granted in part on the normal terms and conditions for loans to employees, i.e. loan to and individual of up to NOK 3.5 million at an interest rate 

equal to the norm interest rate (for tax purposes) defined by the Norwegian Ministry of Finance. 

Loans in excess of NOK 3.5 million are granted on normal commercial terms and conditions. The bank has not provided guarantees or security for borrowing by 

employees.

Number of employees:

2011 2010

Number of employees at 31 December 128 146

Number of employees expressed as full-time equivalent positions 126 144
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Storebrand Bank ASA 

- Statement from the  
Board of Directors and the CeO

Today the Board members and the CeO have considered and approved the annual report 

and annual financial statements of Storebrand Bank ASA for the 2011 financial year and as 

of 31 December 2011 (2011 annual report). 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Internatio-

nal Financial Reporting Standards approved by the eU and appurtenant interpretations, 

as well as the other disclosure obligations stipulated by the Norwegian Accounting Act 

and the current applicable regulations relating to annual accounts of banks and finance 

companies etc. as of 31 December 2011. The annual accounts have been prepared in accor-

dance with the Norwegian Accounting Act, the regulations relating to annual accounts of 

banks and finance companies etc. and simplified IFRS as of 31 December 2011, as well as 

the additional requirements in the Norwegian Securities Trading Act. The annual report 

complies with the requirements of the Norwegian Accounting Act, Norwegian Accounting 

Standard no. 16 and the regulations relating to annual accounts of banks and finance 

companies etc. as of 31 December 2011. 

In the best judgement of the Board and the CeO, the annual financial statements for 2011 

have been prepared in accordance with the applicable accounting standards, and the infor-

mation presented in the the financial accounts provides a true and fair view of the parent 

company’s and group’s assets, liabilities, financial position and results as a whole as of 31 

December 2011. In the best judgement of the Board and the CeO, the annual report provi-

des a true and fair view of the material events that occurred during the accounting period 

and their effects on the annual financial statements of Storebrand Bank ASA. In the best 

judgement of the Board and the CeO, the descriptions of the most important elements of 

risk and uncertainty that the group faces in the next accounting period, and a description 

of related parties’ material transactions, also provide a true and fair view. 

Stein Wessel-Aas

Deputy Chairman 

Geir Holmgren

Board Member

Anne-Kristine Baltzersen   

Board Member

Kristine Schei

Board Member

Maria Borch Helsengreen

Board Member

Heidi Storruste

Board Member

Lysaker, 13 February 2012

The Board of Directors of Storebrand Bank ASA

Translation – not to be signed

Idar Kreutzer

Chairman

Truls Nergaard

CeO
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Storebrand Bank ASA  –  Control Committee’s Statement for 2011

At its meeting on 28 February 2012, the Control Committee of Storebrand Bank ASA reviewed the 
Board of Directors’ proposed Annual Report and Accounts for 2011 for Storebrand Bank ASA and the 
Storebrand Bank Group.

With reference to the auditor’s report of 16 February 20121, the Control Committee recommends that 
the Annual Report and Accounts proposed be adopted as the Annual Report and Accounts of Store-
brand Bank ASA and the Storebrand Bank Group for 2011.

Lysaker, 28 February 2012

Translation – not to be signed

Elisabeth Wille 
Chair of the Control Committee 
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Storebrand Bank ASA  –  Board of Representatives’ Statement  2011

The Board of Directors’ proposal for the Annual Report and Accounts, together with the Auditor’s report 
and the Control Committee’s statement have, in the manner required by law, been presented to the 
Board of Representatives. 

The Board of Representatives recommends that the Annual General Meeting approve the Board of 
Directors proposal for the Annual Report and Accounts of Storebrand Bank ASA and the Storebrand 
Bank Group.

The Board of Representatives raises no objections to the Board’s proposal regarding the allocation of 
the result for the year of Storebrand Bank ASA.

Lysaker, 8 March 2012

Translation – not to be signed

Terje Venold 
Chairman of the Board of Representatives
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